BOX:
429

FOLDER:
3955

DESCRIPTION:

Simonson, Melville

DATE:
02/27/91
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Police Court

@ity and Gounty .
of Wew Yovk, §5 83

\
of Ho MA/ %W A Freet, agetlg%g""years,

&ez'ny duly sworn,

oacupalz orn

deposes and says, that on the.. / / 7. day ¢ 189 / at %‘%”bﬁ of Hew Zork,
n the Gounily Hew Zork, was_felontously laken, stolen and car ay Jrem t/ e possesiicn of W

. ——py
st "7’»\/\

% AL H L Stome, the following property, viz -

and thai this depornent

Aas a probadle Weat thead w said property was _/é/onzousz‘/ taken, stolengand

1

W
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Sec. 198-——200.

Z / District Police Court.

CITY AND COUNTY

OF §E ORK

, ‘ ».being duly examined before tlie under-

signed according to law, dn the annexed charge; and being informed that it is h ‘? right to

make a statement in relation to the charge against h ; that the statement is designed to

enable h if he see fit to answer the charge and e?pla-in the facts alleged against h \&
that . he 'is at liberty to waive making a statement, and that h (1\ waiver cannot be use

against h \ on the trial.
— . -Question. What js yeur name ?

Answer.

Qur;stz‘o.n. ... How old are yon ? )

_Answer.

Question. Where

Answer___-
Question. Where dgsfon live, and how long have Zu['?idgd there ?

=2

ive any explanation you may think proper of the circminstances
testimony against you, and state any facts which you think

exculpation ¢

Answer.
Question. What is your businéss or profession 7
: ) A3

Answer.

appearing in the

. Question. G
will tend to your

Amnswer. -
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It appearing to e by the within depositions and statements that the crime therein men

tioned has beer

conmmitted, and that there is sufficient carse to Deli ve thevithin named

e admitted to bail in the swm of

and be comwmitted to the Warden and Keeper of
/Tj?.;u{ such bail.

Police Justice.

ettt eseemnennne JPOLLCE TS ELCE.

There beirng ro sufficient cause to believe the within nomed

Luilty of the offence within mentioned. I order Tv to be discharged.

Police Jistice.




P

HE PEOPLE,
ON THE COMPLA

BAILED,

Dated
No. 2, oy

Lesidence




Tourt of General §eﬁﬁihix5 of the

OF THE CITY AND COUNTY OF NEW YORK.

\
THE PEOPLE OF TIIE STATE or Nuw YoRrkx

agetnsi

The Grand Jury of the City and Coupfy of New York, by this indictment accuse

~———
of the CrinmE pr GRAND LARCENY in ¢

The said 4/"&%
late of the C%i,g/é-w_/uthe County of New York aforesaidﬁ o )
day of - \/ in the yegr 2f our Lord one thousand t hundred and

York,
m{,\in the time of the said day, at the City and County

. atoresaid, with force and arms,

promissory note for the pavment of nlonwc kind commonly called United
States Treasury Notes, of the denomination and value of ; "

promissory note for the pw‘ money of the kind commonly called Bank Notes, of the de
nomination and value of SN— ; .United States Gold Certificatess,

of the denomination and value of ... R A T, SO . S
Silver Certificateg, of the denomin

of the goods, chattels and al property of gne Z M—w
on the person of the said MM/ _—

then and there being found, from the person of the said

then and there feloniously, did steal, take and carry away, against the form of the statute in such

he People of the State of New York, and their
N

case made and provided, and against the peace of

dignity.




BOX:
429

FOLDER:
3955

DESCRIPTION:

Simpson, Joseph R.

DATE:
02/05/91

M
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COURT OF SESSIONS,

Richmond County.

., The People of the State of New York,

——against—-

Joseph R. Simpson.

The Complainants against the defendant, Joseph
R. Simpson in the County of Richmond, have received res-
titution and signed a recommendation to me as District
Attorney that such clehency be shown him as I regard con-
.sistent with my duty, except as to one complainant,’who:“i—m-
although he had received restitution, refused to execute

a request in writing, but orally agreed to such clemenecy

as I thought consistent.
Dated N. Y. 20th March, 1891.
Thos. W. Fitzgerald,

.Dist, Atty-

Rieh. Co.




COURT OF GENERAIL SESSION.
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T he Pe ople, &ec .,
n
"
7

VS .

Joseph R. Simpson. w
”
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T o
THE HONORABLE FREDERICK SMYTHE,

Recorder .

The Petition of Joseph R. Simpson, regpectfully
shows:

That he was born in the ity of Philadel phia on the
tenth day of October, 1857, and is now 34 years of age.s

That from the t ime of his leaving school and until
the year 1879, he was cormected with the business of his

Father, Henry Simpson, (now deceaseds, who carried on the

dry—-goods business on an extensiwve scale in the City of

Phnilad eliah ia.

That from the year 1830 to '8l1l, ne was employed as
Agsistant Superintendent by the Colorado Telephone Company
at Demvex, Col.

Your pet itioner further states that in the year
1882, he returned to the City of Philadelphia and again be.
came comnected with his father's business. In the year
1885, your petitioner was Selling Electric ILiigh+t Apparatus
in Chiecago, Ill., amd whilét thus engaged he was offered '

in the year 1836 a popsition by the American Ele ctric Manu— 5

(1)




facturing Company in the city of New York, wvhich he accep-—
ted . Tn the capacfity of salesman for +this Company he was
so successful that he was tLendered and accepted the posi-—
*i;-ion of Agen-b in the ¢city of Phniladelphia. That he ré-—
mained with the said Company unt il its failure; that he
was immediately ;ffered a position with the American Elec-—
tric Construction Company, —(Limited) of New York, and re—
mained with the said Company ant il about a year &ago.
Trom that-'time wnt il tay, 1890, your pet itioner

was selling Eleectric T.ight Apparatus on c onmiss ior.

- In Mayy 1890, youxr petit ione;- was taken sick suc-

cessively with Lumbago, Diptheria and Rheumat iec Fever and

was treated by Doctor Je. Te Johmson, of Brooklyn, for +the

period of one montth. When y caxy petitioner was convalescent,

ne spoke to Dt Johmson with reference to 1eavihg Brooklyn
forhthe betie Pit of his health. Your petitioner went to
West New Rrighton, Statsn Igland, Whilst he was return-—
ing from New Yvork ity in July, 1890, he received & sun-
stroke: at 'i?ort ,‘Ric]mnond, Staten Island, which rendered him
ﬁnconscious for s ome hours. He was attended by Drn Hooper

and was confined to the house fo.r about a week.
_VYour petitioner adid not realize the enormity of the
offences with which he stands charged and to which he has
ple ad giu'.lty; at the time of the commission of the same.,’
Only since his arrest nas he Fully realized his posi{.ion.
1Ie could have obtained money from his family hAd he com-
mimicated with then. Immediately upon being notif jed of
the arrest of your pet it joner, his family made uncondi-t.ion_:

al restitution t o every one.

(2) |




Your petitioner is married. From August last un—
til the time of his arrest , your petitioner was in a con—-
fused and wandering state and was not in communiaation -
wi't..h his wife during tha+ t ime.

Your petitioner hasAeight sisters and one brother,
who are all married, have large families and are respected
members of the communities in which the:;r reside.

Your petitioner prays that Sentence in this casge
may be suspended and if suspended, -his famdly will make
Provision for himself and wife, so that he may embark in a
new eﬁterprise inhanother country.

And yti‘:ur ret it joner will ever pray, &c.

-
-~ ;

] - :’ B o . ' ; :‘ C—T );
CITY AND COUNTY OF NEW YORK, ss: ,_Q&‘e,lé’;;/é—/-.{é L. leer Agorata
./' Ky <
Jose ph Re. S i s on , being duly

sworn according to law, says that the facts set forth in

the foregoing petition are true .

Sworn to before me this /™) 4 /E) M"
) o

day of Februa:;-){, 1891.
\




COWRT O GENERAL SESSIONS.

PEOPLE, &c.,
VS -

Simpsor:.

THE HONORAIILE FPREDERICKX SMYTHE,

Reccorder.

The Petition of ELLA R, SIMPSCN respectfullsy

That she is 34 years of age, and is the wife
of Josevrh R. Simpson, the above named defendant,

That she has a daugnter thirteen years of age.
That since her marriage to him and until Sertember 1890,
he had always been a devoted husband and had provided a
comfortable home for his family.

That in May 1890, he was taken sick with lumba-
go, diptheria and rheumatic fever and in July of the same
yvyear he suffered from sunstroke.

That after his recovery, she noticed that a

change had come over him; that he was nervous and con -

fused. She frequently asked him what was the nature of
his ailment, and he invariably replied that his head
troubled him. That she lost signt of him in September

/F7o

81:13( and did not hear from him again until nis arrest.




Your petitioner further states that she is suf-

fering from lung +trouble and that on Friday February 6th

1891, while visiting her husband at the Tombs, she bled

violently from the mouth.
That her husband is at present suffering from
a very severe attack of rheumatism. That she will be en-

tirely dependent on her own enermies for her support.

[

i Al

/

She prays your Honorable court to suspend sen-—

tence in this cuse and states +hat she is willing to ac-
company ner nusband tc another country and assist nim in
a new enterprise which his family would embark him in.

That she cannot account for the misdeeds of

t

her husband,; he had always been verV successful in busi-

j
[
|
%
%
g
z
1
i

ness and had always provided ¥ery handsomely Tor his
family.

And your petitioner will ever pray, &c.

P et i ti on e Y.

COUNTY OF NEW YORK, ssi-

£ 1 12 R. Simpson being duly sSwOorn,

according to law, says that the facts set forth in the

-

foregoing Petition are true.

SWORN to| before me this gi‘ > "

day| of February, 1891. é%&%é;/ %??7§25i;@f7€2&y¢z__
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Police Court

. @ity and Gounty o
-oof Wew Work, } i

Sreet, aged. ... : 7 0 ..... years,

being duly sworn,

189ﬁat the @ity of Hew Zork,

" occupation.

deposes and says, that on the

n the Gounty cy;' Hew Zork, was Selonicwsly taken, stolen and carried away frem the possessien of deponent, in

627 ..... time, the follcwing property, viz -

and that this deponent

, stelenn and

Zas a proballe cawse Wsué‘ﬁwl M:/m%p&’;{!/ was foloniously ?‘"

carried away by Eor " :







Sec. 198—200.

CITY AND COUNTY
OFE, $5

W -YORK,

el s g being duly examined before the under-
.signed a,0001ﬁing to law, on the annexed clfu‘ge; and being informed that it is h%__ right to
make a statement in relation to the charge against h ;‘Nltha.t the statement is designed to
enable h if he see fit to answer the charge and explain the facts alleged against

that e is at liberty to walve malking a statement, and that Th™—— waiver cannot be used

against h ——on the trial.

Question. __VWhat is your name* o . e en

h.,.\_Anrs:@acz ' W’?’L

Question.

Amnswer.

Question. Where were you born ?

Answer. =

" - Question. Where do you live, and how long have you resided there ?

Answer.

Question. What is your busin

Answer.

Question. Give any explanation you may thinlk proper of the circumstances appearing in the

testimony against you, and state any facts which you think will tend to your

WV//‘/ ~Ho fop
]S.?/I[# 2 9.!0,[9(2 '“93117.5




he be held to answer the szwr,be and he be admitted 1o bail in the sum of’ -

/__Hundrzd Dollars,. and be commiitted to the Warden and Keeper of - - ..

, 0f the City o}“JV'ew York, until

2 '
/ y - ! e POLECE Justice.

I have admilted the above-named

to bail to answer by the wndertaking hereto annexed.

8 L% T O S 18

There being no sufficient cause to believe the within named ereereeen

.. Swilty of the offennce within meentioned. I order R to be discharded. _

.Police Justice.
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485 & 487 Eighth Ave. ’
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:E:’o]ice “Oour-t. /2// ]D/lsi;aﬁ;;c. . M—Larceny.

Tity ang Gounty } P N LF/ 7
of Wew Work, C/%j Cib /%(/(’C“ | 7%% |
(—\4 ""/‘/"'/.A / / / Sreet, aged. 4//

'7 %‘%é{ %’ . being duly swarn,'
= ,‘,//6%-5&4( @-_ 189

@t the Gity of Hew Zor,

and that this deponent -
at the saz'(gia—) erty was feloniously taken, stolenn and

s /‘“%/.
LA
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State of Hew. Hork,
Citp and Gounty of FHew Rork,

&

of No. z—jM /7 .

- ..Street, being duly sworn, deposes and says,

(now present) is the person of the name of
<. mentioned in deponent’s affidavit of the.

,‘*’
of.... W 1§K hereunto annexed.

Sworn to befor

o=

(e

(2
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See. 198—200.

CITY AND C

OF NEW YORK,

District Police Cour

OUNTY

SSs.

P

being duly examined before the. under-

make a sto
enable h

. s . ‘ N
signed aécordlng to law, on the annexed charge ;

and being informed that it is h - right to
tement in relation to the charge against h ; that the statement is designed to .
if he see fit to answer the charge and explain the facts alleged against h

- that he is at liberty to waive malking a statement, and that h waiver cannot be used.
against h on the trial. .
- Question. Whatis yoyrname? —
— _Answer. 4/ —
d /
Question.__How old are you ? S — _ .
Answer. /
| Question. e .
Answer. e B
Question. Where do you ve, and how long have you resided there ?
Answer.

Question.

Answer.

What 1s your business or profession %

think proper of the circumstances appearing in the _

Question.  Give any explanation you may th m ces  a
testimony against you, and state any facts which you think will tend <o your
exculpation ?

Answer. 4/ N G -y

. //@ o e B




and forthwith bring & =— peiore me, at the

Seo. 151. District.

CITY AND COUNTY ss In the name of ¢
' OF NEW YORK, * of New York,

Wherea,s, Complajnt in writing,

Justzccs Cxty of, Y?,
of No. /

Wherefore, the said Complainant has prayed that the said Defendant may be apprehended and bound to

answer the said complaint.

These are T refore, in the name of the PEOPLE of the State of New York, to command you the said
SherifF, Marshal. nd Policemen, and every=~of Jou, to apprehend the bod : said Defendant
Z==—DISTRICT POLICE URT, in the said City, or in

case of my absence or inability to act, before the nearest or most accessible Police Justice in this City, to answer the

said charge, and to be dealt with according,to law.

Dated at the C'atg/ of New Fork, this /

[a}
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j_?‘_g’l'ic_e Court ...

having been brought before me under this Warant, is committed for

WARDEN and KEEPER of the City Prison of the City of New York.

Daed ..o 188

‘LuoorerT—juelie p\
\Bi\%

. i

r1strate, 1o answer

o
=

&ce.,
ON THE COMPLAINT OF

'THE PEOPLE,

The Defendant._______________

taken, and brought before the Ma
the within charge, pursuant to the .command con-

tained in this Warrant.

The within named

examination to the

Police Justice.

This Warrant may Dbe executed on Sunday or at

«

B

s




|

Sy

L]
|
!

drd statements that t}_z,é crime therein mentioned ha

conwni_tted_, nd that there is sz&ﬁ‘iqzeﬂié cawse to believe the within named

gwilty thereof, I order that he Ze held to answer the same and he be admitted to bail in the sum of
—.Hundred Dollars,. and be committed to the Warden and Keeper of
Spre, of the City of ﬁw York, wuntil

l

4
Police Justice.

I have admilted the wbove-nam’z;ecl..

to bail Lo answer by the undertaking liereto annexed.

Dated... . 18

‘There being no sufficient cawse to believe the within narned..

Luwilty of the offence within mentioned. 12 to be discharged.

Police Justice.
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" SINCLAIR HOUSE, -

ON THE EUROPEAN PrLAN.

BROADWATY .AIND HIGHTE STRE®RT.

A. L. ASHMAN, Proprietor,

NEW YORK,.

- et e e m&b— ------------- Dr.

ALL BiLLs PAYABLE WEEKLY.,
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STURTEVANT HOUSE
BROADWAY,

Cor. 297H ST., NEW YORK.

Fort Griswold House

LeAsTERN POINT]

OPEN FROM JUNE TO S8EPT. 20TH.
.
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Conrt of General Sessions of the Lreace

OF THIE CITY AND COUNTY OF NEW YORK.

Tirz ProrLE oF THE STATE oF Niw YORK

against
W -.‘B\WW

The Grand Jury of the City and County ¢f New York, by this indictment, accuse

of the Cniynr or FORGERY IN THE SECOND DEGREE, committed as follows:

The said W %
- WNW/
late of the City of New York, in the County of New York aforesaid, on them

day ofgm in the year of our Lord one thousand eight hundred and

> at the City and County aforesaid, h: wing in Rl custody a certain
instrument and writing, &R D, L e o Pvo

W%M NSRS SRS

the said W .%Ncu—w
] afterwards, to wit: on the day and in the year

—_—

aforesaid, with force and arms, nt the City and County aforesaid, feloniously did forge,
and cause and procure to be forged, and willingly act and assist in forging on the

e of the said M R _p—

a certain instrument and writing commonly called ag which said forged

instrument and writing commonly called p{Mw is as follows, that is to s: ay:

’MW
Q ::..
- -

with intent to defraund, against the form of the Statute in such case made and provided, and
against the peace of the People of the State of New York and their dignity.




SECOND COUNT—
And the Grand Jury aforcesaid, by this indictment, further accuse the said

W_Mw

of the CrimMx or FORGERY IN THE SECOND DEGREE, committed as follows:

Thesuidwﬂr) S

late of the City and County aforesaid, afterwards, to wit: on the day and in the year aforesaid,
at the City and County aforesaid having in possession a certain instrument

and writing,

which said _ o ar—em Q" W is as follows, that is to say:

7
,N.\-;_-ﬁ w e an Sea. \R '\\‘\o

/)é\%ti S WS U -

on the >\_Q_&_§_ of which said oI G M there was then and
. -
there written a certain forged instrument and writing commonly called ay
of the said last-mentioned Pa—n eI NO— M which said forged
. . _

instrument and writing, commonly called oy is as follows,

that is to say: -~ O T pmonn M

with force and arms, the said forged then and there feloniously did
utter, dispose of and put off as true, with intent to defraud, the said

Al
N ~D§W then and there well knowing the premises,

and that the said S was forged, against the form of the Statute

in snch case made and provided, and against the peace of the People of the State of New York

and their dignity. DE LANCEY NICOLL,
JOHETST—FTF=—F =m0 WS,

District Attormney.

s
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Tourt of Geneval Sessions of the Peare

OF THE CITY AND COUNTY OF NEW YORK.

Trix PEOPLE OF TIIE STATE o NxEw YoRrrg,

against

of the City and County 71’01‘1{, by this indictment, accuse

IN THE SECOND DEGREE, S committed as follows :

The said % %W/
late of the City of New York, i he County of New York afoguid, on the
L/CZf(A//( day of M in the year of our Lord

one thousand eight hundred and » with force and arms, at the City and
County aforesaid, feloniously did forge, and “eatdse and procure 'to be 1‘0109(1 and willingly

a certain instrument and writing, R P

act and assist in the forging

R s Ww

said forged
is as'follows, that is to say:

Z@MWW
Z@f%%z‘

/Zm%

atute in such case made and provided, and

with intent to defraud, against the form of the St
and their dignity.

against the peace of the People of the State of N ew York




SECOND COUNT—

And the and Jury '1foresa.1d, by ydlctmenf further accuse the said

I ———
of the CrIME RGERY IN THE SDCO/QfGRDD mmitted as follows:

The said -

late of-tHe City and County aforesaid, afterwards, to wit: on>~the day and in the year

aforesaid, at the City and County aforesaid, with force and arms, did felonlously utt 1,
dispose of and put off as true, a certain &1 ged instrument and writing,

asrv vl

o e AL Wﬁm

1 said forged
is as follows, that is to say:

W Aecocecdn s 570
rZ@ZV %@;ﬁ:{%

- the said
th X knowing the same'té be

forged, against th&form of the Statute in such case mide and provided, and against the peace

.of the People of the State of New York and their dignity. 7 . .

District Attorney.
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429

FOLDER:
' 3955

DESCRIPTION:

Albert, James

DATE:
- 02/13/91
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A District. ' Afidavit—Larceny.

Police Court

Gity aud Gounty -, -
of Pew Hovk, } #E s W 224,

o 0. 9\‘ = 7 2 7 =

ocowpation el . g

deposes and says, that on the

betng duly sworr .,

189 © at the Gity of Hew Zork,

n the BGounty of Hew Zork, was Selontowsly taZen, stolen and carried away from the possession of deponent, irn

l/’w? ...... time, the following property, viz

the property o W

rd

and that this deporent

<]
kas a probable cau-ﬁusp@aé and does suspedf, that the sai, property was feloniglfsly taken, stolern and

carried away by







CITY AND COUNTY
OF NEW YORK, s8.

Street, being duly sworn deposes and

. v ) ™ . . o -
says, that he has heard read the foregoing affidavit of ___ M%&h\’g%{

and that the facts stated therein on information of deponent are true of deponents’ own

knowledge.

Police Justice.




Sec. 198--200. - L ' : : /Z . District Police Court.

‘CITY ANP.C TY )
OF N YORK, S-

: being duly examined before the under-
signed according to law, on the annexed charge ; and being informed that it is h \ right to
make a statement in relation to the charge against h™_ ; that the statement is designed - to
enable h if he see fit to answer the charge and explain the facts alleged against h *“—
that . he is at liberty to waive making a statement, and that it waiver cannot be used

against h the trial.

..Question. Nhat is your name?

. Amnswer. -

_.Question. How old are you ?

Answer. / /—'/ % 7
. Question. -W(W!Pbom?
- Answer. = - :

.Questz'on. Where do you live, and how long have you resided there ?

Aﬂswe?-rrjéé T . 7 e :

Question. What is your business or profession ?

Answer. N vree

Question. Give any explanation you may think proper of the circumstances appearing in the
T ’ testimony against you, and state any facts which you think will tend to your

exculpation ?

“

y

TSI w90 foq uaymy

-7




Distriet Police (Jo_u‘ft- .

'Bec. 198-—200.

(,ITY AND COUNTY
'OF NEW YORK,

ém W\ being duly examined before the under-

signed acco{/dlng to law, on the annexed charge; and being informed that it is h.es right to
make a statement in relation to the charge against §h ,W:_ ; that the statement is designed to
enabple h ;e if he see fit to answer the charge and expla,1n the facts alleged against ho—
that The 1s at liberty to waive making a statement, and that h ~» waiver cannot be used

against h ~—— on the trial.

. Question. What is your name ?

_Answer. j AR W

. Question. How old are you?

| Answer.

.. Question. Whére weré/you born t

dmsoer. i~
Q@estion. Where do you live, and how long have you resided there %

answer. LI Lrot Fg F i S mils
Question. What is your business or profession ?

Ansver. W D oy el Hpaxc .
Question. Give any explanation you may think iproper of the circumstances appearing in the
T testimony against you, and state any facts which you think will tend to your -

exculpamon ?

.

Pty

/QMUW

_“7/?“"'smmmﬁqwm
# ‘ .

|

E——




;gu%zihe7'ebf, I o7‘zZ¢r that = he

Tt appearing to mc by tZLo‘uv,_'i '

cormmnitied, arg

be Neld to answer the same a

.Hundred Dollars,.

. tha'c"tJ Pn%(hty of

I have admitted the a?)()ve-nanzer.l......

to Dail to answer by the wundertaking lrereto annexed.

Dated....

Police Justice.

to be discharged.

Police Jiustice.
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Palice Courte--.

THE PEOPLE, &o.,
ON THE COMPLAINT OF

BAILED,

PN L, By,

v Sirece.

-Officer.

Precinct.

Witnesses &7t UR %*W




COURT OF GENERAL SESSIONS OF THE PEACE OF THE CITY AND COUNTY

OF NEW YORK.

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF NEw Yorx,

é W

OF THE CIFY AND CGOUNTY-.OF NEW YORK, by this

THE GRAND JURY
@W/c/a( Qf—s/ 0 %

indictment, accuse

ofﬁthé CrIME oF GRAND LARCENY in the (Rl oz g degree committed as follows :

o WQ@M

The said

late of the City of New York, in the County of New York aforesaid, on the MM
in the year of our Lord omne thousand eight hnndred and

day of
ninety ——— t the City and County aforesaid, with force and arms,

?)

of the goods, chattels and personal property of one MM/ @ @—/Q_/\

then and there being found, then and there feloniously did steal, take and carry away, against
the form of the statute in such case made and provided, and against the peace of the People

of the State of New York and their dignity.




SECOND COUNT—

AND THE GRAND JURY AFORESA by this indictment, further accuse the said

of the CriMe oFr RECEIVING STOLEN GOODS, commltted as follows:
the said éj(/(/\:/—z«/i// %Q‘%

late of the City and County aforesaid, afterwards to Wlt on the day and in the year

aforesaid, at the City and County aforesaid, with force and arms,

ot

of the -goodé, chattels and p

by a cer lg'l"lzl/'ﬂpgx\')son or persons to the Grand Jury afqresaid. unknown, lately before
feloniously stolen, taken and carried away from-. the sn% @&,\

have; the said

unlawfully and unjustly, did feloniously receive
then and there well knowing the said goods, chattels and personal property to have been

feloniously stolen, taken and carried away, against the form of the statute in such case made
and provided, and against the peace of the People of the State of New York and their dignity.

e st T DELANCEY NICOLL:
District JAttorney.
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FOLDER:
3955
DESCRIPTION:

Smith, George

DATE:
02/06/91

I




Ll Y B

T [ O T e P Y IS

N A S S A S LN S L AR M ALK

POD [vusd .'Sté me 8L3 SU0N0985)
_ 0oL LV ahryheanay
—N ~ 3

DE LANCEY NICOLL




District Pollce (Jourt :

being duly examined before the wunder-.
according p(o law, on the  annexed charge ; and being informed that it is h £ right to

@ statement in relation to the charge against h ‘; that the statement is designed. to.

enable h 17},\‘ if he see fit to answer the charge and Z:'Elain the facts alleged against h -
. that he is at liberty to waive making a statement, and that h« waiver cannot ‘be use

against - hﬁp\ on the trial.

Question.

Answer.

Question.

" Answer,

. Question.. What isg business or profession ?

Answer. : . ‘ W

Question. Give any explanation you may think appearing in th
T tes timony ~aghinst” yoéi; and stat “will” Teid——tm
exculpation ? :

z

059 usyn

A




It appearing 20 me by ‘the withinllepdsz‘éiz‘-ons and statermiernts ihat the crime therein mentioned Ivasbeen

committed, ard that there is sufﬁcieﬁb cawse to ZieZier.;e the within nanvcd..

@

I have adnvitted the above-namer

to bail to answer by the undertaking liereto annexed.

Dated...

There being no sufficient cawse to Lelicve the within rnamed

Suwilty of the offerce within meentioned. I order to be discharded.

Police Justice.

q
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FPEOPLE, &c.,

~ ON THE -,;9' INT OF
I /

L

BAILED,

8
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GENERAL SESSIONS OF THE PEACE, OF THE CITY AND COUNTY

"COURT OF
OF NEW YORK.

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE oF NuEWwW Yoxxk,

against

THE GRAND JURY OF THE CITY AND ‘'COUNTY OF NEW YOR

indictment, accysw ’WJ—X

of,.the CRrIME OF PE, committed as follows :

id, on the

M in the year of our Lord one thousand
- ol » at the City and County aforesaid, with

eight hundred and
force and arﬁs, in and upon a certain female not his wife, to wit: one \M
' then and there being, wilfully and

* »

S féldnio‘usly did make an assault, and her the said P = %&Q\M R
- then and there, by forcé and with violence to her the said P g 3

' did wilfaully

against the form of the Statute in such case

T, against her will and without her consent,
of the People of the State of New York and

and- feloniously,{a,vish and carnally know,

made and provided, and against the Peace

their dignity.

SECOND COUNT—
AND THE GRAND JURY AFORESAID, by this indictment, further

‘accuse the SaidM & M&I‘&
E, committed

of the CRIME oF ASSAULT IN THE SECOND DEGRE

' as followstj L
e ' The sai&‘g o, ?%M:X. —

ia;te of the Q-City and County a.fo_resaid, afterwards, to wit: on the day and in the year
arms, in and upon a certain

aforesaid, at the City and County aforesaid, with force and

‘female not his wife, to wit: her the said M ~~ , then
y -and ‘feloniousl_y did make  another assault, with intéht her the

sa.1d M K ‘ ———— ,against her.wili and without her consent, by

. force and violence, to.then and there wilfully and felpniously ravish and carnally know,

" against the form of the Statute in such case made and provided, and against the peace of

héf-Pebpléjqf;the State of New York and the digrity. =

and there being, wilfull

K, by this



'THIRD COUNT.—

AND THE GRAND JURY AFORESAID bE this mdmtment turther

accuse the S"JM%
of,{he CRII\;E oF ﬁi&PE committed as follows:

~ The szudwﬁ N\AX_

late of the City and County aforesald afterwards, to wit: on the day and. in.- the year: .

L P TR T T AN 4 STV R IO e e

aforesaid, at the City and County aforesaid, with: force and: _a,rms_,~.1n and upon a certain

female not his wife, to wit: her the said —Ng s A
and there being, wilfully and feloniously did maLe another assault, and an a.ct of sexual--

intercourse with her the said M W

then and there wilfully and feloniously_ Eld'sommn: and perpetrate, against the will of the

said M W > and without her consent against

the form of the Statute in such casé made and provided, and ao-alnst the peace of the.

People of the State of New York and their dignity.

FOURTH. COUNT.—

AND THE GRAND JURY AFORESAID, by this indfct‘rnent, further

accuse the saim% .\.-._..JK_

of fhe CRIME oF ASSAULT IN THE SECOND DEGREE, committed

as follows:

The salmw éwk\

late of the City and County aforesaid, afterwards, to wit: on the day and in the yeaf
aforesaid, at the City and County aforesaid, with force and arms, in and upon a certain
female not his wife, to wit: her the said R =N, W -

then and there being, wilfully and feloniously.did make another assauls, with intent, an

act of sexual intercourse with her the said. JA == T
against her will and without her consent, then and there wilfully and fTeloniously to comm1t
and perpetrate, against the form of the Statute in such case made and provided, and against

the peace of the People of the State of New York and their dignity.

FOH N R—FEEESEESy




AND THE GRAND JURY AFORESAID, by this indictment, further

accuse the SalM% M\K Q\

<f the ORIME oF PERPETRATING AN ACT OF SEXUAL INTER-

COURSE WITH A FEMALE UNDER THE AGE OF SIXTEEN TEARS,

NOT IIIS WIFE, committed as follows :

The said R s~ e eSS

late of the City and County aforesaid, afterwards to wit: Sn the day and ir the year

aforesaid, at the City and County aforesaid, with foree and arms, in and upon a certain

female not his wife, to wit: her, the said M?&M ,

then and there being, wilfully and feloniously did make another assault, she, the said

A—-\N\N:_&_‘ W , being then and there a female under the

age of sixteen years, to wit: of the age of T Yearg; and the said

%&\o\&/ %\——\%\4\' . - then and there

wilfully and feloniously did perpetrate an act of sexual intercourse with her, the said

) S o W T, against the form of the

Statute in such case made and provided, and against the peace of the people of the

State of New York and their dignity.

DE LANCEY NICOLL,
FOFNR—FRLEOVWE, District Altorney.
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INQUEST IWTO TER NEATH
Bafor s -
- of - BOW. FRRDINAND LEVY,
: snd 8 Jurye.

MARY SMITH, daceased. : -

Nar York, Jamuery 13th, 1891,
2 o'cloclk, P. Ma

Appearances: Wauhopg Lymm, Bsg., appears for +ha propla,
rapr es nting ths Nistriet Attornay 's Office; Mr.

Louis J. Grant, am sars for *It=a prisonsr.

SAPTAIN JOSIAE A. WRSTKRVRLT, duly sworn, bestifi «i:
By +hs Coron~-ri-
Q Captain, vou ara in comnand of +the 99+h Polics Precinct
of +1is City? A, Y es, sir‘.,
Q S+2+ - t.o Blia Jury 11 thet vou knaovy in raferaica t o the
case *hat ws ar» sbout +o invastigata, namaly, *ho caus z
of d-ztl of Mary Smith? A I con'+ know that I cen
+:.:+ » enything ebout the cause of d ezthe.
Q Statne thae circumsiances under which you arrested Of-
ficer Smi+h? A. . Last Friday afternoon, aftar twalve
o'clocke.
Q What date? A It will be thn 8th, I .ﬂlink.
A Juror: I+ is th~ ninthe. '

The Coronar: Th= ninth instante.

Now proceed? A. The-doctors s ng . :Phildipsi. and-Sname @

' - s : i
the dochors ravortgd hHo me that thay wara in atbendance upon

ITTS RN SN T i SN

P T SRS S NI SRR Y Y




PEEEEY NPT LTI TN

Mrs « Smith Noe 8 Wast 12681h S+rast, s:~ was st that time

suff aring f rom lockjaw, which was tlia T asttlt, of sona injur=

i~s She had v oo A Ved soma daYS prior; thay sthated that in

t}air oOpinion shae woOu 14 not live only a feW hours &t the

most, and if y AesiTe Ho @at &any stat anant from hel We

muet do so© forthwith; T dmn ~iataly bol acrspliad for the

Coronar +0 comen and taka har antbe mortan shatenent; I

+1.en want ho +ha lious= an deavrrived thare spout twanty min-

utas brfor= onea o'clock; on examinzthion I balieved the wo=—

men +to be dead. On ny wey back +o tha station house I meb

Officar Smith, who ted just been T aiavad from duty; 1

placed Iim under errast and th an took him bafor a Hhe Sup=r-

intsndent e
Q State wWhat Hime yvou mat me g8t the station? A. Th e

Coronar arrivad thare shout stortly after -- Goren »r Liavy

srriv el thar= shortly befora two o'clock; I shbatsd o0 him

thet bthis womam was thian d=8d and Hhe Coromner +o0k charge

of Hta case; then I arraign<d *“he officar bafors= tha Supsr -

intand snt and he susp and~d him from duty s

Q Wiat did vor nxt do? A. Th~ naxt day sf fier 3 WY

.

autopsy?
Q You brought him hisre o Saturd ay? A. Y, sir;

send hin was cammitt =d by vaur Honor in five 4. hou s and dollers

eil snd in default of tha Deil he was committed bo the

Tombs, I &lso brought Mrs. Stewart as & wi tnesé;

comnithad to bhn Hous » of Detartione.

CQ That is £11 you had to do with thea cese SO fexr? A.

o
By Mr. Lymm -

Q - Did ymz meka sny inquiry or investigation into thie




raport thet £1n d of snédant assault <t or clubbed his
Al Y o sir. .
Mr. Grant, on b4:elf of the pri soner
objscts to Tz qu estioﬁ. |
A. Yes; I invastimated and cn uséd.an inveétigation ;t,o be
mede. ,
Q State what you did in detail leading 't,owarc-is that in-
ves tigation? A. 1 learned that on the night of this al-
leged assault there was in company with o fficer Smith, a
woman nameé Mary Stewart, a man named William H. Gillespie;
Mrs. Stewart is here now; she stated that she was with the
officer in the salcon at the corner of 135th Street and Hth
Avertie and that officer Smith's wife came there locking for
him, that officer Smith left, he return.éd in -a few minutes
and said that he had been out and given.his wife hell; she
would know betiter than to follow him on post in the future;
the same statement was made +to0 me by Mr. Gillespie and
detective Price interviewed his son for half an hour, a
little boy seven or eight years of age and stated he went
there with his mother and his-father came out +the saloon
and had some words with his moth er and walked as far as 132rd
Street and 5Hth Avenue with the.n and there he struck his
mo*!heré 1 an not positive, but 1 think he said, with a
club. ‘
Q What date was that that this al leged investigation de-
veloped? A On a Saturday. .
What month‘é _Tﬁis present month - the 10th.
.The 10th of Jamiary? A. Yes, sir.

You.are now narrating the instance of the bby speakirg

| S0
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of this assault upon his mother? A. Yes, sir.
Q On the nignt of the 31st? A. Yes, sir. )
Q That is when the boy speaké of his father ha’v:.iiﬂ.g struck.
his mothei' corner of 132nd' S treet? A. Yes, sir.
0 December 31lst? A. Yes, sir; it was gt ads to detect-
ive Price.
What else did you learn? A. HNothin g else.
Wnen did you arrcst him? A.. Last Friday.
0 She died, when? A. Last Friday.
0 What day of the menth? A. The ninth.
By Mi. Grant:
Q Personally you know nothing about these facts that you
have testified to?

A Yo, sir.

W1LLIAM M. GILLESPIE, duly sworn testified.

By The Coxronex.
O_A Where do you live?. A. 224 Fast 112th Street.
Q What is your occupation? A. 1 - at the presén'b
live of my income, Mr. Coromer.
0 Were you fomerly a menber of the police force?
A Yes, sire. .
Q What do yu know in reference to this case? o
A On the night of Decenber 31st, 1 met officer Smith, ‘bh%e |
prisoner here; 1 considered him an intimate friend of mine,
gnd in fact 1 met him bery of ten and on Becenber 31st I met

him and we had sevoral dx(‘:‘u)zks together and we met Mrs.
P . 4 ’ s,




Stewart. . '

0] Whefe was that? A. At 135th Street and 5th Averuie,

a salcon kept by & man named Lewis and while we we re.in
drinking a door - an entrance at 135th Street into ‘t-,h:is se—
loon - the dooxr opered father slowly - and tpis Mrs. Stewart
said that probably - that it was probably Off’icer Smith's

wife .

Q Was she in the place? A. Yes, s\ir; she was in the

place.

Q Drinking with you‘f? A. Yes, --s:ir, and the door opened

probably +two or three times and vhen she made that remark
that it was Smith's wife she called £0 the proprietor of the
saloonn and said is officer Smith here and he said no, and
she said yes, he is, the proprietor said no he is not, so
anyhow she said yes, he is and 1 want him to come outlt here
and she wert 6u‘-b ~pas£9 the door. A. Mrs. Smith and

when she was gone, officer Smith went out the other entrance
- there are two entrances leading into this bpx;

Q You deo not mean to say that Mrs. Smith locked throujgh the
door tvo or three times? A. 1 heard those remarks that

1 have testified to.

Q Whw He was the re all the same ? A Yes, sir.

0 In uniform? A. Yes, sir.

Q  Then she went out? A. Yes, sir, she went out ard

officer Smith went out to the door leading into the bar—roonii

and he wert out alone through the other door leading in the

alley way; the box is like this and there is a door here

and enother door there and he went out that _door and there




is another snitrance 1leading in+to the' street into the alley-

way, and whal transpired 'af*{,ert?d;ibo not hknow.

0 What time of the day was this? A. Probhably zibout nine

o'clock in the everdng.

0 Who came inic the saloen first you or S?ni*bh?

A We cams in "boggether.

Q How long had you been in the saloen before Mrs. Smith

made her appearance? A. Probably"bwenty minutes.

Q  You had been drinking? A. Yes, sir.

Tt

0 Vmat/‘did My si-Stewart éome in?

A We came in together.

0 Where had you bean prior to the iime -oderspenvee - that
came to the saloon? A. At 134th Sireet we met her.
With whom, officer Smith? A. Smith and I were ‘ogebhyy
met her.

Did you agree to meet her ? A. 1 knew no more

than you did.

"

Did he say he expected her? A. Yes, sir.
You and  Mr. Smith - wert into that saloon?
Yes, sir. .

Did you have a drink? A. Yes, sir.

And were you sceated? A. Yes, sire.

What did he drink? A. Whiskeye.

O 8 OO0O>» O o =

You also? A. Yes, sir.

Q How maiy rourds did you consume before *rs. Smith made:
her appearance? A. Probably two or three rounds - fnaybe
t hree .

Q Maybe three? A. Yes.

Q You remained in the saloon with Mrs. Stewart when he

- wentlt outb, A. Yes, sir

- (8)




‘He wert out? A. Yese.
Did you hear any loud \voxds? A. Yo, sir; no words .

SiTe

0

Q

.Q Did ¥r. Smith come back‘;? A. Yes,
Q

Excited? A. Yot appavc tily, nRO- sir.

8 What did he séy about his wife? A. Ye said she

would 'nt bother him any more, he gave her & éla}ﬁ in the Jaw.

Q Thea is Wwhat he sgid in yournresence? A. Yes, sir. -

He S8V down again. in your presence and Mrs. Stewart?

Q
A We had one drink..
0

One mcre round? A. Yes, sir.

Vhi skoy again? A. Yes, sir.

Ho+t or cold? A. 14 was cold rye whiskey.

Q There is such a thing as hot whiskey?  A. We had plain

whiskeye. y

Q low, what, time was it then aftér Smith returned - how

long did he remain with you and Mrs. Stewart? A. Probably

half an hour or three quarterse

0 1t got to be after 10 o‘'clock? A. Yes, sire

Q Perhaps jater? A. Half past tern.

Q What became of the party then? A. We went out to-

gether and 1 +took the Madison Avenue car with the lady ard
brought her down to 110th Street and left her at- 110th Stredt

apnd left her home.

Q What became of Mr. Smith? A. He was on his poste.

Q 1t waé about half past ten, you think?

A Yes, sir.




’
Q. Is that all that Smith said of his wife - she would“z;‘.’o
bother him again very soon? A. He slapped her in the jaw
:stnd that she would'nt bother him no more, that is the -only
remark he ma®e te me.. : T
Did you hedr a female voice outside, at that time‘é
‘To, sirA. |
Did ywu see Mrs, Smith when you came out of the saloon‘?
Ho, sir . : ' .
She was not around then? A. llo, sir.
Did you know Mrs. Smith? A. Yes, sir.
Did you swmeak to her that evening‘é A. Mo, sir.
Was Smith sober, you think, that night? A. Yes, sir.
Both 'b:imesé A. Yes , 8ir; to my knowledge he was.
Before the first round and after the additional round?
Yes, sir; he was sober.

You and Smith had lowown each other for some +time?

0
A
0
A
0
0
0
0
Q
Q
A
Q
A

Yes , sir.

. \ _
Good friends up to to-day? A. Yes, sir.

=4

Q Who else ‘a}as in the saloon besides your party - anybody
besides the bar-keep er? A. A half a doxen people in the
back room. |

0] Did they have anything to say to your party?

A No, sir.

Q Did you know any of +this party who were there at the
time? A. Wo, sir. |

0 Males and females, both? Yo, sir; only males.

Q Was thé proprietor of the saloon there Lewis?

A Yes, six: |

((8)




Q Was he there when Smith made that remark to vou that he
skapped her in the jaw? A. I could'nt say; 1 don't know
1 don't really know. )
Q Was Mrs. Stewart - was she under the influence o‘f‘-\liquor
A -No, sir. . 4
Q Were you sober? A. Yes, sir.

By kr. Lynn: |
Q You say he W&sl in unif orm? A. Yes, sir.
Q When he sat in this private _room; did he unbuckle his
bel‘b‘? A, Yo, sir, he had his uniform on.
Q He had a club, did he? A. Yes, sir.
Q It was hamnging on the outside? A. Yes, sir.
Q Did you notice whether he had the «lub in his hand going
oul ¢ocr whether it was in his helt? A. It was in his beld.
0 You say you saw him when he came back? A. Yes, sir.
Q Was his club in the sam- - osdiiion? A. He did'nt have
it in his hand - it must have been .i)n the same position.
Q 1 ask you whether he had it in his belt or ip his hand
when he carme back? A. He had hia belt on - 1 know him
and he very seldom carries a sticic in his hand at all - he
carries it din his ’pel?t.
Q That is the usual place for policemen to carry it?
A  Yes, sir.
Q He said that she would 'nt trouble him again?

A Yes, sire.

You made some remark about his wife following him?

Q
A I don't lmow that as I remenber it; .I heard her voice -
; :

Iy
o
h
b
i

did'nt see the lady - -
I PR
!

o




You heard her ask for him? A. Yes, sir.

You heard the bar-keepsr DZM'I}?:; that he was there?

Yes .

~

And you saw him go out? A. Yes, sir.

Did you say something when he came back afterwards?

He spoke first, did he? A. He spoke first.

He said she would not trouble - he said"she will not
sty ZFZe
routble me any more"? A. Yes, sir, et ,remark he made.

A

0]
Q
A
Q
Q
A Mo, sire.
Q
Q
b
Q

"She will not hother m: any more.

Q Neither you nor Mrs. Stewart had said snything - neither
you nor Mrs. Stewart had said anything - did Mrs. Stewart
say anything? A. Jiot that 1 remembher.
Q How lony; had he been gone? A. Probably abecut fifteen
minu‘bes'.
Q Fifteen minutes? A. Yes, sir.
Q You and Mrs. Stewart sat in the' room, the same rnom‘;?
‘A Yes, sir.

While he :vas away ? A. Yes, s:ir'.

“Mrs. Stewart knew Mrs. Smith? A. I don't know.

It was she that saw her when she opened the door?

She did’'nt say Mrs. Smith, at all, she cculd'nt see her. .

ime? A. Yés, sir.
And “the bar-keeper saying 'he was not there?

Q
Q
Q
A
Q All you three persons were in the roém talking at thé
. ,
Q
A Yes, sir.

Q

- What did Smith say when he heard that? A. He did'nt

(10)




say a wox;d.
0 RBut after the door had closed he @t up? A. Y'esv, sir.
Q Did he say smmything ;j0oing out? A. Not a word.. ;
0 Did yu say anything? A. I-Io; sir I did not. -
Q Did Mrs. Stewari say anytﬁir\.p; to her? A. lot that I
' remember.
Q There was nothing said but "That is your wife, Smith,
lookinz for you.". A. Ho, sir. v
Q He -~ ot up ard put his hat on and he wa lked out‘é

Yes, sif.

And was | gone about fifteen minutes? A. Yes, sir.

He came into the same box where he had left?

Yes, sir.

Both sat there - you both sat there? A. Yes .

Did he sit down? A. Yes,

And the first words that wevre exchanged between you and
him or either of you and him was his remarls , "She will
bother me rno more?" A. Yes, sir.

"Q  That is correct‘? A. Yes, sir.
Q You are sure that the larnguage is substantially that?
A Yes, sir. |
By Mr. Grant:
Q He said, " I gowe her = siap in the jaw.
Mr. LYNH: She will bother me no more, I gave her a slap __

in the face or jaw - it was one or the other.

A Either one.

Q Did you say ary thing then after he said that - did

(11) .




_Q Did you say anything? A, Ot, yas, I says o him,
Smi+th, I said, now, there is no law in the wdrlda/%dmim
witlr & woman, thers is only a law which comp=als jyou to sup-
port her; if you camot gat alonm what is the use of fi"g:}';."‘{";—:
ing and growling. | B T |
By the Coronar:
Q Wiet did h~ say +o that? A, Hg didn’t say snybhing
at 81l .
Q Did Mrs. Stewart say anything to that? A. N, sir.
Not et I r gmembor.
By Mr. Lym:-
Q Smi+th had =xXpressed himsezlf hng ébuldn't get along wit.h
his wif o, didn't ha? A. No, sir.
Q Wha t ranerk 1« .yau +0 meke that statament —- what re-
merk 1ed yvou tc maka tret statemant to him? - A. After
him saying ha slapped his wif 2 in thae j.aw - or fecae, I
don't ramembasr which. ‘
Q He made this statenent s tirely volunterily -- it had
not bYean alicit~d from him by a/ny ranark of yorrs?
A. ﬁo, sir.
Q EHow long had you knewn Mrs. Smi+h? A. Wall, I know
her -~ I was on post on Plaasant Avenue four years ego and
Officer Smith \va;s thore —— I considered lim a friend of mine:
and I visit=d hime.

Q How long have yau known Mrs. Stewart? A. " ®ince last

Novembar.

Q This saloon +hat you were in that day was not on Officer: |

Smith's post? Al Y, gir; that nighte. , _‘

(12)




G And it was whils on post that he ceme into thet private
box? A‘ Yes, Sir-
Q Had you preceded him in ther e? A We wont in togeth-

A1l +hraa of you? A. Yes, sir.

Did va: ssa Mrs. Steswart or hinm first thet nichb?

We both mat hiar +Homatl al .

You #nd brs. Stewart visit-d him vary

I wisitad him —— I mat he with him.

And sh s was his frisnd and not y ars? A. Ys, sir.

And var kna¥ her +hrougl: him? A. . Yas, sire

And as you mat har you found h=r frasquently in his
canpmy? Al Yas, sir.
Q And +his night was one of the nighis in ques +i on when
she was with him? A. Yas, S1ile. ‘
Q Do vy au rememb 2r having seen & 1i +tta boy +that night?
A. Wo, sir; I didn't sas nobody +hat nighte

By tha Coronar .-

X .
Q Ara vy positive as %o tl. » -de be tlet tids leppaned?

A. Yeg, cir; I am positiva, Dac ambor 3lste.
A.

Q Nav Yoars FRve? Yas, sir.

Q Surs as o that? A. Positive.

Q When Smith came back and seid whot you have testifi o
£0 +hat hbs wifa wouldn't bothér him acain ~het he slapped
har in ths jaw or fece, whet did Mrs. Stewart say, if_any-.—
*hhing;;! Al I don't beli sve the woman said & word.

Q Ref rosh youy mamory as to +hat? A. 1 am ts tifying

+o the truth hagre, I am trying toe




SERCS PR PET AL

Q I sxpect Hlhat, you need not emphasize that; did she say.

et inlar,

anything et 211? A. No, sir; I camot regollect now.

Q Did she taka part in the conversation &t a1l -- wlio or=—
dared *he round of drinks eftar Smith came badk? A. Smith
did .

Q Smith did? A. Yas, sire.

Q Did he me ke that remerk before he ordsred the drinks?

A, Boforas hn ordered thn drinkse.
Q No+hing 1=d him to make that ranark -- no ramark from
yours alf or Mrs. S"’.‘;e\vart, -- nothingmo {,ha*b you had said or
Mrs. Stewart Hlet he hiad struck his wif a in the fece?
Al No, sir; that he said voluntarily.

By Mr. Grant:i- » .'
0 Yeou hav » now statad o,\} srything *hat you can ramenbar of
tlhat occu rrance? A. Yas, sir; averything.
Q And on +this occasidn in question yau did not s ae Mrs.
Smith at all, did y ar? AL No, sire.
Q You don't know -- you camot say +he+ it was Mrs.
Smith thet openad the dcor of .vo;lr own knowl edgie? A. No,sir.
Q Thare was Mo one in *h s box on thet occasi on exebPt yair
party? A, Yo, sive.
Q Officer Smith and Mrs. Stewart and yoursalf? Al Yz=s;
g threes
Q' After you went out of tha box did you see where e
went? A. Ho, sire.
Q You couldn't sem, thne box is 211 anclos d -- it was an
ordinary box in & sal oon? A. Yeos, sir. .
Q And you were inside of this, end didn't go out, did

yoa? A. No, sir.
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Q You couldn't sea whaera hia want? A, No, sire

Q Aftar ha had 1af t the box and went out, did you hear

any disturbasnce, any screams, or any violsnce of any kind?

A, No, sire.

»
Q Fvearything was parfectly guipsht as fer as vou could’ saze?
or haar?  A. Yas, sire.

Q Or hear? A. Y Sit e

=,
Q He was ocut of ths box gsbout fiftesn minutes -- you

donn 't msal.n to ks pPositive “het 1t was as long as .tl-.a“t_:, -
Toumne
wWhan you say fiftean minutes you did net at the+t t-imoAit.?
A, As naar as I canld judea it Was probehly +that time.
It may have baen less ~- I didn't tine e man whan ha wenb
out, of tha place 2t 2ll.
Q Wars vou led +o bali aVn from Officar Smith's mam gr
whan he cama back into +ha box +tet ha had pefp atrated any
viol::,nc;a, -~ did his mammar indicate iﬂ.
Obj=xtad to. |
Tti2 Coron ar: You may ssk him was hs oxcitede
Q Was he excit ed? A, Hg a.pp;:e.\red 0 bz coel and col-
loctad, tthe same 88 alwys.
Q You say +h org ware some obther Deopl o in sana othiar part
of +ha salcon? A, Yes, sir.
Q From thna tone of the convarsation and fron ths way he
was te lking, -- all of you =zt 'ﬁhat tima, ¥y at *.".hink whet y ou
said could have bean hegerd outside of tiet enclosad box?
Objected 0.

We talked in an ordinary tme of veoice, wedidn't keep

A,
quiagt in any way et a2ll.

R T v aeemt
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Q I+ was not any loudar wh ane e made thet T anark , when

s came in Bhat 1o had slappad hor in . +h=s fac o, -— Was Hhiat

said in & loud tona of voice? A. Ordinary borcge

Q I meam not exci't@,d? A.  Hothing boister VS .

Q You say *thizt on thet =vaning +,tis saloon was on wfficer

Smith's post —- now, you don't know really whe +

his post was
thet night?

A Yes , sir; 1 know; ‘1 have bemm on ti

1e polica end I
know ¢ was rapulatede.

By Mr. Lym:-

Q 0f courss vou know thedb birs « Simit I was ihare bhe + night
4

fraa Hha convorsahtion smd  voice snd from My, « Smitl's con—

versation?

Aa I don't know really bacous gl was in +his ancleos 4 box

thiaree.

Q But he spok~ of it in tlat way bthat you naw his wif o

led bsnan thare and s sem-hiim?

Objiszctaed to, aueshion axcludad.

By the Coromnaer:-

Q I will ssk tha quas ti on onc e Mmores You are positive

ttet e fH a Smith cama back into the saloon ha med 2 bhe ¥ 2=

mark thiat you +teostified +o, namely, my wif 2 wi 1l not botliex

ms agein, I have slepp~d har in the fac e or in tha jaw, he

mede +tat ranark, sither in the fece or in ths jew?

A. Yes, sire.
Q Upon thet you add od - wi2t did you say?

A i said to him, Now, Bill, now, thare is no law -= -
+there is no usa of wbusing a woman, +here is no law in the !
world compelling yad +0 live wvith & women == the law oompels

|
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you to support har.
Q You gsaid thte+ in +tha presanca of Mrs. Hoawart?
A, Yas, sire.

By Mre Grent:i-

- Q Is no- *ha trz,si',i.rnony't'rm*:, tie said,
ma gagein? A. Yes e

d any*hing baegn said by his wif s b: e Al No,

sir; Mot bafores.

By +ha Coronar:-
Q Did te Use Hhn words my wif &7
tine

By & Juror:-
Q You fraquently wvisit~d Mr. Smith? A. . Y8, gira
Q Did v a1 avar hava conv srsation with Mrs. Smith during
+hosae visits? Al Ona nichs, sftar Officar Smitl: moved
up tharae, = he want out -- I did -- I went up witth him te
ot soma supper, end I wanh up withh hime.
Q Did v avar heva eny conv ;:,I"S&'t;ion wi+th lier? A No,
sir, only +ha night I mat har and har husband.
Q Any 1angth of timae? A. Brobably fiftesn minutes, 1 was
not conv ersing with har -- I was convarsine with the chil~
drean in ths housaea.
Q Mrs . Smith was in tha box -- did you knov har voic a?
A, No, sir; I didn't know har voicas, only the words she
said, she wantad to know if the officer was thaere and ttie
proprisztor _sa'id no, end I xakad understood that that was hisé

wif o. . ..

Q You were laboring und sr thn impression that it was his

wif e? A, Yes, gire.

o an




DR. PHILIP E. DONLIN, duly svorn, bestif ied:

On Jamiary 10th at No. 6 West .131st Street I made
& post mortem examination of the body of M-(iry Smith, in the
presence of Dr. Leibinger aad Dr. Snag, ard famnd the fol-
lowing corditions which I shall describe.

I found ‘at the back of the head about twr inches
above the oceipital protuberance an irregularly shaped sup-—
arating wound three quarters of an inch in length; +there
was edchpmosis under the left eye; there was =2 disc ol ora~—
tien of a greenish yellow extending over the left cheek,

to the scalp.
the result evidently of traumatism or injnry,\ Onn remo ving
the scalp 1 found an extravasation of blood bereath +he
scalp, the size of a silver dollar; I found & small extrsa—
vasation the size of a “t',hreé cent piece and amther as
large as a cemt three inches above the left ear. Ho injury

to the tables of the skull were found. On removing the to

of the skull the dura mater or lining menbrare was found ad-

hering intima’<1ly to the inside of the skull and slowed
sigms of inflamnation; the vessels were all filled with
blood, making it or giving it an arborescent appearance =—
the vessels were «11 engorged, the Pia Mater or cever ing
membrane of the brain waé found to be opaque and thic kned,
an evidence of inflammation. The brain tissue was nommal;
I cut down: to the spinal cord and removed the brain, placing
it to one side. | On examination of the base of the skull I

found an.amerism' of the bassilar artery of the lef t side «

Its front and back sticks up like a Turkish saddle because

alongside of the Turcica so named - it is recognized under
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éither néme. " There was a small amunt .of blood around
this ruptured vessel; and on the c anmparing the point of rup
ture with the base of the brain we found a clod of blood
there about half an inch in length and between half and a
quarter in breadth, it was firm ano solid. O taldng out
this vessel the 1lef t bassilar artery which was disesld ored
and disorgenized, we found it friable and mu.ch enlaruved.

Comparing it with the artery on the rijght side of the cella

Turcica, this artery, the bassilar is a sort of a breaker

or dam and offers resistance to the_' too forcible mropulsion
of blood to the brain - it acts as a sort of sea wall that
prevents the sea coming into the harbor too forc iblg.

“The tortuous shame of +this vessel ensbles it naturally to
resist the large q_uzmt.ities of blood that at times surge

o0 the brain. It offers points of resistance; we examined
very closely all of the brain structure ard f mind no in-
flamation of the medulla obdula oblongata, neither did we
find any in the spinal cord, & section of which we examined .
I could find no directly transmitted injury from the wounds
onn the skull or fran the meningitis which in my judgment

was the resuls. of the wound of the skull to the ruptured
artery. The tissues surrounding this fupt.ured artery im-
mediately were in a normal condition ard exhibited no signs
of directly transnitted force or violcnce. The other or-
gans as examined were normal, but conges*bedv. From the
autopsy I formed the opinion that death was due to cerebral
hemmorrhage, or cerebral apoplexy, and from the autopsy

alone could not connect the meningitis which was the result .
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of the injury of the head'with the rupture of the artery.
Oﬁe of the physicians who was present at the sub psy-in form-
ed me that prior to the death of the patient she suffered
from a tetanic spasm; thut of course being 8 statement out-
side 0f the inquest I could not permt it to enter into my
decision founded upon observed facts as to what was or wh at
was not the cause of death. I had to foaund it sol ely upon
what I saw. But it has been the usage of this office for
Coroners mhysicians to form an opinion as to the cause of
death from t he history of the case '-azzd the death appearences

at the in que st
and whilst I am not awvare fran observation that +this wanan

A
had tetanic spasms before her death 2ferzobs raoribdom ~ for

and not, a disease and

tetanic spasms are merely an action
leave no trace behind; if the evidence of honorable phy-

sicisans show thd'b thi s woman had violent tetanic ¢ emtraction

of some muscles of the back or neck such as occur in cere-
bral spinal meningitis _;Vhi(:h issimilar to tetarus in man
of its symptans and due +o the same cause we could easily
accept their statement; arm Judging fran the tes timony of -
fered here that there were tetaric spasms 1 could connec 4
the cause of death with the injury.

The injury produced meningitis that produced ¢ amvul-
sions - a convulsion ruptured a diseased blood vessel caus-

ing death by sheck from cerebral hemmorrhage .

By the Coroner:-
Q It we dlscovered from the evidence that is presented to

this Jurj this afternoon that this woman was beaten snd as-—

saultedv 1f such knowledge ard tes timony was to be glver or




bresented to this Jury would the resul+® of the injuries o f

that character have anything to do with the cause of death

in conjuncbion with that which you have already stated?

A. The cornecting link is missing in the post mortem;

that must bé furrished by the tes timony of medical att en~
dants, who can or will certify that this woma 1 had tetanic
spasms or persistent convulsions, by thrse spasms large quan
tities of bleod may be ferced to the brain and through a dis-
organized blood vessel. |

Q You state here that the woman might have died --

A, She might have died from meningitis, traumatic, if she
had not died by the rupture of this vessele. Naturally ,

if this Jury is to ask what caused this apoplexy from the
prost mortem I donn't k:néw; theoretically I o know, but what
cauwsed it divrectly I dan't know. If T am 1o form an opin-
ion fran the testimony that this woman had a tetanic spasm

I could show that the enlarsement of the blood vessel and
that disorganized cendition permitted its rupture .

Q In other words you mean ic¢ +ell the Jury if there is teo
be any connection shown between the cause of death as you
discovered at "Dh‘e autopsy and that, of the old injuries re-—
ceived, it must be supplied by sane addit ional evidence ifz
this investiga'bion‘é A. By some physicians in atterdance
who could show that there were spasms which if tetanie were
due to the meningitis and that these caused the rupture of

tho se enfeebled vessels.




Qv You have been sery,:ing a number of years as deputy coro—

ner, have you had occasion during that time where persms

have been assasulted and beaten or struck with a stick or
club and at tHhe same time when you vwere called upon in your
oddicial cepacity, you qdid not discdver ary special t:t:a'ces

whi ch would show that ary marks of viol ence or any fracture
of the slull or sericus injuries had been inflicted and un-—
doubtedly such injuries hai been sus‘l:,ained‘;? A. Yes, sir.
The exterml trace as in sand bagiing may disappeaxr after a

while, its effects may remein and be slow in causing death'.
Q Who was present at the z:.utcpsy‘;’ A Dr. Leibinger

whom I took there at your request and Dr. Snag, one of the
att ending physicianse.

Q Did they assist‘;? Al They witnessed it fran the be-
ginning to the end and we conversed Togebher upon every ¢ a-
dition we founc; I did the we r ke

Q Anyboay el se present? A. The re was an undertakere.

Q Any other physician?\ A. Mo, sire.

By Mr. Lynn:-

Q The blow struck onn the back of +he head such as you de-
scribe may p roduce meningiti s‘é A. Yes, sir.

é - Will me}ﬁnggitié at tines develop lock-jaw? A. Yes, six
Q Will lock-jaw with all its symptoms at any time ever de-
velop apoplexy‘.-? A. Wo, sir; mnot alone; ’ lock—-jav is

a symp'bcm - a tetanic spasm.

d To what is it due‘:? A. It is due to the dirritation
of the brain, and you carmot recognize it after death; it

is merely an action.
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Q It ids an effect of a cause = it ils due to a cause‘.'?
A. Yes, sir.
0 Sc known as meningitis? A. Yes, in tetarus it is due
to the irritation of the meddlla oblongata and the spin;alg
cord . | A
Q The one follows the other? A. Yes, sir.
0 Now, then, atter we have those symptans of _eckjaw foal-
jowing fron mening‘;itis, is it possible that apoplexy may de-
velop‘;? Al Not unless there is an abnorma 1l condition of
some of the vessels and bloed is propelled with undie f erce
to the brain. 4

Are .
Q Axst spasms of such a character violent and stramg?
A, They might probably rupture a diseased vessel.
Q And then would fol low apoplexy? A. Yes, sir.
Q Then it is possible that {he chain is p;erfect under
tho se conditions I have pGCO;;dé A. That the tetanic
spasms were preser bef oreo;efimk place snd caused the flow of
blood in alnorml guantities Lo the brain and ruptured
this enfeebled vessel.
QAV Where was this spot‘? . Al Two dinches above the oceci-
p;'rbal j)ro‘c,uberance.
Q That is where the sminal column runs to? A. Yes,
sir; it runs up under there.

Q This contusicnn was there? A. This lacerated wound,

an extravasation under the scalp was there.

Q The skull was not fractured? A, o, sir.

Q The skull does not need to be fractured to produce men-

ingitis? A, No, sir.




This disceloration of the eye was simply & black eye?
. That is all it was.

Onn the same side with the eye? A. Yes, sir.. .
E%%Azaaﬁ4a4£gg227 .
Did you see at the time all the injury of the slull of

the deceased? A. 3, Sire

Q
A
Q And on the cheek? A. Traumatice.
Q
Q

Q Vlere those injuries serdious er otherv.rise‘.'? A. The

injuries of +the skall.

0 The wound‘..? A, Only through ils results.

Q When you say as 10 what you saw was ii such an injury

as you would consider a serious injury because of a severe

blow? A. Not of itself alonee.

Q There was no fracture of the skull?  A. Mo, sir.

Q And ~hut vas the most serious exierral wound that you

saw‘.;‘ A, Yes, sir.

Q How, after this time you removedportions of the swminal
cord? A. Whent we removed the brain, we cut down past

in the obdula oblongata to the spinal ecrrd.

Q And the portions that vou removed were perfectly normal?

A, Homal as far as the tissue and cmstriction was cam-

cerned, but the dura mater alse dowvn and aroundbhe medulla

and spinal cord which it sheaths the inflammation could ex-

tend along the membrane. So fur as the spinal coxd itself

was concerned we found no changes in it.

Q Assuming that the deceased had died of lock-jaw it

~would be - it would be fran here, the sninal cord and those

portions here? A. We might find a lesion of it.

|
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Q . Wouldn't that be most likely? ~ A. It would be likely,

but as an inflamation of the memninges of the brain extends

to and embraces at times the spinal cord its inflammation

woul d produce"betanic spasms . I use this term to distin-
guish from loci-jaw; lock-jaw is tetanus. It is due teo
sREREIRxRXEki® septic peisen with strychnine you can have
nearly the same syn.lptcms. In a1y case where the body is
drawn to one side or the cther by infoluntar_v cantraction:

of the muscles it is due to 1he same cause, irritation of
the medulla oblongata and the ppinal cord or an extended
meningitis.

Q Is it net a fact tha'_t if the rupture had been occas ioned
by violence or beating or ary violence perpei;rated by any-
body upon the deceased, i% it not a fact that if that rup-
ture had besn occasioned in that way that the deceased would
have been wmconscicus a dong time bef ore death? A. I
understrod the injuries wire received Jarmiary 2nd; such a
clot could not appear without produc ingg all the evidences of
apeplexy; 1 infer from the statement I heard that such sym-
ptoms wefe not prevalent pricr to the deathe Fran the au-~
topsy alone 1 cannot trace the relastions between the menin~
gitis and the ruture of this disorganized_ vessel, but with
the testimony of the atterldinp; physicians and the state—

ment that she had tetanic spasms I could at once form an




opinién that death was probably due to the forcible propul-
sion of blecod 1o that weakened part of the brain; but l‘bhat
is probable enly and I do not state it as a fact'.

Q Is it not a fact that the pressure of this clot vou have )
mat tioned caused .apople)g‘.-? A. Any extravasation of bloo-ci
'into the brain is apoplexy.

Q Would that produce death immeadiately after the 1 1pture ?
A, It depends on the location of the rupture arni the sige
of the clot; a clot the size of a pins head will in the
medulla oblongata cause death; a ~nlot the size of half an
inch located as this was would cause death very quickly.

Q As far as your own individual opinion was ¢ macerned,

from what you saw you persmally can trace no canection be-

tween the injuries that yveou found and the cause of death?

A. From the post mortem chorzes alone?
Q Yes‘:? A. No, sir.
By Mr. Lynn:-
Q No trace is bestween the one and the ¢ther because one or

the other may not have overated? A, Yes.




DR. D. Padisice SHAGG, duly sworn, testified:
By thé Coroner:~
Q You are a practicing physician in good stading?
A, Yés, sir.
Q Where do you live? A. 2208 Fi-fth Averme.
Q State in your own wa y or languayge all that you know in
reference to the case of Mafy Smith from the tim'e you were
ser, for. Were you her family physic ian‘é A. Mot bef ore

this time.

Q When were you called in 1.0 attend her? A, I was
called in Thursday night, the 8Sith. .

0 You were not the first physician — you were called in
the 8h? A. Yes, sir.

Q Was Dr. Phillips there shead of ya? A. No, sir.

0 You were called in Thursday, Sth of Jamary?

A, Yes, éir, if Thursday was the eighth, 1 was called in,
by her husband.

Q What time of the day did you go there‘:? A, It wﬁs
abut eight o'clock, I thnk , or half past eight.

Q  When you got there did yeu find Dr. Phil lips?

« HNo, sir.

A
Q You were there alone that night? A. Yes, sir.
Q.

Tell the Jury what you found and what you did‘.;
A. I went in and found Mrs. Srﬁith in bed, she had a hand-
kerchief tied around her f orehead; I tried te get her his-—
tory; I couldn'tbget much of a history fran her.
Q Was she in a feeble ccndition?" A, She must, or con-

cealed her history; what little I got out of her and fram
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her pain - she compl ained of she might have mialgya or

" peretenitis or mumps, or she might have the enl arszement of
the glarmds. The light was poor, I thought I would nrescrike
foor her, I did prescribe and I léft word 1 vwould caone in
early in the mo rring and look her ov r carefully.

Q How long. did vou stay there Thursday evening?

Al I dom't know.

Q About half an hour‘é A, Maybe twen iy minut es » Dossibly
0] Did you try w0 discover the cause of her iliness or ail-

ment? A. tried to get some history from her.

0 Was Smith present when you spoke 0 her? A. TNo, sir.

Q Who was there? A. There was & lady there and a

child, a baby.

Q Did you examine her there? A, I examined her neck.

Q Her head and face? - A. I felt of the back portion of

her head here.
Q Did you remove the handkerc hief? A. I pushed it up

and felt of her forehead.

(j Did she say arything 4o you at al1l1? A, I asked her
sane questvion, I asked her if she was suffering froan head—
ache, she said her head did ache o little, ard I sasked he.r
to see her tongue and she protruded it partially only, I
asked her why and she said she couldn't and she said she
couldn't get her mouth open; I said why, she said it hurt
her right here, the érticula tion of the jaw bone.

Q That evening you left —- you were not satisfied exactly

as to the condition of your patient? A. I thought she

was a pretty sick woman.

(28)
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‘._Q - Did you return the next mo rning? A, I was to retwrn

but I got-a call fron her brother before I got there.

Q Did you return there on Friday? A. Yes, sir; ) he

cam'e into the of fice. )

Q  Her brother? A. Yes, sir; I da't know his first
name; he came o my offic e, I think, &—bOLLt\.IN.Sjc}?_Eg‘é__,b,el~1~-'“-..
it must have been » bout nine o 'clock; I had been up a il

nigcht, I was sleeping pretty late, T had not arisen,-- I

think it was Pretty nearly nine, maybe half Past eight,

BB came in and asfd me if I would come in ard see Mrs.
Smit.h; I said ho ; dees s he feal this mo ming? He said,

®Doctor, she is no better.” I said I will cane up and

Ssee her. He said, "Did vou know she had been hurt?"®

I said, no; he said, "She has been hit witih = club."

"Why in thunder didn't she tell me so last night -

I will be up there in

I said,
that makes a v ery great dif ference.
I got up and dressed myself; I don't

not. I dam't think

& very fey minutes.®

know whether I stayed for breakfast or
I did; I think I we:t right up there. When I sot up

there Mrs. Smith was sitting on the side of the bed; I

wert, Iin and arother party was there ~- I dem't know whther

it was her sister or not, a young girl mu ybe eighteen, seven

teen or eighteen or twenty, and I wert right into her and I

said, "How are you feeline this mo rning?*" She said, she
y f_, g b4

was not feeling well. I said, how long have you been sit—

She didn't just know. I said, why den't you lie -

ting up?*
dow'n,' she sa:‘d., "T get so stopped up -~ I cannot breathe

well. I said, your brother tells me you‘ had an injury;
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I would like to find it -- and 1 did find it.

Q What did she say to tha‘b? A. She made no repl'jr t o
it then. 1 found the injury such as has been descrébed.
very faithfully by Dr. Donlin; a wound three quarters .ef an
inch long on the parital bone; when I found that then‘ 1

got a light in there o se.e the wund and I saw her face
then I first discovered that she had Tetanus, lockjaw.

That was my first discovery of it. Sars I, "Mrs. Smith,
you are in a bed cardition; you ought to go into the hos-
pital; and you ought to go immediately." The b rother
said, she wouldn't o into the ho S_Di'b;c'.tl, she had ernough sis-
ters to come in and take care of her. I said, all right,
she must have care ard care immediately, and I said, I

want counsel.

Q An associabe physician? A. Yes, sir. He said, all
right, if you want counsel you can call him; I went down
to my office and I think I sert my brother-in-lay for Dr.
Phillips, Dr. Phillips came tomy office; he csme there
after eleven o'clock and I told him what I had 1learned
about the situation and what they told me, except I didn't
go into all the history. He said we will o up to see it;
Dr. Phillips and I went up there; when we got there Dr.
Phillips wert into the room and 1 askel her if she could
walk into the olher roem; she said she could, end she

‘  got inte a chair out there and he locked over hélj and he

‘~ said there is an edema of ‘bhe. lungs; he said it is evident-

‘: 1y d“ue te this injury; he fomd the injury, I showed it to

him. He spoke to me more than to her; the brother was
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" the brother seemed to be spokesman for her, then
calling her by the name of

“th ere;

the brother ac know ledised that,

Mary, you werc hit by your hu sband -« hp but it 10 us "The

fact is, her husband hit her with a ¢ lub and gave her that

wound new Yes r's eve, ard then he said, "Isn't that so,

Mary?® And she said, *Yes;" that he had clubbed her.

Then Dr. Phillips and I talked it over with the brother in

the other room and t,0old him about what the resl+ would be

=— thut she had Tetanus
a Tetanic cvulsion and we went into the

then, and before he stepped in t he

other room she had
& to the b rother a f av minutes srd

ed to the Co yom

other room and wao talke

We told him the case would have o0 be remrt

ners office or Police Headquart ers . When we came back she

cried for wvater; she couldn't open her mouth. She 101d me
could

in the moriving she

couldn't take her medicine —- s he

not get her mouth open. She cried for us to do something

ard she put up her hands and sh e hsd arother convulsi on,

convulsion fully stopped and Dr.

Ve ot out before that
‘oroners Of -

Phillips and I went out and reported it 1,0 the ¢

fice and we reported it, to the 126th Street sta tion house -

e rted it to Captain Westervelt and I retumed heme and
Dr. Phillips went his way. ’

Q What {ime wasg that ? A. About twe lve o 'c lock, I

fuess. 4
Q Did you go back to the house af ter that?

A, After

that, yes, I did, when I was called back.




Q But not t he same da y? A, No, sir.

Q What directions did you leave there before yeou left the
house, you 1eft some directions there ut the house?

A, I told them when they asked for help ard relief I said,
you will get some h elp here in a very short fjme, that is
'-.’Jhuv.'l; I told him when I lef+t them.

Q You then considered the case as a fatal on e?

Yes, sir.
You were Present at the autopsy ? A. Yes .

Q You have heard the t es timony of Dr. Donlin?

A, Yes, sir.

-Q You knows any thing differernt than n that which he has tes—

tified to - din other words you cerr ocborate hi s testimony wih

reference io ihe aubopsy? A. I faund everyt hing as Dr.
Donlin has told % he Jury here; there was a clot of bloed
there and a scar of the wound, I found those and I formed my
¢nclusion at that time that, she died of apoplexy or by
Ti(‘tanus brought on by %he injury «nd 1 left it to the medi-
cal profession 1o decide whether this Tetarus ruptured this
blocd vessel or not.

By Mr. Lynn:-
Q The docf,or has testified that some testimony was to
be given about the cmvulsions ardif that was a fact that
other conclisions could be drawn -- your oorcluszor as to
the cause of death knowing about these c'or'vu1310r=s - what
is 1'L‘? A, I testified that she head conwvulsions in the

first place shé had carvulsions and at the same time




a deseased artery, a disorgarmized artery, it is possible
that in convulsions that artery wounld rupture, and iflit
did +here would be a clot mmd there weuld be pressure here
produced on the brain ard death would follow.

Q Meningitis would preduce symptoms of locl-jaw?

A. Well, possibly it would, but I think lockjaw was pro-
ducad by the separa ting wound; I thirnk Tetanné was pro—
duced by that; that separating wound orn the back of the
head - '

By Mr. Grant:i-

Q You say that the defendant first came o vyou o come
und see his wife? Al Yes, sir.

Q He came to you as a doctor to wo and athend her pro=
fessionaully? A. Yes, sir.

Q At ithe time he came did he seem asnxious that you shonld
zo? A. He asked me if I would go soon and I told him I
would if that can be canstrued as anxious 1 would say yes-.
Q He askea vou to go soon? A. - ‘Yes, sir; he asked me
~to o soone. —

é When you first saw her didn't you see the wound?

A. I did not find the womnd the first time, no, sire.

Q You did not make a careful examination at the tﬁne?

A, I was careful as far as I went; but I didn't feel of
that portion of the head.

Q Was thut = evioﬁs Wourdé- A. When I saw it, =nR,
:xxx, it was So%%uw#m&%ﬁ, ” |
Q Was it a deep wound or only a flesh WOUDd9 A. It was

inot‘through to the scalp.
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Q Only a flesh wound‘? A. That is all.

Q Jo fracture of the skull"é A. Ho, sir.

6, You are really in doubt as to whether the cause of
death was spoplexy or lockjaw, are you no‘b‘é A_. Well,
there is a chain of cdircumstances there. )

0 Answer my question? A. No, Tetanus was the cause
of dea'th,' it produced the 'apople:»:y.

Q Apoplexy was the cause of death‘.; A.  Yes, sir; but
it was produced by Teétamse. |

é Is it not a fact that apoplexy was the cause of dea'('h‘.;
A, There was a suf ficient clot 'of bloed there to produce
death.

Q | Didn't you say in answer to a question of the District
Attorney, it was possible that such and such state of af-
fairs existed -- I did not exactly catch that -- I would
like Mr. Coroner =-- it was from the doctors answer —--

Q Is it possible ithat meningitis would produce symptans

of lockjaw -- is it possible that it would? A. Yes, sir;

it is possible that it would.

Q Did you see any portion of the spinal cord at the autop-

sy? A. A little of it.
.‘ You heaxd Dr. Donlin testify as to that? A. Yes «
And tho se portions were entirely normal‘." A. Yes -
How would that be assuming that she had died of lo ck-

jaw —— what resul't would that have on the spinal cord?

S




A If might have some reSVit, and it might.héve no result.
Q . Will youv.givé us in your own wajr the def inition of lock
jaw‘é A. The.def inition of lock-j aw?

Q Yes? A.. There are. different views in reg,ard to -
that. My def inition of i+ in thismo?is a Imost always
due to traumatism, I hold tha+t in +this countyry it is ‘b};é re-—
sult s lmost of‘some accident injsbme po rtion of .the body'.

é Is not the definition of leck-jaw that it is partial or
canplete spasmodic camtraction of the muscles‘? Al Tha t
is lock-jaw. -

Cj And that is more or less proiuced, is it not?

Al Yes, sir, it canes and ZOES «

Q KRow, what is that due +o0? A, Well, blood poisonings

erhaps.

Not due to the exbitalivie of the spinal cord?

D

Q

A, It may be due to exevlicloom - an injury.received.
0

Does it not have that result usually on the spinal
cord ? A. I carmmot say that it does; I carmot say

that you can find a change in the post mortem to discover
: (

a change in the spinal cord.

——mme e me— s 000




DR. CH ARLES E. PHILLIPS, duly sworn:

By the Coroner:-

Q Are yvou g bracticing physic ian in good Standing?

AV. Yes.

Where is your office?

Q
Al No. 82 Eas+t I21st Street.
Q

Were you ce 1l ed in by Dr. Snaggy +to visit Mrs. Mary

Smith at No. 6 West 125th Stree t? A. Yes.

A. The 9th, yes, sir.

Q "On a Friday?
As soon as 1 remrted this

Q State it +to the Jury? A.

case I came home sand gave -- made out a Statanent, and if

you will let me read that -

0] That is P roper? Al On Friday, Jamary 9th, about

to tvidye o'clock I wvas called by Dr.
I found her suffering fram

qua rt er Sragr o0 see

Mrs. Smith of 1368+th Street;

loclk-jaw; I inqured as to the history ef the lock-jayv, a

man who said he was her brother said that she had b
on Jamiary 2nd, by her

een

choked and ciubb ed by her hy sband,

husband, - on the eve - thut porvion of it I am not pos-—

J understood him to say +the night previous

itive about.
The reason was because she

Or night after New Years eve.

had gane to a saloon near by where her husband was to get

money to buy food.

Q That is what he said in her Presence? A, Yes; ‘she

" found him in canpany with a woman.
Obj ected to by Mr. Grams.

The Coroner: If this statement l‘)y her brother was m ade




admit it.
Q Yow, Doctor, those remarks were made by Mrs. Smith's

brother, in her presence? A. Yes -

Q In vour presence? A Yes .
R;

0 And Dr. Snagg's presence? A. Yes, and a lady who I

understood was her sister.

Q And as far as you know Mrs. Smith was rational at the

time? A. She certainly was.

Q Did she say arything or confirm or corroborate the re-

marks of her brother? A, She did to a ceriain extent;

there were certain questions she corroborated-.

Q Just tell us what he asked her —-- did she say whether

she had been assaulted or beaten? A. 1 asked her if she

was erell previous to the assault, and she said yes.

Q And as 1o the assault? A. I asked her if her hu sband

clubbed her, she at firs+t refused 1t,0 ansver and under

close questioning she admitted he had. And that she had

suffered fearfully fron pain since the c lubbing and she

placed her_hand onn the back of her head.

Q Did she say where it took place? A. 1 asked her.

Q Thst simply was made by the brether? Al And then I

took hold of her and asked her questionse.

Q You asked her whether h erhu sband ¢ lubbed h er?

A. Yes, sir.

0 And on being closely qu estioned she admitted that her

husband clubbed her? A. Yes, sir.

Q Did you ask her ary other question s? A. Well, -- iore
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Q You asked her where she haod been hit? Al She placed

her hand on the back of her head and said she suffered fear
ful pain since. .
The Coroner: That is sufficient for the Juiwy excepi the
med ical tes tdmony'. »
Mr. Grant objects to the testimony
as givén by this witnesse.
Witness continuing: I foundher pupils widely dilated and
her teeth clenched tightly and the bloody froth cozing from
her lips; I alsc found within a few minutes she had-a
Tetanic éonvul:ﬁon; I also saw her have one other Tetanic
convulsion before 1 left; she askednme for water; 1 o
~deavored to pry open her teeth, but found 1 could‘no“o, then
I told her brother that it was too late. The brother
asked me what I was going te do end 1 told him that I
should report it te the police and that they would un-
(Eloubtedly senéi an ambulance and tnke her to a hospital.
He asked me how long 1 thought she would live; I answe.red
not longer/tnan twe lve hours, and she may die at arny tine.
I then left the house in campany with Dr. Snagg and reportd
the case to Captain West ervelt.
Q Were you present abt the autosy? A. I may state in
add ition to that I foumd a cut on top of her head, a separa+
ing wound.
Q Describe that‘..? © A It was fron examination, it
’;was matted and filled in with hair, it looked as ifri"c. had

been a ragged cut and it was filled in with hair and sep~
M\iai'ated; I saw it was a Co_rcners case and immedijately repor—

|
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ted it as soon as possible.
Q Were vou at the autopsy? A Ho, sir; 1 was not.
By Mr. Lynni-
Q Were you present at any time when she was in carvul-
sions‘é A. Yes, sir. .
0 Were they of a mild or vielent character? " A. Violent
characte.r.. | —

How many canvul sions did she go into in your prese rce?

Q
A. ?I only saw two.
Q

Irn a short space of time‘;’ Al I was in the house
longer than eight or ten minutes.
Q And during those eipht or ten minutes she had two c an—
vulsion s? A, Yes , sir.

d Lasting how long, each? Al The first I should judge
lasted in the neighborhood of three minutes, and 1 l.eft her
in the sectnd one; I dam't know how long it lasted..

d They were caused by wha;b cause? A. Irn my opinion. the
were produced by the lock-jaw and the lock-jaw was produced
by the lacerated wound on top of her head‘.
Q If she had died of apoplexy would apoplexy be produced
by those violent canvulsions‘.-" A. They could.
é The pfirna:m cause then assuming what you say to be cor-
vect would be the wounds on top or on the back of the head‘:’
: -A. Yes, sir. ’
v By Mr. Grant:i-

. Q That is your best opinion?  A. Yes, sir.




Q . But all these symptais f hat . you have stated could have
been caused from other causes besides that wound on the back

of the head? A. They could have been caused by lock- _

Jjaw .

0 You mean to say the lock-jaw could not have been caused
by arylhing else? ‘

A. Always, when we see usually lock-jaw e lcok for a
wound-.

n

Was it a serious wound on the head? A. Irasmuch as

it didn't have arny atbention - it was filled with septic

ms tter of some sort, 1 considered it a dangerous vound.

Q Did you hear Dr. Donlin testify to that? A. I simply

say what I found; that T considered it & darigirnus vrounde.
Q Would that make thé_, size of the wound ardj/g’pn earance

of itﬁmier alive or dead‘:? A. Wo, 'sir; mnot a
particle. A

Q If a persar dies of lockjaw does it not affect the spin-
al cord‘i’ A. It may or it may not.

Q You say it as likely one way as t he o*bher‘:’ A. Yes ,
it dis as likely /one way as the other.

Q You did not see pertions of the ~ :inal coxrd fha‘b were
ex“brac“bed‘:’ A. Ho, sir.

+he Coroner -

Q Are the words Tetarus and lock-jaw synoromous terms?

A. In this case, they are.

Q Can a person have Tetarus or Tedanic spasms vrithout haw-
ing lock-jaw? A. They may have Tetarms or & mild form

of Tetarus without lock-jaw called Tetani.




Q Is Tetanus or Tetanic spasms or convulsions or .lock—jaw
a symhton or a d.ismasn‘;' Al It is a symptan of a disease-.
d If a disease where would you find the pathological
fchange‘.; : A. If you f oﬁnd any at all, you ould fmd it
in the spinal cord, but, you @xe just as likely not to find
it as to find it accordiny to the best pathologists.
Q Would meningitis ever procduce kmxwx tetar.c spasms‘é
A, It might.
Q Did she have memningitis? A, She didn't have any when
I saw her.

By Mr. Grarmt:i-
(é Oﬁ which side of the base of the head was the wound
that you'saw‘? A. I couldn't tell you thate.
Q You carnot tell on which side of the hmd‘.; A. No,
sir; I discovered it was that sort of a ‘wound -

Q Can you tell us what generally causes z clod of blood

to rest on the brain? A. A rupture.

A ruptvre‘.; A, Of sane artery.

Is it not g/enerally onn the same side of the rupture?
Not necessarily.

What is the name of the brother of Mrse. Smith‘?
I don't kmowe.




DR. HUGO LEIBINGER, culy sworn:

By the Coroner:

Q You are .a practicing physician in th:L s city? A, Yes .

And in good standing? A. Yes. - ]
Where is your office? A. 1055 Lex ingrton Avermue.

Did you attend the aULopsy on the body of Mrs. Smith on

lOth‘? A, Yes, sir.
In the presence of Dr. Donlin? A, Yes, sir.

In your presence and in the preserce of Dr. Srigm g ?

Yes.

You have heard the tes timony of Dr. Donlin?

Yes, sir.
Have you arything to ddd‘? A. I-say-:%; same &s Dr.

Donlin -

Q T~ other words you corroborate his result that he ar-

rives a’b‘? A. Yes .
Q As o the autopsy? A. Yes.

Q - You never saw this woman alive, did vou? = A. No, sir.

By Mr. Grant:-
d From v aur exami\nation at Lhaﬁ time could you trace any
comection hetweenr the wound that you foummd on the deceaseds
head ard fa,_poplexy‘.;‘ A.. No, I camot find amy connection
at all.
Q In your opinion what was ‘bhe cause of this woman's
death‘? - A, I think the cause of death was apoplexy.

Q . And that apoplexy had no connection with the wound"

Al No, sir.




the Coroner:-

Q. That opinion is only formed on the resul+ arrived atat

the autopsy? A. I only was presernt at the auuopsy,

I saw the ruptured vessel on the base of the brain on

a \;ery
impo rtarnt pl ace . ~

By Mr. Grant :-

Q In your opinion what caused that? A, The rupture of

the vessel?
Q Yes? A, 1 don't kocw,

I only sav “he rupture.
By Mr. Lym:-

If it is a fact that as has been testif ied to that she
haditwo violent convulsions caused bV 10(‘}’—38.“] it would

/- fTIJ‘ o
lead you to0 think 53:%*50 the cause of dxx;th of the clod of

blood on the bra:m? A. ,

I believe that Letar‘us may be
/~

N ‘,—Y‘*‘
Prodr 4 bs»:l.w;eMr the meningitis ard +he ‘vound —_
Q You were merely there as a spectator? A,

By Mr. Grant:-

Yes.

C You went there professionally? A, Yes, sir.

EDWARD B. HAGAN, recalled:
By the Coroner:-

Q Where do you live? A. 303 Fast 111th Stree t.

Q What is your occupation? A. Bricklayer.

Q Are you a married man? A, Ho, sir.
Q@ What is your age? - A.

Twerty-five.




Q Are y oy the b rother of Mrs. Smith?
Q "She is Yyour sister? A, Yes .
0 How o014 was g}

Q

1e? A, 338 vears of age.
Do you ko ow anyt,

ceival a¢ the
A.

hing as to an;

hands oy your brot

her-jn-j aw ,
On the mo rring

or office_t-'_Smith?
last Friday, the ninth,
ppad in+

of Januar,_v,
while loo-king- for work T WAL Sto O my sister's house;
when I 20t ¢ e was g young g;ir} there miy
Course she saig

I didn'¢ kno:

here thep tdingr the
baby ang of come inside,
bef ore theat;
and her mouth was h

Mary 4is very sick; -
v it I went into t he bed roem
alf shut so,

she srig Ed, please *un an
g€t the doctor; 7 o dovn and got pp. Snager;:  he said I

will be right up after Yyou. what do Yy ou

He sg id ,
the matier

think 4 g
Wwith hep.

he came there he saig s
a s

he's goty
Ore throat, he saig,

I saiq:

Q

I Said, d4id you look-.g her head ,
‘e said no.
Who wasg Present when he exarrin

ed her, Dp. Phillips?

Vs my sister and I ar the doe-
the only bPersons §in t he

he saig it is g ver

A." o, Sir; +this youryr lag
tor were ide of +the baby;
Y bad case, T

tation ang he wait gyg

half vith Dy,
Q

will have to call 4in carsul]
back 4in

Y armd cane
Phijl lips.

Were You ther

about an hour and g

e amain? A, > Sir, ang during +he
“time that the doctor vert ayay first I

wa
> and she said ,

8 talking to my
Sister "Ed, hold me I walj fall over;"




convulsions; 1 had to kep clapping her hands, and keep at
it and then she would be all right for half an hour amd

swoon off again. i

Q You mme® heard the statement of Dr. Snagg?‘ A. Yes :,s'ix'.

Q Who testified to the remark that vour sister had been i=n

Jured or ¢ iubbed? A. Yes, sir.

d That remark was that the result of a conversation had
with your sister‘é A, Ho, sir.

Q How did you come to make thaﬁ remrk‘.; A. Beca use

my sister told my mother.

Q You made that remark in the absence of Dr. Snagg and Dr.

Phillips? A. YHs, sir.

Q What did she say to tha’b‘? A. She said, yes.

Q In *oh:e absernce of the'doctors‘é A. Yes .

0 Did she at once say yes? A, No, sir; at first no,

I said, "Mary, shield him no more, tell the doctors right
out, -~ you are so near the end," ard of course she said,
"Yes, it dis so;;" ard aftér that they <ot a couple of more
questions like that out of her. I said, "Mary, where did
he hit you with the club‘.;'; And she pointed up to the back
of her head and at that time the teeth were clenched snd she
couldn't open them and‘Dr. Phillips called me. into one of
the bed rooms and he said it is a badcase. I said what are
you going to do about it‘.'?" He said, "I will have to re=-
port it to the police. I asked him how long will she live;
he said about twelve hours. I wert down to the house to '

let my folks know about it and then I went down to my




sisters in 114th Street ard I cans up a;zain to the house and

she was dead; she died in the meaitime.

Q What time did you get back to the house ? A. ,Abou‘b

half past eleven —- botween half past sleven and half past

twelve.

Q Did she die about half past twe lve? A. " She died
about one o'clock,. I understand; I am no+t pesitive as to
that. | |

Q I suppose you were excited at {the +ime?

A. I was excited, yes.

Q bid wvou eﬁertalk with Smith? A. Yes.

Q I mean the defendant? A, Yes.

0 Concernin,; your sisber? A. Yes .

Q Y Lat was said,K between you and him‘é A. I said —~—

I heaxd that he had Beaten her one time bef ore this, I said
"Billy, you ought not do that, let it g0 the best way you
can, a big brute like you, it is a shume to c¢lub a poor wo-—

man like that.® He said that is not hing. All the hx=

blazk eyes she ever carried it was somet hing outrageous.

Q Did you say that? A, Yes, I did, but I didn't see

him give it to0 her..
Q She was se ldom without black eyes? A. Very seldan.

Q How long had they been married? A. About eleven yeas

or over.
Q "How o0ld is that boy — that eldest boy? A. As far as

I can understand between 8 and 9 Years old.

By Mr. Grart:-
Q Did you tell arybody bef ore you went on the stand that
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you had that conversation with the deferanmnt before‘.;
A. What do you mean‘.; -
Q Have you told anybody bef ore vou went into that ch'air‘.;
A. Mo, sir; I did not.
d How was it you did not mention tkt to anyb__pdy if it
was a fact that you hawve had it.‘.;’ Ab. Why wouldn't I‘.;’
Q Yes, why didn't you.
Q (repeated) A. I thought it would be just =s good
' minding my business.
Q Didn't vou think it was any of yo{lr business when you
had heard that your sister was being clubbed by the defer—
dant -- was it not your business te mention it to snybod y’:;’
A. ‘ B’ut she was shie ldiﬁg him, she was afraid he would be
bwken off the police.
But you did not., did you? A. Mo, sir.
When did that take plac e‘.; A. About two months aso,
months and a half.
Where? A. On Second Avenue ard 116th Stree t.
116th Street amd Second Avenue? A. Yes, sir.
How did vou heppen to see him? A. I went there to
him. N
What was the object in going tere to see himi;
A. Because his wife was going to be put out for non-pay-
ment of ren'b-. |
d Where were ’ohey' living then? A, 343 EBast 113th S'b..,
I think it is 343.°
Q In what part of the street was it‘.; A, Between lst

i;and Second Avenue, nearer firste

(4'75




0 Al;‘.(.l you say at that time your object in :roing to see

him was 1lhat they were getting put out for not paying the
ren‘b‘.; A. Yes, sir. .

Q Who was the landlord‘.; A. As far as I can understand
the name is Weber.’

d State arny other pertion of -the c arversation you had with
him a1t that time? Al I went up to him and says,'l "It is |
a shame, you ought to go dowr to the house and o down after
you get off , after eisht o'clock; he said he would. I
said, you might as well move as to get your 1’3hings on the
sidewa lkk, bubt he didn't cane dovn.

Q What else did you say‘? A. That is all.

That is all the conversation? A. Yes .

You know what you nre saying? A.. Yes «

You k:non perfec "ol‘y wl'x'at vou s id‘é A, Yes .

That is a1l the conversation you had at thet fime‘é

Yes, sire. |

If that was all the conversation you had how did you
hsppen to have the cmversation about the cluhbing‘.;
A, This sister of mine told my mother that Billy gave her

a severe beating, ard I asked 1little Johnnie .about it;

me mother Eiaxtrd related it to me about it and 1 asked
Johmnie if it was so.
d I ask you when you had the camversation -- when you had
~ the conversation with him in which you alleged there was som

thing said aboult clouling - when did you have that conversa-—

tion? A. Two or three nighﬂs after the alleged clubhing

she came downn to the housc.
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7 Didn't I ask vou a fev moments 220 and didn't you say it

was dovn at 116th Street and at the corner of Sec amd Avenue?

A. This wes long before —— it was two months ago that I-hd

this other conversation.

By the Coroner:-

. -

Q0 Which conversds ion? A. Speakin: to him on 116th

Street wrner.

By Mr. Grant:-

d Did 1 ask you of any single canversation except the con-
vou s you had in “nswer to iLhe District At—
is not that

versation that

torney when you said something about clout:mg
the only conversation —-

By the Coroner:-—
d When did you have the first conversa tion?"
A, Two mon ths a0 «
Q In reference 10 '.vhat‘.; AI. In reference to him being
put out;

By Mr. Grant:-
Q When did you have the carversation about the alleged

clout ing? A. Two rights after the Hew Yesrs eve,
In my own house No. 303 East 111h

Q Where was that? Al
Street; his wife came dowr' and told my mother ard T :mau:.r—

ed :unto 1'&.
Q Where did you mee+ him then? A.. I had the conversa-

“tion with Mrs. Smith.

By .the Coroner:-
;;'Q Did you ever have any conversation with the defendamt

here, sitting right here, Mr. Smith, with reference to any




clubbing or alleged clouting; did you or did you not, with

" him direct? A, With him, direct, no.

MARY STEWART, duly sworn, testified

By the Coxoner:
Q Where do you live? A. 1888 Third Avenue, between
109th end 110th Stroeets. o
Q Is your husband living‘.';’ A. Yes.
Q Have vou a family‘i’ A. Ho, sir.
0 Are you acquainted with the defendm + Off icer Smith‘é
A, Yes, sir. |
Q " w long have you known him? A, Abou.t a year and
a half.
Q Do you krnow his family? A. Ho, sir.
Q Ever been to his house? A, Ho, sir.
Q Were you present on the 31st of December‘é

Last month? = A. Yes .

At the saloon at 185th Street and Fifth Avenu e?

- With of fieer Smith? A. Yes .

And Mr. Gillespie? A. Yes.

Q
Q
Al Yes, sir.
Q
- Q

. Q You heard the testimony of Mr. Gillespie in which he
says you came there together and had several rounds of

dr inks? A. Yes .




Whiskey I believe? A. Yes .

o O

About half past nine o'clock? A. Yes, sir.
You recollect a lady cal ling there? A, Yes, sire.
Tell us what tock place? A. A lady came in ard as ked

the officer -~ was the officer there and a gentleman ——

O O,

bar-tender, said no, he was there but he has gone.
Did she say who? A. She said the officer.
She insisted he was there? A. Yes .

And the bartender insisted he was not?

> O O O,

Yes , she wnt out and he wernt out after her.

She wert out and he wert out after her?  A. Yes.

O O,

Did he say amnwthing to you and Giilespie before he went

o}

o

c*
N

: Al Ho, sir, and he came back and he said he gave
her fits.

Cj Tn what manner‘.; A. Mo, sir.

d Did he say anything about slapping her in the face or in
the jew? A. ~I didn't hear him.

Q Will you swear he did not say sof;’ A. I didn't hear
him.

Simply said he gave her fi'bs‘.; A. ‘Yes..
How lofrv was he out? A. 10 or 15 minutes.

>

. We drank what we had in the glasse.

Q
Q
Q While he was out did you and Gillespie take a drink?
A
Q

When he ceme buck who ordered the drinks‘.; A.
.couldn't tell, I think it was Mr. Smith.
.Q When he cane back did he appear to be cool or exci'bed?;
‘A, Cool.
Q Was l;e excited when he sadid he gave he_rfi'bs‘é
i

§

S I
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A. o, sir;

Q’ After he came back when he said about giving her fi'bs‘.;
A, I couldn't say; I asked him was that your wife, he
said yes, I think I said, what is the matter, he said, I
gaeve her fits for coming aromd o my post to see me.

(j Comingy around to see him?  A. "Hunt:ing him up in &
saloon...

é Did Gillespie make any mmark’? A. Ho, sire.

Q Said nothing at all‘.-7 A. Mo, sir.

Q How many orinks had you been taking before this woman
callaed at the saloon‘." . Al I dom't know; about & cauple,
I guess.

Q It might have been more? Al It might be more or it

might be less.

Q Can you recollect the quantity of whiskey you fcok each

tme" Al Ho, sir.

Q Pretty fair quantities I suppose? Al Mo, sir, not
ver much.. »

Q Mrs. Stewart, I wish wvou would try and po ssibly refresh
your memory and tell us exactly what took pl ace‘.;

A.  That is all that took place; Mr. Gillespie was in
there —-— | .

Q What time was that? A. Between half past ten and 11
o'cloc k.

d Did you ever see Smith and his wife toge’bher‘.”

A. No, sir.

: Q Did Mrs. Smith ever call at your house‘-" A. No, sir.

Q © Or you at her house? A. No, sir.
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You never met her? A, No, sir.

Never saw her in your life? A No, sir.

You knew Smith was married‘.‘" A. Yes .

And had a family? . A. Yes, sir.

How maxyy children were you told he h ad‘é A, Five, I
uriderstand. | ‘
Q And that ié all that took place that evening, as far as
you can recoll ect‘? A. That is all I know aboi1t it.

By Mr. Lynn:-

Q Did you go there to see Mr. Smith? A. lio, I was talk
ing a wa Jk'.

Q You had met him before? A, Yes, sir.

Q_ You had been in that saloorr there bef ore? A. Yes .
Q

You came t.heré alone to see him‘? A. No, sir, nob
exactly, I came there 1.0 wish him a hapy Rev Vear.
Q In the saloon‘.; A. | I met him on the A enue.
Q -This was cantinued in the saloon? A, Yes.
0 Was your husband with ,Vou‘é Al No, sir.
Q You and Mr. Smith have been acquianted f or ahou+t a year
.and a halff;’ A. Yes, sir.
Q You have met him originally on po s‘b‘é A. Yes , occas -~
ionélly. . |
Therela tions were friendly‘.; A. Yes, sir.
Q-uite‘ friendly‘.; A. TWot quite friendly-.
80 much so that you drank t’ogether‘.; . A. Yes.
And chatted -bogether‘-; A. Yes.
; Gillespie you had known bef ore that‘-;
him with Mr. Smith.
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(i Mr. Smith introduced him to _\,rou_‘é A. Yes .

Q Had you an apmnointment that day  with Mr. Smith'.-"
Al No, sir.

Q You just ran out? A. Yes, I tock & walk up the
Avenue .

Q About how many blocks did vou walk? Al I was at - .
-— I was up to Wilson's -—- _ ,

A. I livc between 109th snd 110th

Q Where do you 1live?

Streets.

Q And vou wert to the saloon on Fifth Avanue - you vwa lked
the 25 blocks up A. I went up the Avaiue.

Q When you wemnt in there that day yvou heard this woman's
voice? A. Yes , sir. '

(j “Just try and think, did you look over a+ the time when
you heard +his remark‘é A. No, I didn't notice == no, I
don't think I did.

Q You snew he was the officer, didn't you? A, Why,
certainly.

Q How long did you stay there after the remark was made?;
A. About twenty minutes or half an hour, I couldn't exac
ly tell you.

Q Fifteen or twenty minutes after he made the remark‘.;

A. No, he went right out and ¢ane back again.

Q  And vou and Mr. Gillespiet  A. We stayed there m til
he came badk .

Q Wherj. he came back you have testified that he said some-

| }f-thing te you about his wife? A. He said he gave her fits.

'Q Do you remember what Gillespie said? A. No, sir.
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You didn't notice it‘é A, No, sir.

It was & round table? A. Yes.

The certre of a small room‘.; A. Yes .

You were each sitiing on chairs,‘é A. Yes'.
He said he had given her fits‘f A. Yes .

(j You askedhim if that was his wife? A. Yes; I said

whoat is the mabter; he said, "I guve her fitsJ'

| Q Do you know whether Gillespie said anythihg abou+t vheth-
er the law did no 4 canpel a man to live with her‘.; A. Yes,
I remember that.
d You remember that now? A. Yes.
Q What did Smith say? A. He said nothing.
0 How long did you rems in in there after she came in‘?
A, About fif teen minutes.
Q Tell us something what was said betweenyou‘.;
A, IIo thing particular; Joking about New Years and so,
forth -—— T cwuldn't tell YV Olla
Q You do not recall any thing thut was said after ﬂmt‘é_
Al We were talking about different other things.
Q You did not say f,o him you were sorry he was mz—zrried‘?
A-.' Ko, sir; I knew he was married.
Q Nothing was said in particular for fifteen or twventy
minutes; the Jury will find out wh ether it was particular
or not;- I want to know what was said if possible.
A. I camnot say what was said; I couldn't tell y&z - we
" were talking about New Years.
By Mr. Grant:-
. d After the defendsnt had lef t the box and.g.;one out did
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you hear any disturbance or screams or any noise?  A. No,
siyr; not a bit.

Ci And when he returned his mamer was =»kIertxx c-ool?"

A. Yes-., just the same as when he lef t.

Q Cool? A, Yes.

JOHN SMITH, called by the Coroner was interrorated
as follews:- .
By the Coroner:-
(é This lady that is dead was _\.rOLii- mother‘? A Yes'.
Q This gentleman here is your father? Al Yes .

How many children are vou? Al Five.

_Are vou the eldest? A. Ho, sir; .the big sister.

Q

O -

Q How o0ld is she? A. Ten years.
0

You are the next oldes t‘é A, Yes.
d .You /woo(&oﬁr oirngg out one evening with yair mother within
ocne or two weeks ago‘ﬁ;’ A. Yes.
Q Do vou know when that wa s? Was it the day before New
Years‘.; A, Hew Years night.
Q The night be'o re llew Years or afber? A. It was ladies
New Yea rs'.
Q- That is the secand of Jénuaxy‘:" A'.
Q You think it was 't,hen‘é A. -Yes .
Cj .Where did you go with your mo ther‘.} A, Down 135th

Street .
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What Averme? A. Fifth Avenue.

What time was that? A. After supper-

. Yes, sir.

Q
Q
Q Did vour moiher tell you where she was ,;oin o?
A
Q

What did she say? A. She wanted to go down to meet
Papa 10 gebt some money off him‘.
Q For thjtb‘é Al For meat and everything.
She asked you o go 2’.1101’".&1;‘;? A. Yes .
You wenrt with her‘.; Al Yes.
Where did she meet him? A. . 135th Street corner.
Out on the street? A. No, in fhe liguor store.
How do you know? A, Because Mama caught him in the
because he was i_h the hallway with =2 1;j/omaﬁ.
you see t-hem‘:’ A. I didn't see the woman-.
heard yvour Mam call him? A,
he come out? A. Yes, sir.
Right ax'my‘;? A. Yes, six.
He cme right out? A. Yes , sir.
Then yvou were starding on the sidewa lk? A. Yes, sir.

In front of the saloon? A. No, up at the corner.

O, . O O H O©& O O, O

NHear the saloon? A. Yes.

Then vou saw your father come out, did you‘.'? A. Yes.

Q Now, be very ‘careful - what yvou tell me now. Now, what
did he say when he came out‘é " A He came out and mama
said she warted some money wied he didn't give 'her any ard
he'punched her in the nose and in the eye.

Q_ Do you know “bAha“b ~-- do. you know that you rsei f‘.;‘ A. Yes.
Q Or did somebody else tell you thél‘bf:; A. I seen it my-
self. .




Q Was it dark? A. Yes.
Q0 How did you see it? A. I seen him cane ou+t and hit
© my mother.

Q You saw him - you are positive of that? A. Yes, sir.

Q Hit your mother in the face an: in +he nose? A. Yes,

sir. '
0 Didn't he say arything bef ore he hit hor‘é A. Mama,
said she would go down to the station house wth him.

Q She said she would go dovn to the sts tion house with him?

A, Mema said she would (30 Gown to the statbion house with

raya.
And ther she walked down‘.; A. . Yes, sir.
And he ‘.;valked with her? A. Yes.
And up to 132nd Street and Fifth Avenue‘? A. Yes ,si r.

What huppened there® A, Papa pulled out his night—

s vick and hit Mama over the head with it’.‘
Did he say any thing Pef ore he did that - did they have
words‘.; (No answer..) -
Did he quezrrel with her bef ore? A'. T don't knowe.

‘Did you see him pull out his stick? A. I seen him

> hit mam.

Q  With his stick? A. Yes.

Q You saw thut? Al Yes .
What did mana do? A. When he hit her she went
Did she scream or did‘she holl er‘.; A. . No, sir.
Did your mama go a@ray? A. Yes, sdir. |
And you v‘rent. home viith her‘;’ A. Yes, sir.-

Did yair fathe r g0 away? A. He stayed at the co m"’er-
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Q He remained at the corner‘é A. Yes .
Q Are you sure that yvou saw your paps take his stick and
hit your mama‘.$ A. Yes, sir..

Surxe of tha‘b‘? Al Yes, sir.

Did you ever state that to mnybody.else? Al Yes , sivw

Whom did - you tell it to? Ad To +two detectives.

Did you tell your uncle? A. Yes, sir.
Or your =saunt? A.  Yes.

You 4id? A. Yes, =ir.

Q

Q

Q

Q You told them that, did }.-;011‘:;’ A. Yes .
Q

Q

Q

Q

Did arnybody ever tell you to state that? A. My amnt
told me to tell him. )
Did you +tell her‘.;' A. She asked me.

She asked you and then you *told her? A. Yes , sir.

Y iy mama went home 'bhen? A, Yes. )

Could she walk we 11‘? A. Yes .

And when she came hone did she lie down‘é A. She put

ra g around her head.

And lie down? A. Yes.

Wher: your mama pu+t the rag around her head when she got
home was there anyone there but youé; A. My 1ittle sister
ard the baby.

.’ Q Anybody except your little brother and sister?
A.. No, sir.
Q None of the aunts or uncles'.; A. No, sir; only my

little sister.
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Q At the time that You say ycur papa struck your mams over

the head with the night stick which side of Y ur mama were

you walking on, on +he same side as your bapa - was your

bPapa walking on the same side Tl“th mama as you \vere"

A, He was walking on that side and I was on this,
Q Your mama was be treen yvou? A. Yes, sizr.

Q Did he say :;11'.{3}thing' Just before he t ook his night stlck"

A. No, sir; he didn't say ary thing at '111.

Q You dan't know what they were talking abou‘l; just before

you saw him take out the night stiéck -—— did you heayr it?

A. No, sir.

Q They were just wal king along on the sidewa e ?

A. Yes, sir.
0 And he pul 1ed out his night-stick without any thing be-

ngy said‘.; A, Yes, sir, and then he hit, her.

By the Coron er:—
Q Since that time or since your moth er died where have
you been livzing‘é A. With me grand-mother.

In 111th Street.

"A. YeS Y

0 Where does she live? A.

Q Are Vou still living there, are you?

By Mr. Grant.-—
Q Th erehws been a good deal of talk there > about your

bPapa and mama's troubles? A. No, sir.

By"bhe Coroner:-'- _ _
Q Have you spoken arything about these tr oubl es‘?
A. Only to the two detectives and gmndmother'.
d Did you say ary thing different +o khwk them than what

i you said to-day? . A. I told the same thing tha+t T told
i
' the detectives. :

(605 '




@ Did vou tell the detectives the sme thing that you

said here to-day? A, Yes, sir.

The Ccroner (to Mr. Grant) Do you desire to call vour

client?

Mr. Grant: Ho, sir I will ndt call my client.

The Coroner: Unless the Distric t Attorney or the counsel
for the prismer oxr the Jury desire 1o any of the

witnesses recalled I will clo se the +testimon

The Coroner: C—.elntl emer: of the Jury - The tes timony
given here this afternoon in thi.s case has'bepn
given tho roughly end it now becanes your auty fran
the evidence producel to say by your verdict or to
state therein the time, place =nd the mammer in which
this deceased csme to her dea“bh'. You have a right
to consider all the circumstances camected with tha
dea th and it becanes your duty to say whether any
persm ‘or Persars had arything to do with that
death; in other ;.vords whether that death was acci-
denjbai or fran natural causes or whether it was
c‘aused through criminal means or viol ence. The code
prov:ldes that 'the Coramers Jury should ascertain and

look into the cause of dea'th' it must be caused

(en)




either fran accidental, natural or cr:iminél céxuses,
or suicidal causes. It becones therefore your duty
after carefully weighing the evidence to say in the
first place, whether vou are satisfied fram t}le .
medd;ca;land other e\_ridehce whether this woman died
fran natuml'cag_lses or not. If you come to the

con clusion that death was cauvsed simply fron apop-

iexy smd yvou believe or feel justified in believing

&

that there was nothing else irrespective of the evi-

dence that caused that death of course your ver-—
dict would be simply +that dea:'bh was caused from ;:er-e
bral apoplexy; but, if on the other hand, you be-
ijieve that ‘bhzﬁt'apopléxy was moxe or less the re-
sult of injurieé sustained at the hands of arny pér-—
son or persons ——whether lock-jaw proiuced apoplexy
or any other caﬁée - ther it becomes your duty'to
say that this wonrn died from other than na‘bﬁral
causes and then you arrive at that satge of your de-
;Liber;baion where .y.ou must say or you ought to say
if you can, who is responsible for those injuries.
Thereforei if you camclude that this woman died fron
other than natural causes or if you please that she
._d:"_Lé',d_from ﬁ_he causes of spoplexy or other medical
‘r’éa_';s"éhs given here today during this investigation ,
1f j,fou ‘believe aside of that that any injury no
jvm;"t::{:;er""of what degree accelerated that death or has-

fi'vb'béf?-ied'dea‘bh, then it becomes your duty to say who

is '?espon sible for having ~has1:.'éned that. deathe.

. i».' (-62)
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i‘Iow, gentlenen, I do not think it necessary +to go
into any reviev 0f the testimony because I be
lieve you understand the case thoroughly; bubt I
simply want to tell you your duty as fafas the ver-
dict is cancerned. I take it for granted that you
gentl emen understend that the verdict must be Ifdsedi'
upon the evidené g, not upon ary fee ling upon the
matter, one wvay or the other. I+t must not make
any difference to you whether the prisoner or the
person accused here is a mdabsr of the police
force - that has nothing to do with the case;
you must try this prisonex: as ary ordinary indi-
vidual would cone before you and exarine the case
simply upon the facts nresented to vou and nothing
else. Now, since I have a right -to assune that
thal is the way vou must consider the surramding
circunstances I therefore again say to you that in
your verdict, if you are sastisfied that this woman

from natural causes,
did not die ,?\then she must have died fran something

additional ,:cqme if she died fran the result of crim-

inal violerce or if you believe that m1yt}1:ing was
dane to her which produced that no matter whether
it was two weeks or a month sgo, so far as that is
concerned , if she died fron the result of those in-—
Jjuries or had any camection with it at all then it
becanes your duty to state in your verdict who' if
anybody is responsible for those injuries. The

evidence I think is conplete emough for you to form




a verdict without much diffic tye I now 1leave

the case in your hards, and T desire,‘p;aztlemen, no

ma tber how late the hour is, yeu mus+t be Jusf» as c a-

2t your canclusion ad

scientious about tle arriving

delibertuions as if it was ten o'clock in‘the mo rr-

ing. You will now retire and consider the facts

in a verdict i accordarce with

carefully ond b rings

thane.
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I was told was ii:2y brother.

Q Hay bhrotiizy o 12 §ide wund Dr. Sm=;g on tie otihior?

A Yoo

e thhs Jovv o thhe condition o
= ot 2 wis o considoorsibly bont
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fix on thz=t sk112l zbout rositicn of tuzt wound

sk1ll to witnoess) A = about ners (indi-

locztion on tiat would be similewr

tite location woeuld beo dirsetion, just on

straziiat

| SROF-NE od

@

VIO T

ciniarzcter oOF tiie weund R

it want tihirecnoh to

wound ? A

Objsected to.
you saw z=s to the

Please describe Farticularly just

nzture of the wound 9 A I saw it was = suppurat-—

ing wound, one in which tlhierse was i d mattad the
2 xming any further

heair into the wound.

in reczyrad to the wound. sone discolorztion of Iieaye

fzee, =znd she weas at tirot time in oo szmi-~unconseions GG N—

R L b e e s e o o 1o )




dition; her features were discolored or flushed; the dark

colored biood seemed to be filled in, a2s if there hag been

an interference with her respirsztion or breathing, and

just as I hag finished my exzmination of her head, she

ha spasm of lockjaw; it was = po-
culiar grnasm. he beran with her arms, throwins themnm up,
and lezned bzek; and the spsmsw I should Judge lasted for
2lmest =2 momant .,

Mf. Grz=nt : I h=zd o i Dr. went on

thzt while one =iz

to what thet the ot.ier Phry=zicizns

tihe oti:ser room, o tii:t tiey couls

without reszrd to tire testiiiony of one

The Diztyrict Attorney consented ti:

Donnelly remwzin
s€e the wom=zn pe rore
the zmutoprsy. Dr. Sm:

Court Room.

Q Plesase describe tirat ‘win, thzt you saw Aalter you

hed exzmined tho wound Well, it besgen with & cop-

o tihe arms and 1el2 uprer extremities,

and hezad, =znd threw herselr £rzduslly bzek, nd
lastead perhzps tr.en straishtened out

thre conditicn ske was in when I #irst saw her, slighit-

|
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on of

of n

centorted, the

ner fazce, just t211 the jury what

2r rzce 9 A The muscles of tiie

ansles of the mouth were drawn,

Tyes were sunken. Shxe h=zd =z peculiarly funny ex-—

dirty expression.

ofr ne fsztures orf the

feztures orf loeckjaw.

technie:zl n=zme o7 lockjow 2

tiiat = cliarzcta

rized by partizl or

trazction of thz volunts ry muaseles, the smscless

Wiiot g th2 nae 9 A

And = convulsicn you

of lockj

convulsion & violant convul sion 3 A

condition of her jaws. A

wers tishtly set, =0 smieh so tat in znswerings my questions

she =nad to hiss out the

there was & bl ocody saliva

answers thiroushh her teeth, =ana

ranning down hner JjJew &nd some
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on Iner chin; 2zt that time =shie was begsing
b L) Ty

I object &nd I move to strike out

Obj 2ction overruled.

Plezse state to the jury just what she szid

Onjected to.’ Objection suszt

Di¢ she say snything else in relstion —— not

the injury but diad anytiting in relao
J >

feelinmfeg znythrings I
b

condition ¢

vou

wazter or 1rnot

Tell tite jury whst you

Ockkaet similzx to tlxis

teeth znd tried to pry the teeth opren, to

throu-n hrer teeth; I found it was impossibl

the fact t0 her then znd there.

her condition =t

aur
o

Wnzt, in your oprinion, ol

referencs to her uture life, to nner =bil

lonrer 2 A I haed no Aaoubt thiat time

four hours.

would die within

5 not in the lzszt of lockjaw

Was she or

certainly was in the last of lockjaw,

tion

ve you inforaztion

but

?

=zined.

thhe czuse of

T es
ae

to xr

= to her

o

Ly

der the

ret water

e, and stated

tine in

e oy
JpRcLl

t
ity to live
zhe

wiiat

? A
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And you knew rnothing that ma2dical seciernce could do at that

time to relieve hier or Sazve her life A Not =zt that

time, to relisve her or to szve

Dia ou s&e her subse usntly wiien she was
>

did not .

Aszumin~ thzt she diea sItexy you

what, in your opiniocn, ter deatnh

A Well, I don't know nat ; of courss zhe

die OFf two or thres differsnt things; sihe could

thhe interferencs of respiration.

Whaz se 2 prin=1 czuse ¢
And wound on ner
he=d.

Will you plezscz tell wound =g

tot produces lockjaw it could proeduce it

in differsant ways; one would be by the enterinsgs into the

of somme poisonous substance,

2ystem thiroush tiie .wound
Cy from meminsitis devel ocping: from the wound.
Menin~itis dsvelopins from tie wound

come rrom that or it could coine from

tem this septic Proison, this outside

Ifrom such 2 wound

The matter that comes

A

T ity

o

you szw it was in sueh =

e .




to believe that srom that lockjaw coulda be developred 9

A It aia.

RHow long zfter & wound is received by a person do the au-
horitie state that this disease ig developed ¢ A From

hr=e to Ffifteen days.

one orf the attendsnt conditions of the mind of

? A The mind is clezyp up to dezath.

*re the infzsllinle indicaticns of the

30 inform t! tiiat were

wWoman could not live ? A I =iqg.

Andt vou went iz;-rnedi::tely to whzt rloce

Precinect on 126th Streot.

For tihe purrposze or whiat 9 A Feportin~ it to tie Cap~
'er 2 Coronsy.

for the rurrose of gending

CROSS—EXAT\:{INATION Dy Mr. Grznt:

whnich you S22y you found at that time with

Q@ If this wound
septic matter in it, had be=an rroperly zttended to and

time you saw it, the pois-

Preoperly wzcshed out rrior to the

A It

on which you say ~ot in could not

would not have hLeen ne
to czuse lockjaw 2

And it would not have

A No, it wowlgd not.

You testified at the Coroner's inguest

e
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And youx opinions in resayd to +his case have not changed

=2t =11 in regard to the rzets of this case sinece then 2

A No, sir.

Dr. Smmas WaE with you when you went there the second time?

A TYes, zir; tre Ffirst time I went there.

And you understood that e nad been there toO attend the

patient bvefore that, didn't you ? A

Twice before °? A I don't

know how many e s I knew

se nad bazasn there.

Dr. Sm=~7 pointed out tne wound on tihe

nhend to yow, didn't

ne ¢ A He did not.
Are you sure
ozit I wont be positive

=hout thate.

Tyry and rsfresh your recollect ion about it ; aid he, or

daid he not ? A I couldn't szy; I know thmt my atten-=

+ion wzs drawn to it, wnd wnhether from :ay oOwn e xauninat ion

or from remark he mad : : 1 know 1 found

ite.

vou szw & wound on tha nezd just on the occipital

protu-—

berance A It w=s it was not tnere.

By the parietal bone ¢ Very near the junction of

the parietzal znd ocecipital.

About how fzr =2bove the occipital protuberance was it,
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Or below 2 A It was zbove, I should Presume an

oY an inch =znd a half.

Thast woul a brins it on top or

nearly on top of thie heazad.

In adadition to that wound how many other wounds did youw
find ¢ A I didn't find sny.

You did not 2 A No.

You are sure of thet 9 A As I remerber now, I did not
netice any,

I want y~u to rem2aber now as well

don't remember sewgins~ y othwers.

If you =2t the Corcner's ingueszt =z=tzted

another wound in addition, doss thzt re

youx recollecztion 2 A It does not reec=li

my recollection —— I miht and might not

thizt was the Prinecipzl wound.

Did you =t the Coroner's inquest, in answer to =a question
thzt w = put to you, after statings zbout the other wound,
did you say vl may state in addition to that I found a cut
on the top orf the head, a suppurztinsg wounawe A Th:-1t
the wound I refer to.

What was that in addition to 9 A I den't know;

refersg to the wound on top of the nhead.

Then when you szy in addition to another wound that

a5 B AR e e it kA d A ¢
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found a Suppurat ing wound on top of the head, you 4id not

mean that 9 A I meant the scoine wound.
You did not findg two wounds @2 A I did not, not that I

rememnber,
And the next question was "Describe thzt ." and you 70 on
and describe the other wound on top of thne head. Does
that reczll that there was .wore thzn one wound 9

I remember one wound ——

A

Was this question rut to you by iMr. Linn, these Assistant
District Attoxrney, and dig you make this answer at the
Coronsr's inquest : "By Mr. Linn: Q The prim=ary cazause
181, assuning what you say to be corresct, would be the
or on the haclk

wounds {in the rlur=l numbsr) on the topkof e r heag"?
A If it =0 stztes I agig 1ot understand i as wounds —-—
it w=as wvound; it woula bpe very easy to add zn "gw,
plural ; wzs that questicn put to

2 A Not understanding

top of the head 2

have descriised it.

ou whether you swore to it =t the Coroner’'s

rointins at tihwe same

ing on top of the hezd,

vas it or not on'top of tl:te heag 9 A It was

i e e R
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ri~ht where I described it.

Wzs it on top of the head 2 It was as I described it.

A B it s it

Will you aiaswer my guestion, ylcas It is just be-

ne.

twegzn -- zbout an ineh =nd & half o s tl occipital

protuberance; it wzs not s : 1S off the hezd.
s it on top or tnhe hrad
wazs not clasyr on top.
Wnan you state T E = ] iz srad o4 surpu-
r=t ing wound cn : s e you <idn't iacan tiizt it
I m=2znt just wihat I =s=id.

Corongr' : e wien yvou

anythaing g

hers in the evidsnecs will you =dmnit it ¢
A‘ IR 18V % zdnit it 4if it is in evidence.
I will N=3 - wnether you zre willing t0 szy as a
positive fact to this jury that t de=zth of the deceased
in thi case was causged by ra2zson of tiie wound or wounds —-

-

whatever it may be —-- on her heand, znd from notizing: elilsoe 2
A
Nothing else 2 FProm tin 3 followed from

that wound.

AN Y SN e e e s o i 38 S 8T TS
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Q O, there azre certzin formulas =nd changes that had to be

B it ot bbb b e

followed along znd irf every one of them connscted you will

Yy then that you think the de=zth of the deceased was
czused by that wound ¢ A The lockjsw vas czused by the
wound znd the lockjaw czused tue deztli.

meningitis tli.ere 9 A I can't s=zy; I know

tite zutopsy. She s evidanece of it

ther than lockjaw.

Did you thi deceasad anyvwlhiare
A

I felt of her pulse snd suw
siorn.
You went up to thsat héuse iizving in mind the o tirat
she had somz injuries in ner heed, and your atteni ion
directed to her head zlmozt entirely; isn't thzt the
wasz it or not ¢ A I ean't remember whet er it wae
not .
It is only three or four rmontl s =moo can't you remembear,

rarticulaerly = rerscon ct the point of death =znd

medical skill, - yvou say —-- that you cannot rsmember when
you went in to se¢ % patient in sucl: = case, whether or rot
your attent ion 23 direct=d to ner ne=d, whiere you undare

st ood sne had some wound 9 A I can't rememaber wiret ner

my =2ttention was cezalled to it wiien I went in the lhouse

e
I Y

or not,

Ak

Q I z2zk you whether your zattention was simply directed to

g




1er head 9 A
ed: for;

Are you

I think

15

That wirs one of the = mprtoms that I 1ook-—

my zttention was drawn to 4it .

to sweor thiat the deceassd nad

injuries on her body except on her Heaag ¢ A

know anyt hins~ =bout tirait g
Whien you su:y now tiizt you -re willing to swear +
the injuries on her he=d

thzt czused her d:ath, you ma:n tihot

stances,

12y deastly -

I zaw
And you =
could hav:

troubles.

You didn't look for any oti:er cuts 9 A No
Would it be Possible for

Part of her body to czuse lockjzw 2 A

would czuse it.

Are you willins to
Jaw to follow from
A It would rollow

of her body.

I didn't see them.
s nat it was
else

, in your oyinion, =and notizing

chiain of c¢irour-—

Provided cart=oin tihiince Poll owved, thizt ceused

BSWasr tiiat nothing e2lse

bruis2s on iizvr beay 2

to czuse desth.
2t you szw on the heza
I didn't look for other

, sir.

z2ny otiier wounds on any other

v

Thzt wound alone

swear thaot it was impozsible rfor loeck-
cuts on zny oti.er part £ the body 9

iff there were cuts on any other part

. —
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But you didn't look to see whether there wers any other

cuts ¢ A No, sir.
And therefore, when you s=zy th=zt the cause of death was
from, =as 3 the wounds on the head =znd notiring elée,
you =zare i i, ;.v = A No, =ir; my
attent ion 3 vounds .
If your sttention =g = : a em znd you had rfound
them, whu=t would vou s= e 2= d found them
it misht modify it .
vou if your =z=tient ion led bean dirsctad to cuts on
rart o} i8r boedy, wietler you v : be willings
swezr tr.ot it wus onlv the wounds ! hesd tiizt czus-—
ed the lockjaw ? A As I i::ve

looked rfor =nd I #ound sufrficiesnt czuss there for locikjaw.

I =sk you ir your =ttention n=d R tlrzeted :nd yvou h:uda

found otier cuts on otiier rortions

st 111 be willins to swezay that it was the bruises on tire

he=d, is On the head znd thoese =21 one

it 2 would deyend cn the chorzcetzr of the wounds.
cases £ meningitis rfellicwin an injury, traumastic

meningcitis —-— will you euplain what trawaztic means 9

A Traumztic meningitis 3 sitis cauged fron some

outward czuse, like z blow.

In cazses of traumstic men nwitis are thers not some rosi-—

Ak AR s St
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tive symptoms which would direct yowr =z2ttention to the

e

bt ol s o

A I don't

say it is meningitis;: I say

ik, o

e

state w.at your opinion zboubt
s nythineg ¢ do witlhh thxis case ?

angwer my queztion ? A Well, yes.

At t=hie Coroner's inquest you stated thiat when you zaw Mrs.

Smith =3z 1 not ave menincitis. Suprpose there

been z2n zcute meninscitis, or tr.umatic, do you ot tihink

you would hasve recosmnized A If there hed been

yvou would recall it if

menincsitis 9 sir.

Did you ever nuave your owrnn cbeseservition anothier czse

in which thiere was

basilazy artery 2?2
A Well, I coulon't s=zy.
You don't know whiether you und =2y your rersonal ob-

servation ? A Welil, tinat

misirt be that, but th=2y didn't live long enouil to tell.

You know, you =zn tell probzbly theoreticzlly, if there

existed an aneurism of the basilay artery aznd this aneurism

was ruptured, causing a considerable hemorrhage into the
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surrounding tissues, would not this

to czuse death

o

sir, if

T el ek el kel ST

£ there wss = bazsilar zrtery —-— if

was

and blood went throusi: th=t onto

be sufficient to czuss It would.

fzect tnat & rupture of o diseazsed

zrt ery does

not necezsarily zprea curing o violznt convalsion 9

not .
ti.2t = yrupture orf

occcuryed Jurin =ziczp, wril: ne patisnt

A Yes, aix.

tetanus ti:zt yezults Iro:m

Not wit: —
o tlhre pr=viocus symptoms suide we
zre ~uids ltegethicr by the condition # tire wound,

rravious syptoms.

vou not hnzve sn idiopathic tstanus znd

=zt the same
z wound on some part of the body ? A It is

not very probzble; I never knew of such a

But mey it not e ? A I think not.

Mirhit not tetznus or spasms suceh =z you say you

found the daceased s qn, mirht not tnese occur
2

from injuries to other portions of the body thsn the head?

A Yes,




Isn't it 2 fact that = very slisht wound on the foot often

results in lockjaw 9 A Yes, .

And if you should be callsd in as attending physicizn znd

you should find z wound on the sensitive portion of the
foot, for instance, z2nd & simple contused wound on the
scalp suchn as m ascribed here, existing =2t the same
time and in th:e szsme patient, =2nd the patient died of tetan-
us, either directly oxr from sonie = Tection thiat Ffollows
that tetanus, could you state, either from perzonzl obser-—
Qatien of tire case Juring 1ifz, or rfrom exzmin:stion after
death, which one, the wound on thie foot or that on th
head, was the cause of the tetaznus ¢ A I could not,
not from observztion.
I am asking you the question whether you could under those
conditions, when you were called in as a physician ané
found those conditions existing, whether you as a medical
men, could say which was the cause of dezth ? A It
would depend on which one was was suppurat ing; if one was
suppurating and the othner was not, I should naturélly infer
that the suppurating one was the one thz2t caused death.
Don't you think it would be mmuch ::ora likeiy for az wound
on thie gsensitive part of the foot to cause lockjaw, than
one on the sczalp ? A More =zre caused by scalp wounds.

Suppose they were both found in thie same patient st the

i S AR i
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same time, suppose thers were two wounds, one a scalp

wound and the other z cut on the sensitive pzrt of the

which would bhe most likely to c=zuse lockjzw ¢ A If one

was suppur=zting and the otihier was not , the one tiat was

suppurating.

Do you mean t0 say th=t you con stzte positivsely thzat =a

scalp wound on the head, suppur=zting, csuses lockjaw =z=s

& matter of course 9 A Not = lwsyvs .,

Do you remember =ny czse within your own krnowle-: e

zny =z=uch wounr's ever czused lockjow 2

them

12N .

Czn I ¢=

ethier in your medicel experience

you cen nzme zny patiecnt thot you personzliy

died of lockjaw from & 2licrht wound on the

A No, I never nh:2a.

And thi= particul=r camse i. the only case tiiat ever czme

to your attent ion 2 A Of dyins Ffrom lockjazw from =

wound on tiie nez=de? Yes, sir; tinat dis thiz only one that
I have ever hz=ad,

& contusiocn of the sczlp

-

Izn't it =2 very unusu=1 thins Por

to produce tetznus 9 A Well, yes, it is rather an un-—

usuzl occurrence.

Or for tetznus to result from 2 blow on tie face or nead?

fo ot

,W.Vv__l-wa‘-m« S




A = i nusuE ! Was .—— Tetznus
CAVWRY .
Suppose = AP from meningitis produced by
the injury
couwld tlzt person
to indirectly czusc
on Jeirasry h, w=x Strest to 111t
Straeaet four diys : 2 de=xtl: ] e on Jumasnry S5t ?
A JRE=R ,j.tiE wers tliiers = Lo tie to any
~reat threy would not ke very zpt to wall
tonecz.

They would nct 2 A N

Aye you willing to stzte positively tl.at the rupture of

isezsed blood vessasl titdis

-

tire2 menincitis,

wiilehh rasulted from the tire sczlp ? A Thazat will
hzve to bes seposrated; is! e answeyr it in sections
Thnon zaswcing thht ti-ere was ¢ zurism of the basilar
artery, will you answer the guesticn, whetier you will

ztzate tlist tiie rupture of tiz disezsed blood

cetuzlly czused by tetznus ox tetznic spasms,

zctuzlly czused by meningit is, i resulted

z wound on the scaly ? A I don't

VUL Py
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aznswer that question; I know nothing about that czse;
it was the lockjazw.
But coming from the lockjaw, or froﬁ thhe wound to thie hnead
to the lockj=w; I am sking {for the lockjaw now —-—
will you kindly answer sy quest ion? A I don't see how
I czn, bescuzuse I don't know znytiiin:, =i T AN I know
the womszn was dyings, =nd whet particulszsr

czused by the aneurism, I don't know that; tiie
Coroner c=zin tell,
I &m zassumins this & nhypoetiretic=l guestio:n.
swain~ there was = ¢ sm of thie bazililzr
will zgk you then if you will =znswer the quasticn

uwnewey thst guestion. I haeve no doubt tiet

you are not willin~ positively to swezr to it 2

= swearinsg to zn asswaption; I will swesr to that
assunption.
othher wordsz, you =zZre swesrins to.eoretically 2
A It would be =11 treory.
In otrher words, you =re ~cettin~ ot 2 ch . thiis womzn
thheoretically ? A I 2= not; tl.z theoreti-

cal question.

L i it
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RE-DIRECT EXAMINATION by Mr., Stzpler:

Q Please tell tiis Jury whetlizr in yvour opinion, firszt

whather you found “Nny othier thizn one wound on the top of

A Theres is only ons tizat I remember
e .38 of the testimony berlors the Coroner you used

tize words ,faccordin~ to M, Grant, "I may state in

in oz owe : : ad me to think tlere weg

it ion®

dritio You used i 1 descriving

wound in =

cz2l conditicn of t-e WO n S next snasw

I will =zsk you,

L

on toO zt=te wiat wos nar
mztter of
inquest to caeving

otler Lut ons wound ¢ o] 2 one wound

refer to Leiore the

znsk you to
imucdistely Pracaiine t3
tion to" on ra~-e 38,
beczuse there

Mr. Grant: I cznnot consent

7~ood desl zbout wi:st the Drot.ier =oid.

Mr, Stoplesr: I will l=zuave out

er

(reading):- "I found her rurils widsly

teethh clenched ti htly zna the bloody froth oozing from

I z2lsc found within 2 few minutes she had a




tetanic convulsion

;
convulsion

before I lerft

deavored to pry o

ren
then I told her Lrotiier
me how lon~ I thou~h

er than twelve

hours, =
then left the nouse in

oie

adition to tiot I

found o

suppurat iy

wounad
Am

10

thzt I reme:

b er;

to

whazt you
the wounds on top or on t.
Wizt

e

d0 you tell +t':e

B I
It would bs

very easy to gzy
rer
znd none othizars.

Wont you pl

238

rities do

many cases
duced £rom blows on the
Ancd is it not =

A
= well

known fzect in

medical

she

company
to Coptzin Westervelt.,

cut oxn

4 you did not testirfy t .zt you found
Not

Jury

A
understood ti:at to be

"wounds?"

f2rred to thi=t one

e tell the jury whetlher tha
not rerfer to

of lockjaw being

&

aw her have one
M aslied

cther
me for water;

found I cculad

too l=z=te. He
would live;

I

may dis 2t any time.
with Dr. S:

I

ey

top of har hezd,

&y Oothier

wound

correct, woulad
ne=ae A Yes,
z25 to tiiat @

I czn

Ywounav,
=nd I would not
wound in particular

medical zutho-

pro
A

reat many caze:s .
sacience thut

answered not long-

I




25

lockjaw is rroduced from blows in the head ?

Ty

the jury wnizt you mezn by

Will you explsin to

A wound tinw is throwing

PIIS »

& condition 4 iziz

And tii=t tive yvou I ound

W

It

out

A Yecs

>

a

a suppurat-

nattexr,

wound

answer

it

ta
[ et

pr

Wiien you

iy ?

one .

mezan to tell ti:

You did not

on the 8tk or 9t orf of lockjzw minirt

some distznce several A
apt to if they =h+d = very extensive meningit

1)
(S

But if the lockjaw was produced by =z septic

ing 2 A Not =t 11

thet prevent their wesl

In other words, there zre itwo causes for lock

from meningsitis, and in snotihier case it ~omes

element, in other words, the poison thwroush t

werson who runs 2 nail in

would

Thhey

NGt

not walk

would not

S .
1
.

Saw, coming
fro:mn =z
he »lood.

thhe foot,

s1ir

be

septic




Mxr,

rerson czn wallk several days before

ferm? A Ye
as = m= Of medical iis

medic=l nistory. .

t =3 »itieh you foung on tihis womzn'z hes

Irzave been Produced by = blow From A It cculd.

(Hands eclub Could it rave b rroduced by

such & cluns A Very

Stzplar: Wwish to withidraw

ent .

RE-CROSS EXAMINATION sy Mro,

Q

Q

Assumin- tlhat this wound you zzw a2t tiis time, with

2ir mztted, on the Ot Yodzmisry abhout twelve o' clock

tzt trzt wounda hzd bsen was

= =2Essumings ~ed

ned thorousnhl Y On the S8tk or Januzsry, ang

clea

rag put over it and vaseline rut on, would it hazve

likely to have 1 M in tiiat condit ion, mztted, znag

condition you found it on the next day, the 9th ?

A It would mzls = Sreat dirference who dressed the wound.
I didn't =zsk you thzt; asswning tha it liad been washed

out with warm water on znd =z cl ean

ragz put over the sread on the of the 8th or Jznuary

or durings the afternoon or evening, znd you zaw it on the

about nocon-t ine, would it have been likely

yvou sa;

e i e
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. Yes, sir; it woul @

Probably, + 0 have been matted ? A

ver readily beczuse it would throw ocut us in twelve
¥y )

Lhours, = rreat quantity orf it; it would be very art to

be matted.

Younstated thiat thsat wound W ry prrobably or l1ik=ly to

have ba2oen caused DY 5 stick :u been shown Yyou.

Do you think it could have bezsn c= ¢ Z pPerson fz11ing
on =@ &t r = rire or =zny nara substaice 9 A It
wrould datp e on siew thizy fell.,

But it cculg ° A It

whether it could have

Wiien tihe District Attorn
besn czused by that club, it de-
rerndad on how it was struck

coulad.

Why did you make = distinction hetwe=n the answer to thie

question I put to you =ana the answer to the question tiz

District Attorney put to yvou ¢ A It was simply for

“this reason, wat a policeinsn im us ing kis club don't usu-

ally hit sideways, and in fallings your hezad strikes side~
ways.

Did you ever sec =a roliceman use his club °

Mr. Stapler:

A rerson simply falling would not necessarily infliect that
wound on the skull in thst Place ¢ A Not in that po-

sition; they would not be apt to .

I it o s b A s
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They would have to f211 in = very peculiar way ¢

A They would have to strike on top of their head, near—
ly.

Would ox would not one of the tetaniec convul sions e suf-

fiecient t0 rupture the basilar artery to which ur. Grant

hzs referred 9 A It wounld. if it was digseased.
Mr,

Assumin:: th=t the basilar artery was diseased, could not

that basilzr zrtery have been ruptured without convulsion?

A Yes,

And it could have been ruptured if the person was zsleep,

have to be somet ning back

couldn't it @9 A Thers wounld

of it , some he=zrt disease, or somathing,

silar artery is diseased

-

Isn't it posaible that if the be

that it could be ruptured while t: ratient was asleep 2

A Yes, it could.
If there was no disease buick of it ¢ A Yes, sir, it

could then, but it would not be very apt to be; ~it would

be =z very unususl thing to occur.

If there was a2 disease back of it it would be more lizble

to be rupturedg ¢ A It certainly would.

Witness withdrawn for the present,

PRI e e
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CHARUILES E. PHILILTITP s, recalled.

DIRECT EXAMINATION by Mr. Stapler:

Mzx .

Stapler: I now desire to offer the'dying declaration of
Mrs. Smith made to this physician. My foundation are
statements already in evidence, the fact that she had call-
ed for the priest and asked for holy water and said she
wasg dying at 3 o'clock in the morning, and at half past

eight following she repeated the statement and asked for tie

priest, and the fact of her conditédon and the impossibil-

ity of receiving water, and the statements Dr. Phillips
makes, I submit brings this case clearly within the au-
thorities.
The following testimony was then taken in the
hearing of the court only, not in the hearing
of the jury, but addressed to the court, solely
on the question as to whether the dying dec-
laration should be admitted:
Will you please tell the jury now, after this woman, the
defendant's wife, was brought out into that outer room,
when she was presented to you as you have testified al-
ready in the case, just tell the jury first the exact hour ?
A Well, it was between eleven and twelve —~~ between half

pést eleven and twelve -- it must have beer between half

past eleven and twelve.
\
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A it .

SRIIPOL IR

You observed her condition eclosely ? A. I gid.

Will you state as to whether she was or not in your opinion
then dying °
She certainly was dying.
(By the Court) Hopeless ° A. Hopeless.
What did you hear her say when she came out 2
Mr. Grant: I object on the ground that he is offfering it in
the form of a dying declaration of the deceased, and I ob-~
Ject on the ground that there is no foundation laid yet,
even admitting that it is admissible on that ground, be-
cause it does not Yet appear in evidence that the deceased
had been Tnformed of the fact that she was about to die
and that she could not vecover, and that it is necessary
before declarations of 2 deceased person can be admitteqd
in evidence as a dying declaration, that they shall be so
informed and be notified at the time they make them that it
is a dying declaration and that they cannot recover.
The Court: Have you given 211" the evidence you can as to
whether she had been informed that she was dying 2
Myr. Staplcr: The testimony which would appear in answer to
my question now, goes to strengthen that position. My
contention is that the woman realized her condition.
The Court: If the answer to this question bears upon the

qQuestion of her knowledge of death, then I will admit it.
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I will take that evidence for myself.
When she was brought there what did you hear her say to

you 2 A, It must have been 11:30 or 12 -~ it was quite

likely 12 before I left my office; the call never came to

me until nearly half past 11. The reason I know this is
because I finished my ealls about dinner time and came
home and found this call waiting for me. It was without
doubt between half past 11 and 12, nearer 12. As she came
from the room, just as she was sitting in the chair, ana
turned around and was looking towards the window —-— she was
walking slowly —-- just as she sat in the chair I turned
around and asked her what she wanted, and she hissed throug
her teeth "“"water," and it was very indistinet; I had to
listen closely to catch her words; and then was the time
when I tried to pry open her teeth to give: her some water
-— I thought she could answer my questions better. In
cases of this kind we always have to depend on the answers
that are given by the sick rPerson, and as I intended gues-
tioning her, and as she had called for water, I told some-
one that was in there to give her water. Then I tried to
open her teeth with a led pencil, but I could not do it.
Then I says to her "It is no use; I can't do anything for
you." Then I questioned her after that. She kept con-

stantly calling for water all the time and begged us to do

SRR S eI,
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something for her. Then after that I got the declaration.
Did you say anything more to her ? A. Then I began to
gquestion her about the assault.

Was there anything in that statement between you and her
about the assault, as to whether she made any statement as
to whether she had any hope of living or dying ?

A She made no statemmsnt other than to simply answer the
questions the best she could that I asked her after that.
She was dying then without any doubt.

You testified you thought she could not live more than a
certain length of time * A 1 told the brother within
three minutes of that time that she was liable to die any

moment, but might possibly hang on for six or seven hours.

And you told her you could not open her mouth or give her

water, and could not do anything for her ? A. I said it
was no use,

She did die within an hour and a hall ? A. Within an
houaxr.

Mr., Grant:

You did not tell her she was going to die ? A. Certainly,
I don't ever tell people that.

You did not say a word to her that she was going to die 2
No, I didn't use those words. I think that was enoughj;
she would infer it from what I said. She knew it was a

serious case,




By the Court:

Q She had asked for a priest ¢ A. Yes, sir.

The Court: On all the testimony, including this last,
overrule the objection and admit the declaration as
dying declaration.

Exception taken by defendant's counsel.
The examination of the witness was then

ularly'proceeded'with, as Tollows:

Mr. Stapler:

Please tell the jury now, just after vou had brought this

woman out into the outer room at the time specified above,

what inquiriecs you made of her as +to the cause of the in-

jury on her head, and what reply she made to you ?
Objected to, on the ground that it does not
appear from any testimony in the case that the
doctor had informed the deceased that she was
about to die; also in the ground that in no
event can the attending physician reveal any
statements made to him by the patient, or any
inquiries he made in regard to the case; it is
a privileged éommunication and cannot be re-
vealed afterwards.

Objection overruled; exception taken.

Q State to the jury just what you asked her —- deseribe her
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manner in answering that, and just what she said 9
A I akked her if her husband had clubbed her. At first
she refused to answeyr, or did not answer. Then I pressed
her to answer it and she hissed through her teeth as best
she could, "Yes. "
And d4id you ask her where he had struck her @2 A

where —-

Objected to as leading; question withdrawn.

Please say what else was said ? A. I asked her where her
husband had hit her, and she put her hand near the top of
her head, the best she could.
Just show the jury what she did 2 A. She made a motion
and placed her hand on top of her head, in response to
the question where her husband had hit her. I asked her

if she had been well previous to the assault and she an-—

swered yes. I askeﬂher 1P she had suffered much pain

sinece and she said "Yes, sufferced terrible pains." That

is about all I remember of questioning her.

And then you went away, and where did you go ? A. From

there I went into the other room, from the kitchen, and

called her brother and Dr. Smagg .
. )

Where did you go after yo left the house ¢ A, Directly

to the Policece Precinet.

And made this report 2 A. Yes, sir,

o e i e




CROSS EXAMINATION by

Is your memory any better about what you have now testi-

AN e T e e

fied to than it was at the “oroner's inquest °

A I don't Suppose it ig,

Do you know whether it is or not ¢ A. I don't think it

is.

Whieh is it 9 I would like to know whether your memory

is fresher now Or wWas fresher at the time of the Coruner's

inquest. A Very likely fresher at the time of the in-

quest.

You remember you were asked about this @9 A. T remember

I was akked about the mas-~.

Don't vou emember you testified about the statement she

made to you and that You made to her 9 A Yes, sir.

Can you say whether your testimony now is the same as what

you testifded to before 2 A, I coulan'+ séy.

Before her statement was made to you and you asked her the

questions, hag Yo . informed her she was about to die ?

A I had not stated it in so many words.

Had you informega her she was'about to aie ¢

The way I informed her --

I ask yes or no; answer, please, yes or no?

not tell her in so many words she was going to die,

TIER S R e s

from what I tolg her as near as T could I wanted her to

i

DR e~

tp understand so.




Q@ I want you to say yes or no, whether you had told her at
the time you say she made certain statements to you,
whether you had Previously told her she was going to die @2
A I had not.

I think you said just now ihat you asked her if she had

any other trouble except the assault and she said na ?

A I didn't ask any such question.

What was it 2 A I might not be able to repeat it.

Didn't you say in answer to some question by the District

Attorney, that you asked her some qQquestion about whether

she had been well previous to the assault ? A.

she saild she had heen.

See what you said at the Coroner's ingquest; did you make

this answer: "Did she say whether she had been assaulted

or beaten ¢ A. I asked her if she was hurt previous to
the assault and she said yes." A. I never asked her that
question.

Did you make that answer 9 Ao I made the answer, yes,

but I don't believe the question was so pait to ms.

remember now positively you did answer it in that form ?

A I remember it just as I have given it; I asked her if

she had been well previous to the assault.

Just state again what you said in regard to asking her

about where she had been clubbed ? A. I asked her if
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her husband had clubbed her and she said yes. Then I ask-~
ed her where and she rlaced her hand on top oFf her head.
See if you made this statement -- you asked her where she
had been hit, "and she Placed her hand on the back of her
head and said' she suffered Tearful pain there." Did you
so testify at the Coroner's inquest 9 Al I can't say;

I supposs: I did if it is there.

If you so testifieqd there, why have you stated to-day that
she put her hand on the top of her head 2 A For the
simple reason that the location was so near the top and so

near the back, that I stated it without forehought of the

location.
You have been taking a good deal of interest in this case

personally ¢ A, No, sir; I have not.

Haven't taken any interest at all @2 A. Slight.

Have you taked with Dr. Smagg about it 2 Ao T have.

You and he have talked a good deal about it 9 A, Not

much, perhaps five minutes since the accident; it might

not be that.
I would like you to now tell the jury where she rut her hami

when she said she was clubbed 2 A. If I stated before--—
I ask you a direct question, to put your hand now or tell
the jury where she Put her hand when you asked her where

she had been clubbed 2 A. She put her hand on the back
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or top of her head; it was in the location of the cut, as

near as anyone in her condition could get there.

st B A AR Al e

Did you say this, in answer to a question: "A man who saiad

he was her brother said she had been choked and clubbed by

her husband on January 2d, by her husband." Was that said®
A I think it was,

Was any one else present at the time 9 A, Of the con-
versation °

While you were there ? A, Yes, sir; Dr. Smagg and this
patient and the young lady.

Did you see that young lady on the stand to-day @

A Yes, sir.

(By the Court) Do you mean they were present at the time
she made this declaration to you 2 A, Yes, they were
present, all of them,

How long were you in the house, the whole time, from the
time you went in until you came out ? A Possibly ten
minutes, it might not have been that; it might have been
five or ten minutes.

But it certainly was not over ten minutes 2 A No, sir.
And when you went in &t that time didn't you examine her
before you asked any questions ? A. I looked at her as
she sat on the box and said "Bring her out in the other

room. "

o e e e e




Then you did examine her ? A, No, I looked at her.

Did you or not examine her ? A. No, sir.

Did you examine her at all when Qou were there ?2 A.. I daidi.
When did you commence to examine 92 Ao I commenced

when they brought her out in the other room; that was my

object in having her brought out.

When did you examine her ¢ A, When they brought her out

in the other room.

And you made a thorough examination ? A. As muach as I

thought necessary.

How long did it take you to make that thorough examination ?

A Possibly three to five minutes.

And after that what did you do 2 Ao I didn't state I

made a thorough examination; I stated I made an examination
so as to give ner a more thorough examination, and then I
examined her.

Did you or not make a2 thoroughn examination ? A, As muceck
as I considered necessary.

Then it took from three to Tive minutes to make the examin-
ation which you considered necessary 2 A. It 4id.

Then after you had made this examination, which toock three
to five minutes, it was within the next five minutes that
you had this other conversation with herx ? A It was

while I was examining her; that was part of her examination




40

You say her teeth were tightly clenched so you could hot
Bet a pencil in ? A. Yes, sir.

And she was suffering from these spasms 2 A. Yes, sir.
How long was she in'the spasms ¢ A. Perhaps a minute and

a half.

And with her teeth tightlykelenched she made these answers ¢

A Yes, sir; through her teeth.

But you could understand them 9 A, With the greatest of
trouble, getting my ear close to her mouth I caught the
answers.,
Was Dr. Smagg present 9 A. Dr. Smagg was present.
Dr. Smagg being in the court room, was request-
edto retire.
Have you now stated everything you asked her @2
A Well, as near as I can remember.
You left her when she was in a spasm, before she had got
through it @2 A, No, not when I left her in the chair;
she was then out of a spasm. Then I went into the other
room with the brother and as I passed out of the door I
loocked at her and saw her in a spasm.
And you went right out ° A I went right out.
As 2 matter of fact, both of you physicians left her at that
time while she was in a spasm ? Al Yes, sir.

Did you try at all at any time to wash out the wound 2




I d4id not.

Can you state why it was that either of you physicians aiad -
not stay there at that time ¢ A, I can.

Why ? A. Simply because the woman was dying end we
wanted a coroner and I started as soon as I could to get
one.

Was it necessary for both to go ? A I thought it nec-
essary that both of us should go; I considered the case
hopeless then, and left her in a spasm.

Did Dr. ‘magg tell you he had been there the night before 2
He did.

Was this question put to you and 4id you make these an-
swers: Qo How may convuisions did she go into in your
presence ? A, I only saw two. Qe In a short space

of time 2 A, I was in the house longer than eight or ten
minutes. Qe And during those eaght or ten minutes she
had two convulsions 29 A. Yes, sir. Qe Lasting how
long, each ? A. The first I should judge lasted in the
neighborhood of three minutes, and I left her in the second

I don't know how long it lasted." Did you so testify

How is it that to-day you state one minute and a half 2’

A I had no way of timing it; the difference 1s very small.

The second one, you don't know how long it lasted ?




No, sir.
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Q Didn't you say to-day the second one lasted a minute and a
half 2 A, I said the first one.
If you d4id say so you were mistaken 2 A, I didn't see
the second spasm until it was closed, I left; she had others
in between, I fancy.
Don't you consider that a suppurating wound on the scalp
should be treated in any event, with the possibility of
Preventing tetanus or lockjaw ¢ A, Certainly.
There is always a possibility ¢ A, There always is.
But as far as you know this was not treated at all °

A As far as I know it was not treated at all.

RE~DIRECT EXAMINATION by }Mr. Stapler.

Q Do you mean there was a rossibility when you were there
that morning by treaiment of that wound that she could
have been saved ? A, Not by any means; she could not
have been saved,

Q@ And was it for that reason that nothing was done ¢
A It was for that reason; we considered the case hopeless;
we could not do anything.

Q You state from your experience that nothing could have becn
done to relieve her at that time ? A I can state that

nothing could have been done to relieve her at that time.

Q So that any treatment of the wound would have to be made
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some time previous to have had any effect %

Before the suppuration.

Pepper considered an authority, a standard authority ?

A It is one of the best.

Can you tell the jury whether or not it is not a fact in
the course of this disease it 1s preceded usually by a
variety of premonitory symptoms and illness %

A It is.

And what are the indications of that ? A. The commence-—
ment of tetanus would be pains in the back. of the neck,
the throat.

And then reaching to the jaws ? Ao Reaching to the jaws
gradually.

And the authorities all agree that the mind remains clear
until the last ? A The authorities all agree on that
point.

There has been some suggestion made by Mr. Grant in regard
to your attidude here; are you retained in any way by the
Peoples ¢ A I am not, in any way.

You have attended here on the subpoena served Ifrom this

court from day to day ? Al Yes, sir.

RECROSS EXAMINATION by Mr. Grant:
Q Can you say of your personal knowledge of this case whether

there was oy was not some disease of the throat which might
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have produced tetanus 2 A. I can't say,

Q@ TFor instance, a suppurating tonsil, would not that pro-

duce tetanus 2 A. It might.

B, P AL MER SMAG G, called for the Prosecution,
sworn.

DIRECT EXAMINATION by Mr. Stapler:

Q@ What is your occupation A, Physiecian and Surgeon.

Q Where is your office @ A, 229 Pifth avenue.
Was that vour offige on the evening of the 8th of January
last 2 A It has been my office for =a vear and six
months,
Were you called upon to attend Mrs, Smith at No. 6 West
136th.strevt on the evening of the 8th of January 2
A I think the 8th, Thursday evening.
Did you go there ? A Yes, sir,.
Where did you find her 2 A. I found her in bed.
In an inner room 92 A. In the next room to the kitchen.
Tell the jury how you founad her, what was her situation ¢
A She was lying in bed with a handkerchief or c¢loth tied

around her head.

Anything around her neck 2 A, I think there was a Flanneda

around her neck.

Did you have any conversation with her ¢ A, I asked how

long she had been sick.




Q What d4did she say ? A.

She said she had not been feeling

well for a week, but she was up .

Mr. Grant @ 1 object, and move to strike it out.

Objection sustained.

Did you prescribe for her ? A. Yes, sir.

And you left hef in bed ? A. Yes, sir.

And then you went to your office, and when dida you next

see her ? A Wo, sir; I did not go to my ofrice-

Where dia you go ? A I went from there to the drug-

store.

Then you got =z prescription there, or got some medicine

A I can't tell whether I prescribed by writing or ver-

pally —-- I can’'t remember that. 1 told the druggist what

1 wanted him to send her, but whether I wrote a prescrip-

tion and left it, or whether I told him and he put it up,

I can't tell.

Then where daida you go after that ? DPid you go to your of-

fice then ? A. I ecan't swear; I don't know whether 1

made a call before I went to my office or afterwards,

When d4id you next see the woman ? A The next morning-

At what time ? A.

Well, I think about half past nine,

Did any one come to your office for you ? A. Yes, sir.

Who was it ? A. Mr. Hagan.

The witness who was on the stand this morning




Yes, sir.

And in response to that call you went ¢ A. I went there;

yves, sir.

And how did you find the woman when you got there ?

A  She was sitting on the edge of the bed.

Was she in her night clothes 2 A, Yes, sir; I think s0;

she had perhaps a shawl around her shotilders; I am not sure

as to that.

What was her condition ¢ A, I had received a little more

of the history before I went there and I examined her head

when I got there

What did you find on the head 2 A I found a scalp

wound.

What was the condition of it 9 A, Well, i1t was an ugly

looking, suppurating wound,

And what was the condition of her face ? A. I remember

she was a little black on one side, but I can't state which

side, a little ecchymosis, or perhaps a slight Back eye,

but I can't tell which side.

-~ what did you diagnose the case °

What was her trouble

A I made a diagnosis then of tetanus, the beginning of

tetanus.

That is lockjaw ©? A. Yes, sir,

Did you go away at once ? A, Yes, I went away soon after




that.

Where did you go *? A, To my office.

What did you do there 9 A. I waited until Dr. Phillips

came to my office.

You sent for him 2 A, Yes, sir.

And you went with him to the house ? A. I returned to

the house; yes, sir.

And yru were present when the examination was made to which

I was there

he testifieaq ° A. Yes, sir:

Were vou present when Dr. Phillips examined her as to the

cause ? A Yes, we were both Present.

And what did you hear her state to Di. Phillips as to the

cause of the wound on her head 2 A She acknowledged

with a little Pressing, that she had been hi% by her husbarm.

Objected to: objection sustained.

the Court: This was about 12 o'cloek 2 A. About half

Past 12, I think.

Was it after Dr. Phillips tried ~to insert a pencil into

her mouth ¢ A, Yes, sir; at that time.

And was unable to give her any water » A. Yes, sir.

Mr. Stapler:
Phillips as

State what the woman Mary Smith stated to Dr.

to the cause of the wound on her head °?

Objected to on the ground that it does not ap-~
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pear that the deceased was informed at the time

of making this declaration that she was about

to fie, and it ecannot be admitted as a dying

declaration; and furthermore, on the ground
that in any event the evidence is not admissi-
ble, being a privileged communicaton. Ob~-
jection overruled; exception taken.
She said as well as she could "Yes, sir."

To what gquestion put by Dr. Phillips ? A. If she had

been clubbed; I think he said “"Been hit" or clubbed, T

can't remember which.

(By the Court) By whom ¢ A. By her husband.

And she answered "Yes" 2 A As well as she could, rather

sissed it through h er teeth; her teeth were closed then.

By Mr. Grant: What did she say ? A She said "Yes".

Did she indicate by any motion or otherwise where 1% was °?
Objectea to.

What 4did she do 2 A, When she was asked she put her hand

up to her head in the region of this sealp wound, that she

was hurt there.

(By the Court) When she was asked what ?

was asked where he hit her.

s DGR RS e A
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CROSS EXAMINATION by Mr. Grant:

Q You were called in on the night of January 8th first 2

A Yes, sir.

And you were called in by the defendant, he went to your

house and told you to go there in a hurry to see her 9

A Yes, sir.
And you went immediately when the defendant asked you to

80 and see his wife 9 A, I aida; I went in about five

to ten minutes after, if you call that immediately.

When you got there did you find out or try toc find out

what was the matter witih her ¢ A. Yes, sir; I gave her

a superficial examination.

Rather superficial ° A, Not particularly so.

Was it Particularly so or not @9 A, “bolit half and halr,

I guess.
Pidn't. you trv to fing out what was the matter with her

then ¢ A, I tried to get her history some and find out

what the +trouble was.

I don't mean any history; did you try to find out from pPer—

sonal examination of her, what was the matter of her 2

A Of her neck, yves.

You say she had a rag on her head ¢ A, Yes, sir.

you remove the rag ? A, I pushed it ofr.

remove it ? A, I removed it from the side of the




head.

Ycu didn't look for any cut on the heagq ¢ A, No, sir.

Why ¢ A. Because, when a Person complains of headache I

don't look down her back.

You said when a bPerson complains of headache you don't thirk

it is necessary to run your hand down her back ?

A No, sir.

I aid not Suggest anything of that kind <2 A, No, sir,

ask you whether you took the cloth off of her head 9

A No, sir I only pushed it up off the forehead.

Why didn't you take the rag off 9 A I was not directed
&

to look for the wound; I knew nothing about the wound, and

a physician would not look fTor a wounda upon a person com-—

Flaining about headache.

Was there any blood on the rag ? A. I don't remember.

Try and remember whether there was or not 9 A. I can't

recall any.
Thensubstantially you went in there and made a superfiecial

examination andg put your hand on her head; whatdaid you say

was the matter 2 A. I didn't say.

Didn't you tell anyiody there she had a cold or sore throat?

A I toid them she might have one of two or three things.

Didn't you say to somebody there she had a cold or sore

throat ¢ A, I said spe might have a cold or sore throat
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or three.or four things.
I am asking you what your memory is; what did you say, as
far as your memory goes 2 A, That I can't tell; I re-
member I didn't commit myself on any one thing.

You left a margin, you didn't commit yourself on anything 2

A No, sir.

You said it might be something and might be something elsc ?

A I may have stated two or three things.

Did you send any medicine to the house that night 2

A T told the druggist to, yes, sir; he sent it.

Do you remember meeting the defendant alfterwards, after you
came out from the house 2 A Yes, sir.

Do you remember telling him when he asked vou what the
matter was, that she had a cold ? A. I told him the same
as I had said at the house; I told him she was very sick.
He was waiting for you outside to find what was the matter 2
A Yes, sir; he said he would wait to see me.

How lJong were you there that evening when you made this
superficial examination 2 A. Well, ten mimutes, may be.
Was it more than ten minutes ? A. It may have been a
l1ittle more and may have been a little less; about ten
minutes.

At the Coroner's inquest do you remember being asked whether

it was half an hour and you saiff may be twenty minutes ?
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T don't realize now that I was there that long; possibly

I could have been fifteen minutes there, but it dgon't seem
as if I was now

Did you say you would stop in the next morning to see

what was the matter ? A, T told him I would go in the
next morning; yes, sir.

Do you remember when you and Dr. Phillips arrived the next
day there what was said by Dr. Phillips to you or by Yyou
to Dr. Phillips, about the cause of her sickness, when you
and Dr. Phillips arrived there at the house ? A. I don't
remember that I said anything.

Did he say anything ? A. Yes, sir.

What did he say ¢ A. tTe told me this should be imme-—
diately reported.

I am referring to long before that, when you first got there.
A Well, I guess that was soon after we were there; T can't
remember of anything.

Do you remember Dr. Phillips say ing to you when you got
there, after looking her over, "Phere is an edema of the
iungs" ? A. I believe he did say that.

And do you remember whether Dr. Phillips daid most of the
talking there to you or to her ? A. No, I can't tell.

Do you remember at the Coroncr's ingquest saying that Dr.
Phillips "Spoke to me more than to her" ? A. I don't re-

member.




follows: "I Ffounad everything as Dr. Donlin has told the

Jjury here; there was a clot of whlood there and a scar of

the wound, I found those and I formed my conelusion at that

time that she died of apoplexy or by tetanus brought on by

the injury, and I leave it to the medical profession to

decide whether this tetanus ruptured this blood vessel or

not" ¢ A. I dia.

And it is still your opinion ¢ A, It is my opinion she

diedq -~
Question repeated.

That is my opinion; that is what I said at that time.

And that is your opinion still ¢ A, My opinion is that

she died of tetanus.

Will you be kind enough to state if you so gave your tes-

timony and your opinion at the time you testified be-

? That was my opinion -—-

fore the Coroner's inguest ¢ A.

yes, sir, at that time.

And isn't it still your opinion ¢ A. Well, it is my

opinion in one respect, but the tetanus produced the con-

vulsion, in my opinion.

Mr. Grént: I move to strike that out as not responsive.

Motion granted.

Question repeated.

A

It is no*.;'as'%?f\“bpinion that she died of what

AT T S e s e
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If you did say that at the Coroner's ingquest, isn't that
the fact ° A. It may have been; VYVeS, sir; but he was
talking in her presence.

Then Dr. Phillips and you and her brother left the room and
went into the other room for quite a while ? Ao The
second yYoom ——~ Y€S, sir; fTor =a short time_

And talked the matter over in there 2 A Yes, sir.
Then what took place ? A, Dr. Phillips and I left.
While you were leaving, she was in a spasm, wasn't she
A I guess she was just about passing out of one as we

went out.

And both of you went away ? A Yes, sir; both went away;

we went away together.

You were the attending physician ? A. T was called to
nher first; yess ir.

Did youw at any +ime dress or care Tfor thatwound on her head
A Welldl, I cared for it as soon as I discovered it, Tt I
did net dress it.

You did not at any time clean it out or wash 1t out ?
A No, sir; I examined it only the first time I discovered
it, the next morning, the first 1 knew of the scalp wound.
After the examination that you made, and after Dr. Phillips

and you had made an examinza tion and had known 211 the

facts, both the history you had got and also by the persond

examination, didn't you at the Coroner's inguest state as
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Q
Q
Q

My .

Q

Q

opinion that she died of apoplexy ? No, gir; I don'i. think
so.
In answer to a question that was put to you at the Coroner's
inquest did you make this answer: "I found everything as
xx Dr. Donlon has told the jury here; there was a clot of
blood there and a scar of the wound, I found those and I
formed my conclusion at that time that she died of apoplexy
or by tetanus brought on by the injury, and I lecave it to
the medical profession to decide whether this tetanus rup-
tured this bleod vessel or not." Did you so testify at
the Coroner's inguest? A. Yes, sir.
That was your opinion at that time - Ao Yes, sir.
And that is your opinion still, is it not ? Al Why, ves.
This wound you found on the top of the head was only a very
slight wound, was 1t ? A Well, it may have been more,
it may have been less; I don't know whether you would call
it a slight wpund; it was large enough to induce trouble.
CGrant: I move to strike that out as not responsive.
Motion denied, Exception taken.
Was this question put to you and did you make this answer:
" was it a deep wound or only a flesh wound ? A, It wes

not through to the scalp" =2 A, Yes, sir; it was not.

v"Q Only a flesh wound ¢ A. That is all . ?

A Yes, sir.

V
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When you went to the druggist to get medicine for the de-
ceased on that night when you went in there to see her
first, what did yow prescribe Ffor her ? A. I don't re-
member ccertainly.

You can't remember 2 A. Not surely: no, sir.

What druggist 4did you go to 2 A 132¢. 3treet and 5th
avenue.

Do you mean to say you cannot remember what you ordered 2
A I can tell you what I think I ordered.

Tell us to the best of your recollection what you ordered ¢
A I ordered some compound and quinine.

For what ailment was this medievine supposed to be 2

A It was alterative and a tonic, and the quinine in it

was to keep down the temperature; [ thought she had a 1it-
tle temperature at the time

At your first examination of her did she complain of her
throat <9 A. A soreness on the side of her throat; yes,
sir.

Was there at that time a poultice or anything on her throat?
A There was a fTlannel, I believe, I don't know that there
was anything on the inside of it or not. It was a little
dark in there and I didn't see anything and didn't feel
anything.

Can you state positively there was not at that time a ton-
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silitis or quinsy ? A Ko, sir; I wouldn't say there was
not.

Isn’'t it a Tact that tetanus can occur Ffrom absorption of
septic matter from =a diseased tonsil *? Ao I don't knovw.
You don't know 2 A. No, sir; I never heard of it; I

suppose it is possible. That is an expert guestion; I am

not here to answer that -- T am here as a witness only.

Isn't it a very unusual thingn for a scalp wound which is
only a Flesh wound, as you say this was, on the scalp, to
produce tetanus ? A. ot under the circumstances; an
undressed scalp wound; it is not unusual when it has had no
care, not looked after.

Did you ever have a case of that kind ? A. I have had a
case of tetanus but not from a secalp wound.

Dida vou from your long expergence ever know a case of tet-
anus to come under your personal knowledge resulting from
a scalp wound ? Ao I think I have.

Will you state what case it was ? Ao It was a2 case 1in
the hospital; I was only one of the others there —- I had
not charge.

vou could not give us any idea who it was ¢ A. No, sir.
How long ago was that ? Al Two years and a half ago, or
two years ago.

What hospital was that in ? A. Minety-ninth street.
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Supprose for a moment that & persom suffering from mening-~
itis produced by a traumatism, a blow, the injury having
been inflicted on December 3lst, could such a person suf-
fering from meningitis so seriour that it indirectly caused
death on January 9th, walk- from.136 street to 11th street
four days before death, that is on January 5th ?

A I think so.

You think she could 2 A. Yes, sir.

Could you positively state that the rupture of a diseased
blood vessel, an aneurism of the basilar artery, was act-
ually caused by tetanus or tetanic - spasms which were agct-
ually caused by meningitis which resulted from a wound to
the scalp ? A, No, sir; it might occur at all times.
Would not a clot of blood Ffrom the rupture of an aneu-
rism of the basilar artery be sufficient in itselsf ﬁo pro-

duce death ° A, If large enough.

Would not a very slight clot be sufficient to pProduce -deatiP

A We would have a Paralysis probably first.

Would not a very small clot be sufficient to produce death 3

the rupture of a basilar artery 2 A, I don't think it
Would'produce death if it was very small.

Did you hear Dr. Donlin testify at the Coroner's inquest
that a clot the size of a Pin head would, if it was at a

certain place 9 A, Yes, sir,
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You agree with sthat 2 A. Yes, sir; if it was in a cer-
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tain place.

Caho

Did you ever have under your personszal Observation another

case in which there was an aneurism of the basilar artery

A I don't remember that I ever have.

This was the first case you ever had ¢ A. Yes, sir,

And this was the first case of tetanus you ever had re-

sulting from a little scalp wound ? A. In private Prac-

tice; yes, sir.

Except the one in the hospital, about whiech your memory is

a little indistines 2 Al Yes, sir,

Not speaking from rersonal observation, but theoretically,

if there did exist an aneurism of the basilar artery and

this aneurism had ruptured, causing a considerable hemorr-~

hage into the surrounding tissues, would not this of itsels

be sufficient to cause death *? A, Yes, sir; I suppose it

would,

You agree with what Dr. Phillips and Dr. Donlin said yes-

terday , that a rupture of a disecaseqd artery does not nec-

essarily occur during violent convulsion 9 A, It may

occur at other times,

May it not ocecur if a Person is fast asleep ¢ A. Yes,
éir; it might oceur at that time.

distinguish between =a tetanus resulting from a

Can you
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traumatism and that which is idiopathic ? A. Only bW the
history of the case.

You cannot unless you get the history ° A, You have to
get the history or see the wound.

And isn't it Prossible and may you not have an idiopathic
tetanus and A% the same time have a wound on some part of
th%bbdy ? A, I suppose it is possible.

And may it not occecur 2 A. Yes, sir; you may have a tet-
anus and be strueck by lightning.

And you may have tetanus when you are not struck by light-
ning 2 A, Yes, sir.

Might not a tetanus or tetanie spasms occur from injuries
to other portions of the body than the head ¢ A, Cer-—
tainly, you get tetanus from injuries elsewhere.

This rag that was on the head that night, that was tied
around the head this way (indicating) ¢ A, Yes, sir;
around the crown of the e ad.

How far did it come down in the front Al It came over
the forehead, right over the forehead.

Put your finger on your forehead where it was 2

A Right along there (indicating); I don't think it come

below the eyebrows at all, about to the eyebrows.

How low behind did it come @ A. I don't know as I can

tell.

As far as you saw ? A. Tied about straight around, I
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shoulqg Judge.

Re-DIRECT EXAMINATION by

Tr. Stapler:
Where giqg You go after you left Mrsg,

January,

Q

Smith on the 9th o
when you and Dy, Phillipd went away from the house
A We went to the 126th street headquarters.

Did you s€e this Captain Westervelt there ¢

A,
And m

ade a report of the case @9 A, Yes, sir.
Vhen you left that rcom what was th

€ condition of tha+s
woman @9 A,

Well, she wWas about dving, I thought; I
didn't expect her to 1ive long.

And what yYou told the Jury was the cause,

in your Oopinion,
was she suffering with ¢

=~ what A, With lockjaw, de-~
-cidedly, tetanus.

And you say these convulsions,

A Tetanrie convulsions.

Certainly.

And what in your opinion,

will you tell the Jury was the

cause of that woman's death ¢ A. The cause of the death
was tetanusg,

And that tetanus wag Produced by what

? A. Brought on
by the injury to her head; that is what Produced the teta-
nas .
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Was the death due to that wound ? A. Yes, sir;

cing it back through the different stages.

You observed that wound; was that wound such a wound as
could have been made by the blow of a club like that
(handing c¢lub to witness) ¢ A. Yes, sir.

The authorities have collated the various kinds of causes
whieh produce tetanus or lockjaw 2 A Yes, sir.

Is it or is it not a fact that the authorities present a
great many cases of tetanus from wounds on the head ?

A Most of the tetanus in this country are traumatic.
Injuries received from blows; and does it make any differ-
ence in what portion of the body ¢ A. No, sir; in in-
fants the tetanus is in the umbilium, the cord.

But the injuries in adults are received in any part ?

A Yes, sir.

Did you intend to state in your testimony before the

Coroner's inquest -—- what did you intend to state as to
the cause of that woman's death 2

Objected to. Question withdrawne.
Didn't you testify as follows: "Q Answer my question ?
A. No, tetanus was the cause of death, it produced the
apoprlexy"? A. Yes, sir.
You so testified at the Coroner's jury ? A. Yes, sir.

And that was your opinion then ? A, Yes, sir.




And your opinion now is that death was profuced by tetanus

coming from the wound, and the bPresence of the clot of

blood is in yoar opinion to be explained by the rupture ot
the basilar artery by the tetanic convulsion 92

A Yes, sir.

RE-CROSS EXAMINATION by ir, Grant,

Q How can you stete that apoplexy did not cause the tetanus 9

A Apoplexy cause tetanus ?
Q@ Yes. A. I don't see how it can.

Q Are you able to saythat the apoplexy did not cause the

tetanus ¢ A, I can swear so in my opinion.

But you would not swear that apoplexy will not cause teta-

nus ? A. That is an expert question; I am not hiere to

answer expert questions.

Don't you consider yourself an expert 9 A, I am not =a

sSpeeialist

Don't you econsider that you understand Your business thor-

oughly ¢ A I think so.

If you understand your business tkoroughly, don't you con-

sider yourself an expert 2 A. I am not here +to answer

expert questions,

Don't you consider yourself an expert ? A. Not to answer

that questioanless the court so directs.

A, In my op-

I ask you to answer the question, please ?




your opinion 9 That is my ocpinion.

Could not apopiexy produce tetanic convulsinnas without

true tetanus 2 A. It could produce & convulsion, in my

épinion.
A tetanic convulsion ¢ A. I don't think we could have g

tetanice convulsion without tetamms

You were asked by the District Attorneyrif the scalp

wound you: found could be caused by that formidable looking

elub; you said it could?®? A. I should say it could,

Could it also have been caused by a stone, by a fall on a

stone or a leaqg rPipe, or any other hard substance ©

A Well, I should say she would have +to be precipitateq

almost head foremost to be woundeg there_

When the District Attorney asked you if it could be caused

you said it could, and you didn't put in any

sir; because I dQidn't expegt she

by a eclub,
Provisos *? A, No,
would fall on the clubdb.

That the club would fall on her ° A. Yes, sir.

when you were asked the question by the Dig-

You dia not,

triect Attorney, if it could have been caused by the club,

you did not make any provisos; you simply said yes ?

A Yes, sir.
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But when I asked you if it could be produced by any other
hard substance, by a stone or falling on a pipe-or some-
thing of that kind, why didn't vou say in answer to my
question "It could" ¢ A, It could if she fell right for
it.

Could it be caused by a club unless the club Tfell right °
A I guess the club would have to fall right.

So it is the same condition, the club would have to fall
right and she would have to fall ricgcht on the stone or
other hard substance @2 A. Yes, sir.

You say that you think.tetanus_from the wound was the cause
of death. In other words, that if the wound caused menin-
gitis, and if the meningitis caused tetanus, and if the
tetanus ruptured the basilar artery, and therecupon the
blood went to the brain, then you could connect the wound
with the cause of death; isn't that so ©° A. Well, vyes,
sir,

Therefore all those four conditions would have to g0 on

regularly, and if there was a slip of any one of those

four, then you eould not trace the cause of death to the

wound ¢ A, She would have died without any apoplexy

there at all.

Isn't it the fact that a ruptured bloodvessel or basilar

artery, that a diseased basidar artery is liable to be




ruptured@t any moment 2 A. Yes, sir.

And isn't it the fact that sooner or later, with a dis-
€ased basilar artery, the Person is bound to die ¢

A  Yes, sir; they are bound to die. It is also the faet
that she would have died of tetanus if she had had no rup -
tured arte:'y there! in fact she was dying.

If the deceased were to fall on any of the things I have
mentioned a few moments ago and cut her head, and it had
never been attended to, would not that cause tetanus ©

A It might.

Just as readily as it the wound had been made with the club _

A It does not matter what the wound is made with, if it
is undressed and uncared for.

Then the fact of the matter is, it is because the wound

is unecared for; if all those four links come together, the
reason is because the wound is not cared Tor 2 A, It
was the suppurating wound of the head, a wound which may

have suppurated if it had been taken care of.

If you on the 8th of January, and before she had any te-

tanie spasms, if you had then washed out that wound and

coated it and got all of the Poison out of it, it woulaqd

not have been very likely she would ever have had any of
these spasms @2 Ao It was pretty late then.

Isn't it very likely she would not 9 A, It

oA st b et e
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about as much on one side as the other

Then you think that even before she had any of these at all,
that if the wound had been taken care of and had been prop-
erly attended to, that even if that had been done, her
chances were simply about the same as 1if it had not been

done? A. It would not make any difference at that time;

it was too late. It ought to have been dressed within

12 or 14 hours after.

Don't you agree with what Dr. Donlin said, that it would

benefit the patient 2 Al Yes, sir.
Dr. Donlin testifiecd that it would have benefited the

ratient if it had been attended to 2 A. Undoubtedly it

would benefit her.

Then if it would have benefited her, how do you reconcile

that with the answer you made a moment ago, that it would

be just the same 2 A, I don't believe it would have

entirely overcome tetanus.

There was a possibility 2 Al There was a possibility.

And a probability ° A, Possibly'. a probability.

FURTHER DIRECT EXAMINATION by Mr. Stapler:

Did Mrs. Smith tell you that night when you saw her that

she had been hurt °? A. No,sir.

When you go to see a patient vou cannot find amkx what

A. No, sir;

wounds they have unless they tell you




mast have some knowledge of it. The first intimation T
had was the next morning,

When you lert her that morning and went with Dr, Philiips

to Captain Westervelt, you say the woman wag dying at that

time, ang was dying orf what ¢ A, Of fetanus.

yes -

on the 8th 2

no scalp wound of any kind on the

not before I learned it the next morning

FURTHER CROsSs EXAMINATION by Mr. Grant.

at the time you ware calleq in that night

Q& Weren't you tolg

that she was very sieck, ang were you not asked to 80 in g

hurry to gsee her 2 A, I can'+t Teémember what the defend-

ant said; ne asked me ifF I would go, to hurry, that she was

sick.

And isn't i+
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told to hurry, that she was very sick, you didn't think it

necessary, although you say vou were in her presence some

twenty minutes or ten minutes examining her, and seeing

a rag around her head, you'didn't think it necessary or

advisable for you to examine her head ? A, I asked her

what she had the cloth there for.:

And was any one else there except her Yes, sir.

Who was it 2 A. I don't remember.

A young girl ¢ A. I think it was, and she held a light

for her.
Was it her sister Mrs, 6 Griffin, who was there 2

A I don't know.

Weren't there two there, Mrs., Griffen and another one ?

A I think not; I think only one was there at the time.

You are sure of that 2 A, I am not sure; there may have

been a woman in the other room, but I am not sure,

But you mean to say that neither of those ladies, if there

were two, said anything to you about his having hit her

on the head with a c¢lub 2 A. No, they didn't tell me

that on that evening.
On the 8th of January, although you were called in to at-
tend hexr for being very sick 2 A, Yes, sir.

And although, as matter of faect, if what they say is true,

she had at that time on her head =a serious wound which




caused her death next day, from being clubbeg by her husg-
band ¢ A, Yes, sir.

And you meoan to say that Mrs. Griffen, her sister, if she
was there, ang this other young lady qig not mention that
faet to yYou 2 A, No, sir; they dig not,

My, Stapler:

What gig Mrs. Smith tell you about_her headq °

Objected to on the groung that it ig g state~
ment made in the absence of the defendant and
therefroxr

€ cannot bing the defendant, and that

it ig immaterial_

cloth arounad

counsel to ask what the answer

volunteereqg by the witness. Objeétion over-
ruled; €xception taken by defendant's counsel.
Q What was her answer 2 A, Suffering Irom headache;

she
said her heaqg was aching.

Q She saig nothing about any wound 2

Mxr. Grant:

doctor
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seeing a rag arvound her head and whether he did not think

T b et

it advisable, seeing that rag around her head, to examine

PMEt

her head, the answer being to that question "I asked her

what she had the cloth around her head for,"

as not re-—
sponsive to the question,

The court denied the motion, upon thsz ground
that counsel should have moved to strike out
the answer at the time it was given, but hav-
ing accepted the answer without moving to strike

it out, and closing his examination, he cannot

now be heard to make the motion.
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B EL I A SIMP S O N, called Ffor the Prosecution, sworn.

DIRECT EXAMINATION by Mr. Stapler.

Q

Q

Where do you reside 2 A. 2262 Second avenue.

Did you know Mary Smith in her lifetime 2 A. Yes, sir.
Did you go to her house at any time between the 31st of
December and the 9th of January ? A. Yes, sir.

How often d4did you go there 2 A. I only went there twice.
What was the first day you went there 9 A It was the
Sunday before the 8th of January; I don’'t know the date.
How long did you stay ¢ A. About an hour.

With whom were you when you went there ¢ A. With Mrs,
Griffen.

Who is Mrs. Griffen ¢ A. A sister of Mrs. Smith.

Then you went again when ¢ A. On the 8th of January.
What time of the evening did you go there 2 A. About
half past seven, a little over

With whom were you when vou went there < A, Mrs. Grif-
fen.

You went there about half rast seven ? A, About that,
And you remained there until what time ©° A. Well, wvery
near ten o'cloek.

During that time did Mrs. Griffen go out 2 A No,

At 10 o'elock you left 2 A. Yes, sir.

Where did you g0 when you left 2 A. To the corner

SRS R -
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135th street.

B N

And from there where did you go ° A. From there we went

for Mr. Smith.

From there where daig you go 2 A. To Madison avenue with

Mr. Smith.

Then where dig you go 2 A, To the saloon in 135th street.

Where did you g0 after that ¢ A Down home.

What did you do after that ¢ A, Went to my father and

asked him if I could &0 and stay with Mrs. Smith.

Did you then return to Mrs. Smith ¢ A, Yes, sir.

What time did you get there 2 A. A little after 11 mkzkos

o'cloek,

Will you please tell the jury when you Ffirst went there

where was Mrs. Smith 2 A. She was sitting up in her

chair.

What did she hawve about her throat ¢ A. A cloth about

her throat.

Yhat about her head 2 A I didn't notiece anything about

her head.

What time did you get back there 9 A, I got there a

litlie after llp'clock.

Did the doctor come while you were there ¢ A, Yes, sir.

When the doctor came where was Mrs. Smith 9 A. I don't

recollect where she was,
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You remained there during the night ¢ A. Yes,
Did you observe Mrs. Smith during the night ¢
A I can't understand what you mean.

Did you see her duting the night °? Al Yes,

Did you go across the street about the middle of the night

to Mrs. Harris 2 A. Yes, sir.

Why did you go there ? A. To get holy water.

Did you go anywhere else that ni~ht 2 A. Yes, sir.

WVhere d4id you go ¢ A, Through all the neighbors in the

house.
About what time was that 2
Objected to as immaterial; cbjection over-

ruled; cxception taken.

I don't know.

Wkhat should you think about midnight ¢ A, It was after

Mr. Smith had come home.

It was after 12 o'clock, you think.

A Oh, yes. -
It was :@bout 1 o'cloek 9 A, It was way past one, it
was somewheres around two or three.

Did or did not Mrs. Smith ask for the priest ¢

A Yes, sir.

Did or did not you hear her say she was dying ?

A ‘Yes, sir.
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Objected to as leading. Objection sustained;
last two questions and answers stricken out by
consent.
Will you please state what next you remember that Mrs.
Smith did after you went there for the holy waterxr é: .
A Mrs. Smith went back to bed again and laid there about
ten minutes and then got up with one of those terrible
fits.
Tell the jury what it was ? Ao Getting up in a terrible
‘way, and grinding the teeth together ana turning purple.
After one of those did you hear -~ say anything 2
A She said nothing but sat down hHer a chair,
After that did you hear her say anything ? A. She got
up and wanted a drink of vater; I gave her a drink of water

with a spoon.

ATter that did you hear her say anything ° A, After

that she went back to bed agaih.

After that did you hear her say anything ¢ A, Nothing,
only she asked again to go out and get the doctor.

Did she ask f'or anybody else besides the doctoxr 9

A TFor the priest and the neighbors in the house,

Did she say anything as to her condition, as to herseif o
A NWo, sir; only saying that she was going to die.

And that was about 3 o'clock in the morning 2

SRR I TR P e e V2 )
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ae Court: What time did she gie o

vheres between hal- Tour in the morning.

é. Stapler: At 12 o'cloek the same day

A. Yes, sir.

was in the early morning c¢f the 9th ?

Did she ask for the priest —- how many times ?

A Twice,
Did anybody g0 Tor the priest 2 It was so cold that

so I didnt

Did you go to bed that night ¢ A. o, sir.

Did or 4did not Mrs. Smith continue to have these

these SPasms, to which you have referred °? A,
;i them twice that night.
,??In the early morning of the day she dieq » A,

‘the early morning of the 9th orf January.

“gépo you remember anybody coming there about S o'cloek in
Bs
the morning ? A, Yes, ir; Eddie Hagan.

TAngd you were there when Dr. Phnillips came 9 A, Yes, sir.

What did you do as to the children in the morning when

phey woke up ¢ A, I had their breakfast ready for them
d washed them and told them then to be quiet, that their

In the meanwhile Dr. Smagg coming ,
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I had the breakfast dishes to wash, and after that Qhen
he hzd gone out, Eddie Hagan came in, the brother of Mrs.
Smith.

Did you obscrve any of these spasms after that, or were
you with the children 2 A. No, I took care of her and
the children too.

Did you see another one of those spasms after that ¢

A Yes, she had¢ one while Dr. Smagg and Dr. Phillips were
in the house.

Do you remember what time Dr. Phillipd left that morning 2
Wo, sir.

After they ha. made the examination where was Mrs. Smith
takern: ? A. Taken and laid in the bed.

And you don't know what time in the morning that was 2

A No, sir; somewhere about 10 o 'clock.

After that 4id you seec her °? A, Yes, sir.

Dida she remain in bed °? A. No, sir,

When was «ﬁgsaast time you saw her lying in bed ?

A Half past eleven.

Had she been sitting on the side of the bed ¢ A, No,
that was the time I laid her into the bed after getting
up .

You laid her into bed at half past eleven ? A. Yes, sir.

And that was the last time you saw her alive ¢




Yes, sir.

Please tell the jury when was the next time you saw her af-
ter that ? A. The last time I saw her was when Captain
Westervelt came in.

Then you went in with the Captain ¢ A. Yes, sir.

And you found her dead < A. I found her dead.

You don't know how long she had been dead ¢ A.

You left her at half past eleven and after that

A I discovered her dead.

Did you remain in charge of the house there ?

A Yes, sir; until the burial.

CROSS BEXAMINATION by Mr. Grant.

QY As Tar as you know, there was no one with Mrs. Smith when
she died ¢ A. No, sir.
The doctors had been there 2 A. Yes, sir.
And they left when she was in one of these spasms ?

A They were just going out of the door as she was getting

over it.

Had she finished the spasm before they left ?

A Well, she was just about.

And they went away 9 A. Yes, sir.

Neither one of these doctors remained with her ?
A No, sir.

She did not die immediately after the spasm ?




79

But the doctors 1eft her in that condition, when she was

just about getting over the spasm ? A.

Well, I thought
mayb

e she would have another right away.

But the doctors went away ? A Yes, sir.

You were at the house of Mrs. smith on the 7th 2

A YNo, sir; on the 8th.

Then you were there on the |8th 7 A. Yes, sir.

In the evening of the 8th ? A Yes, sir.

And you went there with whom % A

With Mrs. criffin.

After you were in the house sometime do your remember the

defendant coming in there, Mr. Smith coming in the house

after you had been there =z 1little while © A. Yes, sir.

T understood you + say that fyrom the time Mrs. Griffin

came there that night with you “irsﬂuntil you left, she

dida not go out of the house ? A No, Sir.

You are positive of that ? A. Yes, sir.

So that if Mrs. Griffin has testified here that she did go

out to 5th avenue

and see the ae fendant to +ell him to go

for the doctor, that his wife was very sick, she was mis-—

taken ¢ Ao Yes, sir; she was.

Well, the defendant came in, and do you remember his tell~

ing Mrs. Griffin or you to put better covering over the

bed ° A. No, sir; I do not.

You don't remember whether he did or not ? A. No, sir.




changed just after he went out @2 I didn't notice.

Do you remember that immediately after or within tenn minutes

after his &oing out, that the doctor came, Dy.Smagg °?
A Yes, sir,
And that was before she hag these spasms 9 A- That was

before she hag the spasms.

And do you remember after Dr. Smagg haa Prescribed for her

that the defendant again -came into the house ana asked you

and Mrs. Griffin, or there was some conversation about the

time you were tn g0 home tha+t night ¢ A, I don't remempe-

that; he may have, but I don't remember.

As a matter of Ffact you did subsequently to that 80 home

and meet +the defTendant at the corner of 135th street ©

A Yes, sir.

Do you remember the defendant then asked if the doctor had

been there ? A. He didn't ask me.

Mrs. Griffin 2 A, I don't know whether he did or not.

Do you remember his asking Mrs. GrifTin what the doector

said was the matter with her 2 A, No, sir; I do not.

You don't remember whether he did or not ? A, No, sir.

Don't you remember Mrs. Griffin saying that the doetor

said she had a bad cold 2 A. I aidn't notice i ; I didn't

hear a word she said to him.

[
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The 1ittle boy was with you ¢ A, Yes.

And you and Johnnie were.going on ahead ? A, Yes, sir.
And Mrs. Griffin and the defendant were walking together 2
A Yes, sir.

You went down Madison avenue °? Ao Yes, sir.

And you took the Madison avemie cars hnome ? Ao Yes, sir.

Do you remembey of her stopping at a saloon, and going in

and taking Mrs. Griffin, and takin%é drink with the defend-

ant ? A Yes, sir.

This was the night before his wife died ? The 8th of
January.

And you a1l went in there, to that saloon ? Al Yes, sir.
Do you remember at that time Mr. Smith giving Mrs. Griffin
some two dollars she had asked for ? A, I see him hand
her a bill.

Do you remember after giving that, Mr. Smith gave some money
for the car £are for all of you ? A. Yes, sir; car fare
for the whole of us,

Fifty cents, to go down and come back again that night °

A Yes, sir.

Wasn't that for the purpose of paying the car fare

bringing you back that night ? A, Yes, sir.

Then you eame back later.on ? A, Yes, sir.

Mrs. Griffin didn't come back, did she *? A, No,




You digan't hear much of the conversation between Mrs. Gri f-

fin and the defendant 9 A, No conversatiéﬁﬁ at alij.

You didn'+ hear it at g33 o A. No, sgir.
I understood you

When you ¢ame back, or before you went,

to say you didn’t notice anything about her heaq ¢

A No, sir.
There was nothing on her head that night ¢ A. I didn't

take notice; it may have been there,

You were there only g little time 9 A, Yes, sSir; the

whole night.

And as your memory now brings you back you didn't see any-

I gaign't take notiece

thing on her head that night ¢ Al

of it,

You saw rg. Smith quite often in her life time ¢

A Yes, sir; guite often.
did you ever See her under the influence

Let me asik you -
of liguor 2 A, Yes, sir.

About how often, that you remember 2 Al Once I remember,

that she was really intoxicated.

was not really

Did you at any other time See her when she

intoxicated, but vet unger the influence of liguor 2

Just taken a social drink.
A, Yes, oniy

A Well, she hadg

But you hag Seen her very oten drink 9

lager, that was all.

E.‘,‘\'.'.......-Am‘......\‘___h_
s
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Didn't you say yYesterday that you had seen her a great many
times under the influence of liquor ~- right here in this
court room 9 A No, sir.

What do you remember you Adid say about it 9

not bn the stand before t» say it.

I was speaking in the court room 2 AL That I saw her a
great many times intoxicated ¢

That you had seen her a great many times under the in-

fluence of liquore A, Not to say that she was real

drunk, but really under the influence of it -- not to be

really drunk.

How long ago is it since the time you say vou were satig-
fied she really was intoxicated, under the influence of
liquor 2 A, That was when the baby was about shortened;
I can't remember.

Some time ago <2 A. Yes, sir; somewheres about six months
ago.

Then if it was about six months ago that would be =z few
months before her death ¢ A, Yes, sir.

That is the time you remember seeing her actually under the
influence of liquor and intoxicated 9 A Yes, sir.

Do ypou remember who was with you at the time you saw her
under the influence of liquor ? A, It was in Mrs. Grif-

f£in's house.

i TV e d
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Her own sister 9 A, Yes, sir; her own sister's house.

Who was there at the time ¢ A Mr. Griffin and Mrs. Grif

fin, herself anad I.

Then Mrs. Griffin at that time was present when she was

under the influence of ligqurr ? A, Yes, sir.

RE~-DIRECT EXAMINATION by Mr. Stapler:

Q

When was this ocecasion you refer to wvhen you say Mrs. Smith
was under the influence of liquor 7 A. The date I met he
at Mrs. Griffin's house.
When was that ¢ A Just about six months ago.
What time of day -- in the evening ¢ A, In the after-
noon.
Did you drink anything on that occasion ? A, No, sir.
You drink too, don't you 2 A, Yes, sir.
Objected to as being a cross examination of
counsel's own witness. Objection overruled.

You take a glass of ale occasionally, don't you ¢

A No, sir.

-+

You never do ? A, Well, once in a while, but it will be
a great while between.
And you say you took nothing on this special occasion 2

A Yes, sir.

Mr. Smith was in the room with you that night after he came

in, at the house where Mrs. Smith died 2 A. Oh, yes, sinr




He was there all the rest of the morning ? A. Yes, sir.
hat time did he leave there 2 A. He left somewheres
around 6 o'clock.
Did you have any conversation with him yesterday in the
court room here, or with Mr. Grant 9
Objected to as immaterial; objection overruled

you have any conversation here 9 A, Yes, sir; about
his baby,.
Mr. Grant:
You have his baby now in your care 9 A. Yes, sir.
And you went to speak to him about his baby ¢ A.

on account of its being so sick.

EDWARTD Be. HAGEDN, called Tor the Prosecution,

sworn.
DIRECT EXAMIMNATION by !7r. Stapler:

Q What is your occupation ° A, Brick layer,

Q Where do you work ¢ A. I am not engaged at present any-—

where.

You are a journeyman bricklaver ? A Yes, sir.
Where do you live @2 A &03 East 111th street.

Does your mother live there 2 Al Yes, sir.

Do you know the defendant, William Smith ¢ A. I do.

How long have you known him 2 A. I have known him about

fifteen years.




He was the husband of your sister Mary 2 A. He was.

How long had they been married ? A. Between 11 ang 12

years.
you present at the wedding 2 A, I was.
you please tell the jury when you saw vour sister,
Smith, in the interval between December 3lst and Jan-
9th 2 A. I saw her on the 34 of January.

Where did you see her ¢ A, At my house.

What time of day was it 2 A. A fine day

What time of day ¢ A. Oh, it was abdut 5 o'clock.

Had you seen her before that day °2 A. Not to the best

of my knowledge.
When did you see her at her house between Dncember 3lst

and January 9th ? AL On January 3q4.

When was the oeecasi..n to which you have just referred —-—
what day wsms that 2 A. On the %d of January, on a Satuir-

day.

That was the day you went to see her at her house ¢

A Yes, sir.
When was the occasion you saw her that you before referred

was that the same occas .4

to at your house about 5 o'clocke-

sion ¢ A, Yes, gir.
The same day *? A. Yes, sir.

Will you please tell the jury what you saw, if anything,
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A

about her which atractead your attention when Yyou saw her

in the morning at her house 9 A, When I went to her

house she was cooking dinner, and of course she had her

head tieq up.

Mr. Grant: I move to strike out the words "“Orf course, v

Stricken out by consent.

Q Just tell what you saw ? Al I saw her cooking, Prepar-~

ing dinner, and a handkerchief tied around her head.

Did vou observe any mark in her face 9 A, There was;

she had a blue mark around her left eve.

How long dia you stay there at that time 2 Al About one

houyr.

Thenr did you g0 away 9 A, I dia.

Did you see her again -- you saw her in the arfternoon then ?

A I saw her in the afternoon.
Q What day of the week was this ¢ Al On a Saturday.

our mother's house ?

Q You saw her acain in the afternoon at y

A Yes, she came down.

Q@ How long did she stay there ? A, Well, I wouldn't say;

I only staid in the house -- she was there a half an hour,

anyhow, and I went ou+.

Q When did you see her again 2 A, I saw her in the mor-

ning of the 9th of January.

Q Where did you see her © A. No. 6 Bast 136th. : street.
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You went there for wWwhat purpose 92 A. Nothing, no pur-~
Pose whatever, any more than a brotherly wvisit.

Just tell the jury where you found your sister and what was
her condition ¢ A, On the morning of the 9th orf January,
while T was lcoking for employment in the neighborhood of
my sister's, anda I thoiught I would go in and see her.

I went up-~stairs, not knowing she was sick in any way and
of course the first thing I seen was my sister in the bed-
room, and she called me as best she coulé to tell me to get
the priest and the doctor. N

Where was she sitting 2 A At the back of the bed on a
sort of a trunk.

Was she dressed ¢ A. She had her night gown on.

Tell the jury how she spoke -~ between what time was this @
A Between 8 and 9.

In the morning 2 A, Yes, sir.

Tell the jury hqw her jaws appeareda ¢ A. Her jaws were
kind of closed, but I gathered she said "Get the priest

and the doctor.™"

What else did she say 9 A. She said "I am dying."

Right away I went Ffor the doctor, for Dr. Smagg.

Before you went for the doctor did Yol observe any action

of hers, anything she did ¢ A, She had one convulsion

then .

s MR s s bsiaaer
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Explain that convalsion 2 A. ILike that(illustrating).

Was it to bend back in that way, wa2s her body bent back in
that way *? A, Yes, sir. I held her hands for az time
while they were up.- After she got over that spasm I went
down for Dr. Smagg. His wife came to the door, or a lady.
Then what did you Qo @9 A, I asked him to please -—-

Tell what you did; you left there and w-nt there 2

A Yes, sir.

And then what did you do after that 2 A. I went straight
back again.

And how did you find your sister when you got back 2

A She was just on the verge of another convulsion.

Such as you described to the jury ? A, Yes, sir.

And did you shay with her @9 A. I stayved until Dr.

came.

Vvhat did you do to her ° A, I 1lifted her from the trunk
onto the side of the bed, right at the foot, and of course
there it kept me busy all the time holding her hands,on and
off with these convulsions.

She had them right along then until the doctor came @2

A Yes, sir.

And then when the doctor came what was done to her ?

A The doctor went into the bedroom to ﬁhere she was,

the first room off the kitchen, and examined her head and

S—
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says to me "This is a very bad case.!

Objectea to, and last Part of the answer strick-

én out by consent.

Was that Dr. Smagg ? A Yes, sir.

Then Dr. Smagg went away ¢ A. Yes, sir.

And you still remained with your sister 2 A, Yes, sir.

XEnd saw her Jaws; what was the condition of these jaws

during that time 9 Al They were closing gradually.

And who next came there that morning 2 A. Br. Phillips.

Then after Dr. Phillips came what did you do as to your

sister ? Al I brought her from the bed out ana rut her

in a chair in the middle of the kitchen so we could get

a thorough examination.

What time was this 9 A. About threns-quarters of an houx

after Dr. Smagg: first visit.

What time in the morning. was it, should you 8Say ?

A I should say between .1alf past nine and ten, as near as

I can come to it.

How long did you remain there then 92 A, I left shortly

after the doctors.

Then where did you go *? A I came over to 135th street

and Madison avenue, and came down on a Madison avenue car

to 116th street, crossed over to 24 avenue.and came down

2d avenue. Coming down 2:4 avenue I met officer Smith, bew=
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tween 114th and 115th street.
A. I says "Billy,

What dig you say to Officer Smith ¢
" "What, " he

you have g bretty hard case up in the house.

said, "an't she dead yet oV
What dgiq you say @9 A, I says "You ougnt to be ashamead
of yoursel® for talking that way .

A, I came straight home”

Yhat did you do after that °

To where your mother was 9 A, Yes sire

And your sisters ¢? A, Yes, sir.
Had Ofricer Smith been at the house while you were there

that morning 9 A. No , sir.
You didn't see him there while you were there ©

A No, sir.

CROSsS BEXAMINATION by Hr. Srant.
s inquest @2

You appeared before the Coroner'’
? A, Yes, sir.

Q
Q& And you gave your testimon
You tolg thaﬁbeverything you knew, didn't you ¢

as far as I am conecerned,
at

didn't say anything about this last pPerformance,

You
the Coroner's inquest ¢ A, I daid not.
Say you are at present in no work © A,

A, Yes, sir,

You
are a brieck layer 9

You
long have you been in the Occupation that

How You are at

out of work ¢ A. Ten years.

Bleaimssianmene g, .
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Did you understand that last question I rut to you 9

A Yes, sir.
Sinece the death of your sister you have taken a good deal

of interest in running around in this case, haven't you,

seeing witnesses, getting witnesses ° A, Yes, sir.
The most of your time has been Occupied in that direction ¥

A TNo, sir; not the most of it.

What else have yYou been doing besides that 2 A,

bzen working.

Then you evidently did not understand my Pfirst question.

You have beecn working since your sister's death °

A Yes, sir.

Where 9 A, I have been working in 105th street, between

4th and Madison avenue.
With whom 9 A. Mr. Hammer.

What business 9 Ao Brick laying.

How many days have yYou been working there with that gentle-

man 2 A, That I can't say.

Try and remember no-: A I could not, without referring

to the time book.

I don't want the exact days ana minutes you have been workin

ing there; give the Jury an idea of how many days you have

been working for that ‘gentlsman sinee your sister's death 2

A Well, I woula say twenty days for that sentleman.
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Q Steaqgily ¢ A, An hour now and an hour again, according to

Q

the weather.

Have youy worked any whole days steadily there 2

A Yes, sir.
How many whole days steadily have you worked there 9

A Tt couldn't pe any more than three opr four.

Will you give me that sentleman's name again 2

A  Ernest Hamner .

And where is his office or Place of business 9 A I

don't’ know of any office.

Where is this Place 2. As -105th Street; between 4th and

Madison avenue.
What is nhe doing there 9 A, Building three flats.
Are they finished 2 A, Yes, sir; +tie brick is finished.

But he is stiili engaged on tha work @2 A, On that one

certain job 9

The work he was doing there on that job @2

don't know.

Did he employ you him.:elf or did somebody else employ you ¢

A His father.

Where does he live 9 In Springhurst; his father lives

in Sprinshurst.
Where 4id his father employ you to o to work there ?

A He employed me on the work at 112th street ang Lexington

avenue, mmanhﬁmothar-job.

b o
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What other job ¢ A. A job of Hammer's.

And then Mr. Hammer's father employed you afterwards there ¢
A Mr. Hammer's Father employed me on the corner of 112th
street ang Le#ington avenue,

To do work there 2 Al Yes, sir.

And between Mr. Hammer and iir. Hammer's Ffather you have
done about three days steady work, worku%he whole day 2

A  Yes, sir; according as the weather would permit.

Other times you would work an hour at a time 9

A  Probably.

Did you make any New Years calls New Years day 9

A  Yes, sir.

o

Didn't you go to your sister’'s house ¢ A Yes» ~not this
g

Mrs. Smith.
You didn't go to Mrs. Smith's house ? A,

You are vpositive ot that 2 A, Yes, sir.

? On ThursdaY,

Do you know what day New Years was on ¢ A,

to the best orf my opinion.

&0 to Mrs. Smith's house 92

And you are positive you didn't

No, sir.
Where did you go 2 A. " To Mrs. Griffins, another sister.
And where else 9 A. Down to my brothers.

Any conversation with your sister with regard to any vio-

lence perpetrated by the defendant on your other sister,

"_-‘;~ S it i L




Do you ever drink o A, I take a glass of beer.

Anything else besides beer 9 A, I will take g glass or

wine.

Anything else besides a glass of wine <9 A, I will take

a glass of whiskey.

And you take that regularly, dont you 2 A, No, sir.

Which of them do you take regularly, beer, wine or whiskey 2

A When I want a drink I will have a drink of ale.

And when you drink You sometimes take a glass of whiskey @2

A Very seldom.

Of course you never saw Mrs. Smith drink anythinse
<o

A I @gig not, only a glass of ale.

Do you remember when you saw her drink that glass

A I do not,

How many times have you seen her drink a Zlass of ale °?

A Well, any time she would come to the house we would have

a glass of ale.

And so on the 34 of January when she went to your house

she took a glass of ale ? A. She did not, in my presence

Have you very often seen her take a glass of ale ¢

A No, sir; not very oten.

Were you at MMrs. Griffin's house at any time about six

sir.

months ago when she was there 2 A? No,

Last week you went up to 162d street 9 A. Yes, sir.

R A e LRI

i;t.-.r DGR i S




95

Mrs. Smith ° A. No, sir.

Were you Present at Mrs. CGriffinzs on New Years day when the
defendant wenﬁ}here and hada a con&ersation with Mrs. Grif-
fin 2 A, No, sir.

Weren't you present when he went in and told Mrs. Griffin
he had been out buying things for the children 2

A No, sir.

Shoes and clothing for his children 2

You were not there ? A. No, sir.

Did you hear of that 2 A, No, sir.

Did Mrs. Griffin tell you about that @9 Aa No, sir.

Did you see her the 3d of January ? A, Yes, the 3d of
January.

Then you didn't see her from the 34 of January until the
9%h ? A, No, sir.

And then you went there simply to make a brotherly visit ¢
A Yes, sir.

And that was the day she died 92 A, Yes, sir.

And that was the Ffirst vou knew she was sick ? A, Yes,
sir.

So that if she had becn sick, been hurt on the 3lst of
December, up to the 9th of January that was the first you

heard of it ¢ A. The first I heard of it was on the 3a

of January.

]
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To Mr. Smith's father's house ¢ A, Yes, sir.

To measure a hole there right by thie railroad track ¢

A Yes, sir.

Near Mr. Smith's father's house 2 A. Yes, sir.

And you asked Mr. Smith's father to pdint out the Yoecation
where she had fallen into the hole ¢ A Yes, sir.

Whgﬁ did you &0 up there for to measure that hole ?

A Tor the simple roason that T wanted to have an ides

about it.

That is the only reason you went up 2 A. Yes, sir; cer-

tainly.

Stapler about going up there

Had yvou consulted with Mir.

No, sir.

Never said a word to him about it 2 A. No, sir.

It was your own idea @9 A Yes, sir

How d=zep was the hole when you measured it ¢ A

feet deep.
Exactly 2 A. Yes, sir.

Last w ek 2 A, Yes, sir.

Right alongside of a big wall ¢ A Yes, sir.

You could see where they had been building up that wall 2

A On the west side of the track is the wall.

It is all finished now, the wall 2 A, Yes.

And you saw that the wall was composed of Pretty large
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stones ¢ A. Yes, sir.

Can't you tell why you waited until last weekto go up there
and measure that hole 2 A. Well, it dian't give me a
great deal of bother; as long as I was doing nothing last
week, and the trial was comimg on, I thought I would go

and Tind out how deep it was anyhow, in case it was brought
up .

I want you to repeat where vou went, and once more to state
what took place after, as you say, you left the house of
Mrs. Smith on the 9th of January and walked down somewhere
towards 24 avenue ? A I left her house and went over

to 135th street.

What time did you I eave the house 2- As I'left there
aboutr -- I would say about half past ten, between half past
ten and 11 in the morning; came don ol the Madison ave-

nue car as far as 116th street.

Go on. A I came across from Madison avenue to 24 ave-

nue so as I cculd see Of"icer Smith. I came down 24 ave-
nue and met Officer Smith between 114th and 115th street,
on 2d avenue, on the east side of 2d avenue.

Go on. A I says "Billy, you have got a pretty hard
case up at the house." He said "What, an't she dead yet2?"

I says " You ought to be ashamed of yourself for talking
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that way." I came home.

Q You left him there 2 A Yes,

Q Will you t211 the jury and his Honor why at the Coroner's

inquest when you were askad by the Coroner, and by Mr.

Linn, and by myself, everything you knew about this case,

why you did not mention that @2 A. For the simple reason

that I was so nérvous . I didn't remember everything in
detail.

Were you any more nervous than you are now 9 A, Yes fanr
3

Q Was this gquestion put to you by the Coroner and did you

make this answer : "Did you ever have any conversation

with the defendant here, sitting right here, Mr. Smith,

with reference to any clubbing or alleged clouting; did yoéu

or did you not, with him direect 2 A With him, direct,

-di¥reghx no." A, No, sir; I never did, about that club-
bing.

Q@ You had previously to that question being put to you sworn

that you had, didn:*t you 9 A, That was another case.

Q@ Had you previous to the time the Coroner rut that question

to you sworn that you had had a conversation with him ?

A I did, but it did not relate to this certain thing.

Q Was this question pPut to you: Q- Did you ever talk with

Smith ¢ A. Yes. Q. I mean the defendant 2 A, Yes.

? Yes. Q. What was saig

Q. Concerning the sister ¢ A,
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between youand him ? A. I said -~ I heard that he had
beaten her one time. before this, I said "Billy, you ought
not to do that, let it go the best way you can, a big
brute like you, it is a shame to club a poor woman like
that." He said that is nothing." Did you say that 2
Yes .

Did you subseqjuently swear you didn't have such a convor—
sation ? A. Yes, my mind had got around.

You never did have such a conversation as that ?

A No, sir.

Why did you swear to the exact language you alleged to
have used between you and the defendant, using the exact
language if as matter of fact you never had such a conwver-
sation with him -- why did you so swear at the Coroner's
ingquest ¢ A, It mist have been I didn't kxnow what I was
speaking about.

Do you know what yvou are speaking about to-day ?

A I do.

Very well 2 A, Yes, sir.

Then do you remember these questions being put to you *

Q. Have you told anybody before yvou went into that chair ?
A. No, sir; I 4id not. Q- How was it you 4did not men-
tion that to anyﬁody if it was a fact that you have had it 2

A Why wouldn't I 2 Q. Yes, why didn't you 2 Question

repeated. A. I thought it would be just as good minding
.\_ o ) 1 :




101
my business. Q; Didn't you think - it as any of your
business when you had heard that your sister was being
clubbed by the defendant —-- was it not your business to

mention it to anybody ¢ A. But she was shielding him,

she was afraid he would be broken off the police.

Qe But you dia not, d4did you 9 A No, sir. Qe When
did that take rlace 2 A. About two months ago, two
months and a half. Q. Vhere ¢ A. On 24 avenue and
116th street. Qe 116th street and 24 avenue 2 A. Yes,
sir, Q. How did you happen to see him 2 A. I went
there to see him. i What was the Object in going there
to see him 2 A Because his wife was soing to be put
out for non-payment of rent. Qe Where were they living
then 2 A, 343 East 113th streect? Those questions were
put to you, weren't they 2 A, Yes, sir.

"State any other rortion of the conversation you had with
him at that time © A, I went up to him and says, "It is
a shame, you ought to g0 down to the house and £0 down af-
ter you get off, arfter eight o'clock;" he said he would.

I said"You might as well move as to get your things on the
sidewalk, " but he didn't come down." Do you remember
that 2 A, Yes, sir.

"Q That is all the conversation ¢ A. Yes. Qe You
know what you are saying ° A. Yes. 0. You know per-

Teetly what you saigd 2 A. Yes. Qe That is all the

+

i et e A b i e




conversation you had at that time @2 A. Yes, sir.

Qo I ask you when yYou had the conversation~-~ when you had

the conversation with him in whiech you alleged there was

somethings said about clouting -- when did you have that

conversation 2 A, Two or three nights after the alleged

clubbing she came down to the house. Q. When did you

have the conversation about the alleged clouting ¢ Axx

A, Two nights after the New Years ove. By the Coroner:

Q.Did you have any conversation with the defendant here,

sitting right here, *rr. Smith, with reference to any club-

bing or alleged clouting; did vou or did you not, with him

direct ¢ Al With him, direct, no." You gave that

‘testimony at the Coroner's inquest 2 A. Yes, sir.

And the reason, you say, you said nothing about having

gone on the night of the 9th to see him is that you were

excited and didn't remember. A, The main point about it

is, I suppose, he was speaking to me two months previocus,

before this assault case altogether.

But what I want you to explain to the Jury is why it is

swore that you had had a conversation with him in

you

which you said to him "You big brute, you shouldn't e¢lub

& woman so" and he said "That is nothing" -- why dia you

swear you had had such a eonversation, when as matter: of

fact you didn't have it 2 A. I will state that I have

No recollection of ever saying that to him.

A e Yo e i o s e s e




Why didet you swear Positively you had ° A, I gian't
exactly know what I was saying at that time.

But you are a good deal more Positive now about the othef
conversation ? A, Yes, sir.

Have you sboken to anybody about this case and about the

testimony you had given at the Coroner's inquest ? AxXx

A. No, sir.

Not a soul 2 A, Except in my own family.
Wasn't it suggested that it would be 12 good idea to have
some evidence to connect the defendant in some way, by
some remark he had made, by saying something bad about his
wife ¢ A. No, sir.

Have you stated to anybody since the Coroner's inquest
about the conversation you say you had with him ?
Al No, siyx.

Not a soul 2 Ao No, sir,

You know what you are saying now ? A. Yes, sir.

about

You understand you haven't opened your lips to anybody, that
conversation you swore you had with him on the 9th, until

you got in that chair ¢ A No, sir.

Will you explain to the jury how it was that Mr. Stapler
had any knowledge of vour having any sueh conversation on
that day, and hov he knew how to put a gquestion to you
calling for such a conversation on the 9th of January, if

yYou never mentioned it to anybody *° A, X z2ame dowvn to
t

},
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his office one day on a subpoena and I told him I had this
conversation.

You did @2 A, Yes, sir.

Why did you say a moment ago when I asked you, that you

never recpeated it,toeﬁﬁbody on the face of the earth 2
A. That is the only man.
Do you understand e the English language ? Al Yed, sir.
And you understood my question ? Ao Yes, sir.
And you understood what I said to you at the time «
A Yes, sir.
And understanding what I said to you, you swore you had
not mentioned it to a person on the face of the earth 2
A I did; yes, sir.
And now you want to take that back and say you have men-—
tioned it to somesbody ¢ A. I mentioned it to Mr. Sta-
pler.
If I had not put that last question to you as to how Mr.
Stapler understood it, would you have said yvou mentioned it
to him, or would you have rested on the answer you made
before < A, I would not.
You would not have stated it. Did you have such a con-

versation with the defendant, with Smith ¢ A, I 4aid not.




RE-DIRECT EXAMINATION by Mr. Stapler.
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teelinng,

If I haa asked you the Question whether or not you had not

told me, and how T knew you were 80ing to testify to it,

174

would you have told the jJury whether you had or not

A, I woulqg.

Mr. Grant has Just asked you this qQuestion, whether or not

to

you ever had such a conversation with the defendant;

what do you refer in your answer ? I had no refer-

ence to that person at all; nc idea as to ever talking

with the defendant on that case.

You testified a moment ago that you went down after you

left your sister's house and met the defendant and had a

conversation with him A, Yes, siyr,.

Is that true 2 A, That is trye.

Did vou have such a conversation with him 2 A. Yes,

8ir; I 4did, on that day.

Before you left the witness stand at the Coroner's in-

quest, dod you correct your testimony andg say you had not

had such a conversation 9
Objected to, that the best proof is the evi-

dence itself, whiech is in writing,

iy
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This is an application on the part of the defendant

|for a certificate of reasonable doubt under Section 527

of the Code of Criminal Proecedure.

The application is based upon the single contention

that there was error in the admission of the dying
ldeelaration of Mary Smith,the deceased,for whose death

the jury held the defendant responsiblee.

It is respectfully submitted that the evidence in

lthis case as to the condition of the deceased at and

|about the time of the declaration and in the twelve

hours immnediately preceding her death showed that she

| recognized that she was about to die and had an entire

appreciation of the hoplesness of her condition.
It will be recalled that the testimony showed that

the injury toc her was inflicted by a blow in the head

lon the 3Ist of December I890; that the wound become
| sore and matted and Ffestered,and that through thea

| week immediately gucceeding the injury the disease

‘crept gradually upon her which was to end her lifejthat

:on the 7th,she was found with her throat tied up; that

]
j
l
|

on the evening of the 8%h swelling had set in about her

Jaws and throat; that her condition became so serious,

A4n  the opinion of those about her,that a doctor was
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fcalled im; that in the ni

2.

ght her jaws began to close

land that tetanic convulsions set in. (Pages 7A-75 Steno-—

.gr_apher's Minutes) That Bella Simpson testifiedsher

condi tion was such that during the night she tried to

|into =a convulsion. (Page 89)

arouse the neighbors,and went out to try to get holy
water. (Page 74) This was about two or three o'clock

when the deceased called for the pri est ,and said sha was

tdyinge (Page '75)‘ wWitness testified that after she went

out for the holy water,she got up agaim in one of these

teryible fits,got up 5n a terrible way, grinding her teehl

together and turning purple; t.hat she aske da for the
priest and the doctor, and éaid that she was going to
die; this was between half-past three and four in the
morx;ling- (iages 75 & '76).. che asked for the priest
~1:.wicé.

It will be recalled that the evidence showed that she
died about twelve o'clock noon of the same dey. At be-

tween eight and nine o'clock in the morning the deceased

was found by her brother at the back of the bed with

Jaws partially closed,when she asked for the priest and

the doctor,and said she was_ 4dying, (Page 88) and passed

She had these convulsions

f_continuo{zsly until Dr.Smagg"‘s came;and,armbing at the
yconclusion that the deceased was suffering from lock=

":';javr,hastened out to obtain other medical assistance.

Phillips arrived he found her in the last stage

of lockjaw;(pasges 8,9 &£I0 )that her condition was hope—

‘1ess; that she was dying,and that she might go at any
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gmoment ,but certainly within a few hours;there was
énothlng that medical science could do to save her 11fe.
’(page 8) The condition in which he found her is de-
iscrlbed at pages 5,6 & 7. Her teeth were SO closely
;locked that they conuld not be forced open.She asked
 pitious1y for water,but her jaws were so tightly locked
'that no water could be forced between her teetﬂ. Such
be&gg shown tE#EZV%he condition of the patienteswhich,
from its very nature must have brought to her a realizing
sense of the hopelessness of her casejand that such is
the case is clearly shown by undisputéd evidence,not
denied or guestioned,that on three separate occasions
within a few hours prior to the time of her statement,
she declared her belief that she was dyimg,and sought to
obtain holy water,and asked fer the priesﬁo These facts
mekes this casse far stronger than many in the books in
which dying declaratiops have been admitted on much

less evidence of recognition of the approack of death
upon the part of the dBclaranﬁ. But when in view of ths
evidence shwoing the appreciation of her condition there
is added the testimony of Dr.Phillips,who fixes the

time between half—past eleven and twelbe o'clock; whose
presence there was for the purpose,if possible, of af ford-
ing her medical aid; and when he after an effort to

pry open her jews ,which failed ,infoxms_the deceas2d

| that he could not do anything for Qér, can there be any
| 22l 0N

%Edoubt put that the case presents every element requi red

a

g;even by the strictest rule to show that she was filly.

I aware of her conditione.
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The statement made by the physician under the
circumstances of the case, was a deliberate declaration
that medicsl skill could do nothing for her. This
would seem te be as comﬁiete and full kn§wledge as
could be afforded to her. That the belief entertained
by her ovn mind as shown by her previous declaration
was corroborated by the authoritative announcement of
the medical attendant who had been called upon to aid
her in her saNd condition, the fétal character of which
was Tfully recognized by her as shown by her Previous
declarations; The deceased died within an hour after

making the declarations admiitted in evidence.

An examination of the cases will, it is res-
e ctfully submitted, show that the action of the learned
Court in admifting the declarations of the deceased, is

in an entire accord with the authorities.

Says Greenleaf on evidence, Section 158
YIt is essential to the admissibility of these declara-
tions, and is a preliminary fagt to be proved by +the
rarty offering them in evidence, that they were made

under a sense of impending deuﬁkkput it is not neces-

sary that they should be stated at the time to be so

made. Tt is enough if it satisfactorily appears in

any mode that they were made under that sanction, whe-

ther it be directly proved by the express language of

RPN SRS
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the declarant or be inferred from his evident danger
w\

\_/f\Jﬁ\w/\-ﬂ’\vAx/\w~s//‘~’—J

or the opinicon of the medliaal or other attendants

w — Nt S ————

stated to him,or from his conduet,or other circumstances
— et e e

a— —— - -

of the case,all of which are resorted to in order to
— Gl — .
ascertain the state of declaramt’s mind."

- (Greenleaf on Evidence,Section I58)

353,
vo Tichler's Case I Easts Crown Law PP,354-355

:( G
In Rex Against Mosley I Lm;) Crown Cases p.79, thewm s

were made eleven days before death,and were all received
In the last case it appeared that the surgeon did not
think the case hopeless,but that the patient thought
otherwisee.

In the People against Knieckerbocker,Ist Parker's
Criminal Reports,305, the People offered im evidence the
dec laration of Harkner made the evening before his
death,as to the person who killed hin;¢ The prisnner’'s
coun sel objected,which was overruled and exception taken
The witness testified that he said to Harkner the esven—
ing before his death YI guess you will get over it agaiﬂ'
Harkner replied:"I never can get over it;I can't live."
This was held sufficient foundation in cénn@cti on with
his condition to adm;i.'t; his dyimg declaration as to the
person who inflicted the unjury from which he died.

Says Marvin Je.
. uAfter a careful wxamination of this case as discloseé
iﬁ. the bill of exceptions,I am of the opinion that the

evidence of the dying declaration of?&arkn-er was proper-—




So

1y admitted. The declarations were certainly made in

extremity,and when the declarant was aththe point of
deathe X ¥X X X. But they are only admissible when the
party making them'knows or thinks he is in a dying

state. Positive evidence however,of that knowledge,or

belief is not requirede. It may be inferred from the

genesral conduct or deportment of the party,nor is it

necessary to prove expressions of apprehension of im—-

—

mediate danger,if it be clear that the axrt does not

expect to survive the injurye. R
S Ross Cr.Ee. 29—50 and cases thsre citede"

In Maine against the People, % 9 Hun.,816,says the

learned Court:

“Mré.Head was in extremis on that Monday and died tha
day. The Doctor knew it and told the friends. The
faect of her physical condition is beyond controversye.
I+ was such as is required for the adnission of her
declarations if she either knew the truth or realize&

her actual sétuation. She knew she was very sick on

the I9th and as she had been sinking and growing worse

day by daye. When the doctor day by day spoke words of
encouragement she did not believe him. But while hoping
to get well she did not expect it. On this Monday the
doctor gave her no hofe and she had non;.she expecied
to dié. She did hot believe the doctor could save hex.
Her expectations were justified by the event. I do not

thimn the Court could upon the facts believe that she

ped to survive.

ef””_ﬁzfﬁs—;g-People 9 of Hun. pIIS.

RN Y IO T Te by e

Brothet@n vs People 75 NoYopoIGI
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| 8th,9th and I0th that he was
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In People Vvso Sweeney,éI Hun, 334, Hannon,#who died on

the IItlx made statements'to his mother and sister on tine:

going to die,and this was

held by Judge Danielslto be a sufficiemt foundation for

' the admission of the dring declaration,in which the

Court at General Term agreed. with hime Judge Daniels

examined the cases on this questiom and holds,that the
evidence showed that Hannon's mind was impressed with

the fact that he was about to dieo

(See the cases cited by Judge Daniels,in People
vSe Sweeney,éI‘hun.p335)

It is submitted that the facts in the case at bar

are much stranger than those in the case of Sweeney,

supXxae

The szme declarations which were held adnissible

in People vs.Sweeney were held sdmissible in People

vs e Smith 104 No.Y .49, Smith was indicted jointly with

Sweeney.,and the same evidence was presented as to
dying declaratiens,and they were beld clearly admissiblsg

Judge Andrews who dissented on other grounds,concurred

that the declarations were clearly admissible,saying:

(p.502) "The circumstances bring it within the rule
accordirg to the best considered aunthorities¥mitix
Citing Reg. vs. Howel,26 Law Je MeCo43;

Reg v. Jenkins, IT Cox Cr.C. 2503
Reg vs. Peel, 2 Fost and F. 2I &c.

The case of People vs.Bvans,40th Hun 492, i4—is to
be distinguished ffom.the above cases since there it

affirmatively appeared that the deceased was not clear

that she had no hope of recovery. The l1eamed Court

'émnst have taken this view since otherwise

i not im harmony with the People vs « Sweeney

i% is clearly

and People VSe.

oL
A
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Smith Supra,and the other authorities.

In the case at bar the circumstancqﬁpreclude the
Court from assuming that the deceas ed had any hope of
rebovery since her declarations snd her condition as
above pointed out,as well as the statement to her by the
Physician show that there was no such hope. The cases
of the people vs Sweeney andg People va.Smith zve later
dicisions than People vs.Evans,and it is submitted must
be regarded as declaring the rule to be followed on the
que st ion under discussion;

It is submi tted that the circumstances of the case

at bar bring it clearly within the line of People vs.

Sweeney and People Vs .Smithh Here there are three'separ—

ate declarations of her conviction that she was dying,
accompnnaied by g request for the attendance of g priest.
These declarations show the conviction of approaching
death which had sSettled upon her mind,and the statement
of the physiecian that He could do nothing for her fol-
lowed almost inmediately afterwards by her death show
that she was in extremis #t the time the statements

were made and Tully realizead the hopelessness of her

condition.

It is therefore submi tted that there is no ground

for entertaining g reasonable doubt as to the Propriety

e e e e,

of admitting the declarations of the deceased in

evidence,and that the application for the certificate of

reasonable doubt should be denied.

DeLancey~Nicoll,

Henry B.B.Stapler,
Agssistant.
Ju!ma 12’ ISQI.

Digtriet Attorney .
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@Wonrt of GEcucr al a%wzmns of the Peace

OF THE CITY AND COUNTY OF NEW YORK.

Tirr PEOPLE OF THE STATE oF NEW YORK
against

J

The Grand Jury of the City and County of New York, by this indictment, accuse

— RS e S LU

of the CRIME oF Manslaughter in thw Degree, committed as follows:
The said —\AM b/\a\; \&\.

/
on the M W day of &u

at the City of New York, in the County of New

) in the year of our Lord one

thousand eight hund1ed and ninety

York, aforesald in and upon one M é/\t\—\a\&\,

there being, mlfully and feloniously did malke an assault, and ———5\.\9_,\, Rt the said

- ~ — %: with a certain = &S __Sws which Stos_
the said =33, M%Mk , then and there had and held in PPN hand,

in and apon the Resmon,  of }Q\Lrg_‘ tile said MM%:\_
then and there Wllfullv and feloniously dld_ strike, M ?\w\w and wound,

\.- then and

giving unto}x'g\'n.»_ﬁ “the said oL D & then and there, with the M
: M —: of — =~ . the said W

one mortal Wound,/fn.,\,‘:/.m %}W of which said

a,foresa,ld in and upon the’

S~ ,

kit
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mortal wound R s erFeaa_ #the said M%NM

at the City and County aforesaid, from the day first aforesaid, in the Year aforesaid, until the

M;-‘Ix\, Mﬁé W —— I&&-’ - .
did Ianoulsh and languishing did live, and on which said R .- sl _ day of

Pl ~
in the year‘,éforesaid, A s the said W M\J%:«. >
3y

‘at the City and County aforesaid, of the said mortal wound Re-Zmn Mﬁp&m_..;..rdid die.

And so the Grand Jury aforesaid do say: That the said
AL SS e _— ~ \m P‘V\.S—-\_, v
the said M —_ M_\/%Q_, —in the manner and form, and by

the means aforesaid, wilfully and feloniously did kill and slay, against the form of the Statute

in such case made and provided, and against the peace of the People of the State of New York

and their dignity.




Second Count And the G‘rrand Jury aforeszud, by this indictment, further accuse the

S'-said ‘%M%MK

of the Crine or ASSAULT IN THE SECOND DEGREE, committed as follows:

The said TGS oSS oo %};/&/7_
w day of

late of the City and County of New Yorl, on the

>y S~ »in the year of our Lord one thousand eight hundred and

e:-wh-@-yp_...x{ with force and arms,at the City and County aforesaid, in and upon one

w \X
in the peace of the said People then and theve being,

wrongfully make an assault; and the said m,s&m &M\J&:‘

feloniously did wilfaully and

P ‘
with a certain M which —M — the said

-
in M right hand then and there had and held, the same being then and there

He&iaeﬂ——an&- an instrument -and weapon likely to produce grievous bodily harm,
Reor , the said PSSP > then

and there feloniously did wilfully and wrongfully strike, beat
ainst the form of the statute in such case made and plowded and.

bruise and wound, ag
. against the peace of the People of the State of New York and their dlo'nlty. :
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SE€OND COUNT—

: And the Grand Jury aforesaid, by this indictment, further accuse the said

A LSS ol ST

of the CriME oF ASSAULT IN THE SECOND DEGREE, committed as follows:

. The said =3 S, an %;\K/

late of the City and County aforesaid, afterwards, to wit: on the day and in the year
aforesaid, at the City and County aforesaid, with force and arms, in and upon the

said M% — \K

in the peace of the said People then and there being, feloniously did wilfully and

Wronfrfully make another assault; and the said "\k% §M\)X\, _

the said N = M_:)@CZ"

with a certain =S Sy —
the said ™S S0t = T S, —

n —— R — right hand then and there had held, in and upon the

RS o D — of AXesm_~ the said ‘\w\h—M A

then and there feloniously did wilfully and wrongfully strike, beat ,
bruise and wound, and did then and there and by the means aforesaid, feloniously,

wilfully and wrongfully inflict grievous bodily harm upon the said
i = M....D&.\_ to the great damage of the said % ——
against the form of the statute in such case made and provided, and against the peace of

the People of the State of New York and their dignity.
’ DE LANCEY NICOLL,

JOHRN R FELLOWS,

District Attorney.




